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ACI WORLDWIDE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share amounts)

 
  

March 31,
 

December 31,
 

September 30,
 

  
2008

 
2007

 
2007

 

  
(unaudited)

 
(unaudited)

   

ASSETS
       

Current assets
       

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 108,667
 

$ 97,011
 

$ 60,794
 

Billed receivables, net of allowances of $1,721, $1,723, and $2,041, respectively
 

88,203
 

87,932
 

70,384
 

Accrued receivables
 

8,927
 

11,132
 

11,955
 

Deferred income taxes
 

5,827
 

5,374
 

7,088
 

Recoverable income taxes
 

4,337
 

6,033
 

3,852
 

Prepaid expenses
 

10,231
 

9,803
 

10,572
 

Other current assets
 

11,078
 

8,399
 

7,233
 

Total current assets
 

237,270
 

225,684
 

171,878
 

        
Property, plant and equipment, net

 

19,282
 

19,503
 

19,356
 

Software, net
 

30,960
 

31,430
 

31,764
 

Goodwill
 

209,952
 

206,770
 

205,715
 

Other intangible assets, net
 

36,964
 

38,088
 

39,685
 

Deferred income taxes
 

33,940
 

31,283
 

24,315
 

Other assets
 

16,347
 

17,700
 

14,028
 

TOTAL ASSETS
 

$ 584,715
 

$ 570,458
 

$ 506,741
 

        
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

       

Current liabilities
       

Accounts payable
 

$ 12,911
 

$ 16,351
 

$ 14,677
 

Accrued employee compensation
 

21,150
 

22,659
 

22,625
 

Deferred revenue
 

135,398
 

115,519
 

97,042
 

Income taxes payable
 

—
 

—
 

2,251
 

Alliance agreement liability
 

7,552
 

9,331
 

—
 

Accrued and other current liabilities
 

21,119
 

22,992
 

17,925
 

Total current liabilities
 

198,130
 

186,852
 

154,520
 

        
Deferred revenue

 

20,258
 

27,253
 

30,280
 

Note payable under credit facility
 

75,000
 

75,000
 

75,000
 

Deferred income taxes
 

3,012
 

3,245
 

3,265
 

Alliance agreement noncurrent liability
 

38,259
 

—
 

—
 

Other noncurrent liabilities
 

37,635
 

37,069
 

18,664
 

Total liabilities
 

372,294
 

329,419
 

281,729
 

        
Commitments and contingencies

       

        
Stockholders’ equity

       

Preferred stock , $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding at March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007,
respectively

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Common stock; $0.005 par value; 70,000,000 shares authorized; 40,821,516 shares issued
at March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007, and September 30, 2007

 

204
 

204
 

204
 

Common stock warrants
 

24,003
 

24,003
 

—
 

 



Treasury stock, at cost, 6,476,162, 5,144,947, and 5,115,367 shares outstanding at
March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007, respectively

(161,995) (140,320) (140,340)

Additional paid-in capital
 

306,143
 

311,108
 

312,642
 

Retained earnings
 

44,426
 

47,886
 

53,226
 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
 

(360) (1,842) (720)
Total stockholders’ equity

 

212,421
 

241,039
 

225,012
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 

$ 584,715
 

$ 570,458
 

$ 506,741
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ACI WORLDWIDE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(unaudited and in thousands, except per share amounts)

 
  

Three Months Ended March 31,
 

  
2008

 
2007

 

      
Revenues:

     

Software license fees
 

$ 39,098
 

$ 38,524
 

Maintenance fees
 

31,473
 

29,901
 

Services
 

22,020
 

21,523
 

Total revenues
 

92,591
 

89,948
 

      
Expenses:

     

Cost of software license fees
 

12,491
 

11,193
 

Cost of maintenance and services
 

28,629
 

23,351
 

Research and development
 

12,553
 

12,041
 

Selling and marketing
 

16,750
 

16,799
 

General and administrative
 

22,680
 

26,353
 

Total expenses
 

93,103
 

89,737
 

      
Operating income (loss)

 

(512) 211
 

      
Other income (expense):

     

Interest income
 

593
 

1,014
 

Interest expense
 

(1,366) (1,597)
Other, net

 

(190) (337)
Total other income (expense)

 

(963) (920)
      
Loss before income taxes

 

(1,475) (709)
Income tax expense (benefit)

 

1,985
 

(295)
Net loss

 

$ (3,460) $ (414)
      
Loss per share information

     

Weighted average shares outstanding
     

Basic
 

35,165
 

37,162
 

Diluted
 

35,165
 

37,162
 

      
Loss per share

     

Basic
 

$ (0.10) $ (0.01)
Diluted

 

$ (0.10) $ (0.01)
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ACI WORLDWIDE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(unaudited and in thousands)

 
  

For the Three Months Ended March 31,
 

  
2008

 
2007

 

Cash flows from operating activities:
     

Net loss
 

$ (3,460) $ (414)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities

     

Depreciation
 

1,576
 

1,460
 

Amortization
 

3,809
 

3,622
 

Tax expense of intellectual property shift
 

590
 

478
 

Amortization of debt financing costs
 

84
 

84
 

Gain on reversal of asset retirement obligation
 

(949) —
 

   



Loss on disposal of assets 218 9
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps

 

3,689
 

—
 

Deferred income taxes
 

(3,003) (1,825)
Stock-based compensation expense

 

2,552
 

1,664
 

Tax benefit of stock options exercised and cash settled
 

40
 

740
 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of impact of acquisitions:
     

Billed and accrued receivables, net
 

3,215
 

(5,806)
Other current assets

 

(2,700) 520
 

Other assets
 

668
 

(168)
Accounts payable

 

(3,793) (2,473)
Accrued employee compensation

 

(1,825) 2,040
 

Proceeds from alliance agreement
 

36,087
 

—
 

Accrued liabilities
 

(4,264) 1
 

Current income taxes
 

1,536
 

(3,340)
Deferred revenue

 

12,400
 

19,693
 

Other current and noncurrent liabilities
 

54
 

(17)
Net cash flows from operating activities

 

46,524
 

16,268
 

      
Cash flows from investing activities:

     

Purchases of property and equipment
 

(1,465) (1,004)
Purchases of software and distribution rights

 

(1,127) (340)
Alliance technical enablement expenditures

 

(943) —
 

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
 

(13) (8,165)
Proceeds from alliance agreement

 

1,246
 

—
 

Net cash flows from investing activities
 

(2,302) (9,509)
      
Cash flows from financing activities:

     

Proceeds from issuance of common stock
 

639
 

—
 

Proceeds from exercises of stock options
 

382
 

—
 

Excess tax benefit of stock options exercised
 

28
 

—
 

Purchases of common stock
 

(30,064) —
 

Payments on debt and capital leases
 

(791) (472)
Net cash flows from financing activities

 

(29,806) (472)
      
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash

 

(2,760) (224)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

 

11,656
 

6,063
 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
 

97,011
 

89,900
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
 

$ 108,667
 

$ 95,963
 

      
Supplemental cash flow information

     

Income taxes paid, net
 

$ 3,407
 

$ 3,571
 

Interest paid
 

$ 1,344
 

$ 1,290
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ACI WORLDWIDE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited and in thousands)

 
1.  Consolidated Financial Statements
 
The unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ACI Worldwide, Inc. (“the Company”) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. The consolidated financial statements at March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, and for the three
months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, are unaudited and reflect all adjustments of a normal recurring nature, except as otherwise disclosed herein, which are,
in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation, in all material respects, of the financial position and operating results for the interim periods.
 
The consolidated financial statements contained herein should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, together with
management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, contained in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2007, as amended by the Form 10-K/A for the same period filed March 4, 2008.
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
Change in Fiscal Year End
 
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company changed its fiscal year end from September 30 to December 31.  The Company’s new fiscal year commenced
January 1, 2008 and will end on December 31, 2008.  This first quarterly report on Form 10-Q compares the financial position as of March 31, 2008 to
December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007 and the results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 with the results of operations for the
three months ended March 31, 2007.  The Company has changed its fiscal year end to align its sales contracting and delivery processes with its customers and
to allow for more effective communication with the capital markets and investment community by being consistent with its peer group.



 
Acquisitions
 
Visual Web Solutions, Inc.
 
On February 7, 2007, the Company acquired Visual Web Solutions, Inc. (“Visual Web”), a provider of international trade finance and web-based cash
management solutions, primarily to financial institutions in the Asia/Pacific region.  These solutions complement and have been integrated with the
Company’s U.S.-centric cash management and online banking solutions to create a more complete international offering.  Visual Web had wholly-owned
subsidiaries in Singapore for sales and customer support and in Bangalore, India for product development and services.
 
The consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2007 and for the three months then ended include amounts acquired from, as well as the results of
operations of, Visual Web from February 7, 2007 forward.  The consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007, and
September 30, 2007, and for the three months ended March 31, 2008 include amounts acquired from, as well as the results of operations of, Visual Web.
 
The aggregate purchase price of Visual Web, including direct costs of the acquisition, was $8.3 million, net of $1.1 million of cash acquired.  Under the terms
of the acquisition, the parties established a cash escrow arrangement in which $1.1 million of the cash consideration paid at closing is held in escrow as
security for tax and other contingencies.  The allocation of the purchase price to specific assets and liabilities was based, in part, upon outside appraisals of the
fair value of certain assets.
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Stratasoft Sdn Bhd
 
On April 2, 2007, the Company acquired Stratasoft Sdn Bhd (“Stratasoft”), a Malaysian-based provider of electronic payment solutions.  This acquisition
compliments the Company’s strategy to move to a direct sales model in selected markets in Asia.
 
The consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007, and September 30, 2007, and for the three months ended March 31, 2008,
include amounts acquired from, as well as the results of operations of, Stratasoft.
 
The aggregate purchase price of Stratasoft, including direct costs of the acquisition, was $2.5 million, net of $0.7 million of cash acquired.  The preliminary
allocation of the purchase price to specific assets and liabilities was based, in part, upon outside   appraisals of the fair value of certain assets.  The finalization
of the purchase price allocation may result in certain adjustments to the preliminary amounts including bad debt reserves, tax contingencies, earn out and
escrow settlements.
 
The Company will pay an additional aggregate amount of up to $1.2 million (subject to foreign currency fluctuations) to the sellers if Stratasoft achieves
certain financial targets set forth in the purchase agreement for the periods ending December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008.  The Company is continuing
to assess the additional amounts payable to the sellers of Stratasoft, if any, for the period ending December 31, 2007 in accordance with the targets set forth in
the purchase agreement. Upon completion of this assessment, any additional amounts would be recorded as an increase to goodwill in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet.
 
Under the terms of the acquisition, the parties established a cash escrow arrangement in which $0.5 million of the cash consideration paid at closing is held in
escrow as security for tax and other contingencies.
 
Lease Termination
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2008, the Company terminated the lease for one of its facilities in Watford, England.  Under the terms of the
termination agreement, the Company paid a termination fee of approximately $0.9 million that was recorded in general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008.  Further under the termination agreement, the Company was
relieved of its contractual obligations with respect to the restoration of facilities back to their original condition.  As a result, the Company recognized a gain
of approximately $1.0 million related to the relief from this liability, which is also recorded in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.  At March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007, the Company had contractual obligations with
respect to the restoration of leased facilities of $1.6 million, $2.5 million and $2.6 million, respectively, recorded in other liabilities in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

 
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations (“SFAS 141(R)”), which replaces SFAS 141.  SFAS 141(R) establishes principles
and requirements for how an acquirer in a business combination recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed, and any controlling interest; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and
determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS
141(R) is to be applied prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after an entity’s fiscal year that begins after December 15,
2008. The Company will assess the impact of SFAS 141(R) if and when a future acquisition occurs.

 
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51 (“SFAS
160”).  SFAS 160 establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
Specifically, this statement requires the recognition of a noncontrolling interest (minority interest) as equity in the consolidated financial statements and separate
from the parent’s equity. The amount of net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest will be included in consolidated net income on the face of the
income statement. SFAS 160 clarifies that changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation are equity transactions if
the parent retains it controlling financial interest. In addition, this statement requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary is
deconsolidated. Such gain or loss will be measured using the fair value of the noncontrolling equity investment on the deconsolidation date. SFAS 160 also
includes expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of the parent and its noncontrolling interest.  SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years, and
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interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption is prohibited. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact, if any, the adoption of SFAS 160 will have on its consolidated financial statements.
 
On March 19, 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, (“SFAS 161”). SFAS 161 amends FASB
Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, (“SFAS 133”) and was issued in response to concerns and criticisms about the
lack of adequate disclosure of derivative instruments and hedging activities.  SFAS 161 requires; (i) qualitative disclosures regarding the objectives and strategies
for using derivative instruments and engaging in hedging activities in the context of an entity’s overall risk exposure, (ii) quantitative disclosures in tabular format
of the fair values of derivative instruments and their gains and losses, and (iii) disclosures about credit-risk related contingent features in derivative instruments. 
SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008, but early application is encouraged. 
The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, the adoption of SFAS 161 will have on its consolidated financial statements.
 
2.  Revenue Recognition, Accrued Receivables and Deferred Revenue
 
Software License Fees. The Company recognizes software license fee revenue in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”)
Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition (“SOP 97-2”), SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition With
Respect to Certain Transactions (“SOP 98-9”), and Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 101, Revenue Recognition
in Financial Statements, as codified by SAB 104, Revenue Recognition.  For software license arrangements for which services rendered are not considered
essential to the functionality of the software, the Company recognizes revenue upon delivery, provided (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement,
(2) collection of the fee is considered probable and (3) the fee is fixed or determinable. In most arrangements, vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of
fair value does not exist for the license element; therefore, the Company uses the residual method under SOP 98-9 to determine the amount of revenue to be
allocated to the license element. Under SOP 98-9, the fair value of all undelivered elements, such as post contract customer support (maintenance or “PCS”) or
other products or services, is deferred and subsequently recognized as the products are delivered or the services are performed, with the residual difference
between the total arrangement fee and revenues allocated to undelivered elements being allocated to the delivered element.
 
When a software license arrangement includes services to provide significant modification or customization of software, those services are not separable from the
software and are accounted for in accordance with Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB”) No. 45, Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts (“ARB No. 45”), and
the relevant guidance provided by SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts (“SOP 81-1”).
Accounting for services delivered over time (generally in excess of twelve months) under ARB No. 45 and SOP 81-1 is referred to as contract accounting. Under
contract accounting, the Company generally uses the percentage-of-completion method. Under the percentage-of-completion method, the Company records
revenue for the software license fee and services over the development and implementation period, with the percentage of completion generally measured by the
percentage of labor hours incurred to-date to estimated total labor hours for each contract. For those contracts subject to percentage-of-completion contract
accounting, estimates of total revenue and profitability under the contract consider amounts due under extended payment terms. In certain cases, the Company
provides its customers with extended payment terms whereby payment is deferred beyond when the services are rendered. In other projects, the Company
provides its customer with extended payment terms that are refundable in the event certain milestones are not achieved or the project scope changes. The
Company excludes revenues due on extended payment terms from its current percentage-of-completion computation until such time that collection of the fees
becomes probable. In the event project profitability is assured and estimable within a range, percentage-of-completion revenue recognition is computed using the
lowest level of profitability in the range. If the range of profitability is not estimable but some level of profit is assured, revenues are recognized to the extent
direct and incremental costs are incurred until such time that project profitability can be estimated. In the event some level of profitability cannot be reasonably
assured, completed-contract accounting is applied.  If it is determined that a loss will result from the performance of a contract, the entire amount of the loss is
recognized in the period in which it is determined that a loss will result.
 
For software license arrangements in which a significant portion of the fee is due more than 12 months after delivery, the software license fee is deemed not to be
fixed or determinable. For software license arrangements in which the fee is not considered fixed or determinable, the software license fee is recognized as
revenue as payments become due and payable, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met. For software license arrangements in which
the Company has concluded that collection of the fees is not probable, revenue is recognized as cash is collected, provided all other conditions for revenue
recognition have been met. In making the determination of collectibility, the Company considers the creditworthiness of the customer, economic conditions in the
customer’s industry and geographic location, and general economic conditions.
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SOP 97-2 requires the seller of software that includes PCS to establish VSOE of fair value of the undelivered element of the contract in order to account
separately for the PCS revenue. For certain of the Company’s products, VSOE of the fair value of PCS is determined by reference to stated renewals with
consistent pricing of PCS and PCS renewals as a percentage of the software license fees. In other products, the Company determines VSOE by reference to
contractual renewals, when the renewal terms are substantive. In those cases where VSOE of the fair value of PCS is determined by reference to stated renewals,
the Company considers factors such as whether the period of the initial PCS term is relatively long when compared to the term of the software license or whether
the PCS renewal rate is significantly below the Company’s normal pricing practices.
 
In the absence of customer-specific acceptance provisions, software license arrangements generally grant customers a right of refund or replacement only if the
licensed software does not perform in accordance with its published specifications. If the Company’s product history supports an assessment by management that
the likelihood of non-acceptance is remote, the Company recognizes revenue when all other criteria of revenue recognition are met.
 
For those software license arrangements that include customer-specific acceptance provisions, such provisions are generally presumed to be substantive and the
Company does not recognize revenue until the earlier of the receipt of a written customer acceptance, objective demonstration that the delivered product meets
the customer-specific acceptance criteria or the expiration of the acceptance period. The Company also defers the recognition of revenue on transactions involving
less-established or newly released software products that do not have a product history. The Company recognizes revenues on such arrangements upon the earlier
of receipt of written acceptance or the first production use of the software by the customer.
 
For software license arrangements in which the Company acts as a sales agent for another company’s products, revenues are recorded on a net basis. These
include arrangements in which the Company does not take title to the products, is not responsible for providing the product or service, earns a fixed commission,
and assumes credit risk only to the extent of its commission. For software license arrangements in which the Company acts as a distributor of another company’s
product, and in certain circumstances, modifies or enhances the product, revenues are recorded on a gross basis. These include arrangements in which the
Company takes title to the products and is responsible for providing the product or service.



 
For software license arrangements in which the Company permits the customer to receive or exchange for unspecified future software products during the
software license term, the Company recognizes revenue ratably over the license term, provided all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.  For software
license arrangements in which the customer has the right to change or alternate its use of currently licensed products, revenue is recognized upon delivery of the
first copy of all of the licensed products, provided all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.  For software license arrangements in which the customer
is charged variable software license fees based on usage of the product, the Company recognizes revenue as usage occurs over the term of the licenses, provided
all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

 
Certain of the Company’s software license arrangements include PCS terms that fail to achieve VSOE of fair value due to non-substantive renewal periods, or
contain a range of possible PCS renewal amounts that is not sufficiently narrow to establish VSOE of fair value. For these arrangements, VSOE of fair value of
PCS does not exist and revenues are therefore recognized ratably over the contractually specified PCS term. The Company typically classifies revenues associated
with these arrangements in accordance with the contractually specified amounts assigned to the various elements, including software license fees and
maintenance fees. The following are amounts included in revenues in the consolidated statements of operations for which VSOE of fair value does not exist for
each element (in thousands):

 

  

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

  
2008

 
2007

 

Software license fees
 

$ 3,227
 

$ 2,681
 

Maintenance fees
 

1,252
 

961
 

Services
 

1,258
 

1,161
 

Total
 

$ 5,737
 

$ 4,803
 

 
Maintenance Fees. The Company typically enters into multi-year time-based software license arrangements that vary in length but are generally five years.  These
arrangements include an initial (bundled) PCS term of one or two years with subsequent renewals for additional years within the initial license period.  For
arrangements in which the Company looks to substantive renewal rates
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to evidence VSOE of fair value of PCS and in which the PCS renewal rate and term are substantive, VSOE of fair value of PCS is determined by reference to the
stated renewal rate.  For these arrangements, PCS revenues are recognized ratably over the PCS term specified in the contract. In arrangements where VSOE of
fair value of PCS cannot be determined (for example, a time-based software license with a duration of one year or less or when the range of possible PCS renewal
amounts is not sufficiently narrow), the Company recognizes revenue for the entire arrangement ratably over the PCS term.

 
For those arrangements that meet the criteria to be accounted for under contract accounting, the Company determines whether VSOE of fair value exists for the
PCS element.  For those situations in which VSOE of fair value exists for the PCS element, PCS is accounted for separately and the balance of the arrangement is
accounted for under ARB No. 45 and the relevant guidance provided by SOP 81-1.  For those arrangements in which VSOE of fair value does not exist for the
PCS element, revenue is recognized to the extent direct and incremental costs are incurred until such time as the services are complete.  Once services are
complete, all remaining revenue is then recognized ratably over the remaining PCS period.

 
Services. The Company provides various professional services to customers, primarily project management, software implementation and software modification
services. Revenues from arrangements to provide professional services are generally recognized as the related services are performed. For those arrangements in
which services revenue is deferred and the Company determines that the costs of services are recoverable, such costs are deferred and subsequently expensed in
proportion to the services revenue as it is recognized.

 
Hosting.  The Company’s hosting-related arrangements contain multiple products and services.  As these arrangements generally do not contain a contractual
right to take possession of the software at anytime during the hosting period without significant penalty, the Company applies the separate provisions of Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF) 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.  The Company uses the relative fair value method of revenue recognition to
allocate the total consideration derived from the arrangement to each of the elements.  Any up-front fees allocated to the hosting services are recognized over the
estimated life of the hosting relationship.  Professional services revenues are recognized as the services are performed when the services have stand-alone value
and over the estimated life of the hosting relationship when the services do not have stand-alone value.
 
The Company may execute more than one contract or agreement with a single customer.  The separate contracts or agreements may be viewed as one multiple-
element arrangement or separate agreements for revenue recognition purposes.  The Company evaluates the facts and circumstances related to each situation in
order to reach appropriate conclusions regarding whether such arrangements are related or separate.  The conclusions reached can impact the timing of revenue
recognition related to those arrangements.
 
Accrued Receivables. Accrued receivables represent amounts to be billed in the near future (less than 12 months).

 
Deferred Revenue. Deferred revenue includes (1) amounts currently due and payable from customers, and payments received from customers, for software
licenses, maintenance and/or services in advance of providing the product or performing services, (2) amounts deferred whereby VSOE of the fair value of
undelivered elements in a bundled arrangement does not exist, and (3) amounts deferred if other conditions for revenue recognition have not been met.
 
3.  Share-Based Compensation Plans
 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 
Under the Company’s 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (the “ESPP”), a total of 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock have been
reserved for issuance to eligible employees. Participating employees are permitted to designate up to the lesser of $25,000 or 10% of their annual base
compensation for the purchase of common stock under the ESPP. Purchases under the ESPP are made one calendar month after the end of each fiscal quarter.
The price for shares of common stock purchased under the ESPP is 85% of the stock’s fair market value on the last business day of the three-month
participation period. Shares issued under the ESPP during the three months ended March 31, 2008 totaled 33,283.  No shares were issued under the ESPP
during the three months ended March 31, 2007, as the Company was not current with its filings with the SEC.
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Accounting for Share-Based Payments Pursuant to SFAS 123(R)
 
The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”), as of October 1, 2005 using the modified prospective transition method. This
revised accounting standard eliminated the ability to account for share-based compensation transactions using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB
Opinion No. 25, and requires instead that such transactions be accounted for using a fair-value-based method. SFAS 123(R) requires entities to record noncash
compensation expense related to payment for employee services by an equity award in their financial statements over the requisite service period. In March 2005,
the SEC issued SAB 107, which does not modify any of SFAS 123(R)’s conclusions or requirements, but rather includes recognition, measurement and disclosure
guidance for companies as they implement SFAS 123(R).
 
Upon adoption of SFAS 123(R), all of the Company’s existing share-based compensation awards were determined to be equity classified awards. A portion of
these options were reclassified to liability classification as they were subsequently cash settled.  Under the modified prospective transition method, the Company
is required to recognize noncash compensation costs for the portion of share-based awards that are outstanding as of October 1, 2005 for which the requisite
service has not been rendered (i.e., nonvested awards). These compensation costs are based on the grant date fair value of those awards as calculated for pro
forma disclosures under SFAS 123. The Company is recognizing compensation costs related to the nonvested portion of those awards in the financial statements
from the SFAS 123(R) adoption date through the end of the requisite service period.
 
A summary of stock options is as follows:
 

  

Number of
Shares

 

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price ($)

 

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

 

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value of

In-the-Money
Options ($)

 

Outstanding, September 30, 2007
 

3,708,431
 

$ 22.35
     

Granted
 

—
 

—
     

Exercised
 

(51,160) 10.75
     

Cancelled/Forfeited/Expired
 

(66,946) 27.39
     

Outstanding, December 31, 2007
 

3,590,325
 

22.43
     

Granted
 

377,000
 

16.84
     

Exercised
 

(37,757) 10.13
     

Cancelled/Forfeited/Expired
 

(148,144) 24.93
     

Outstanding, March 31, 2008
 

3,781,424
 

$ 21.89
 

6.87
 

$ 10,950,820
 

          
Exercisable, March 31, 2008

 

1,909,696
 

$ 16.96
 

5.28
 

$ 9,926,070
 

 
The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2008 was $9.39.  No stock options were granted
during the three months ended March 31, 2007.  The Company issued treasury shares for the exercise of stock options during the three months ended
March 31, 2008.  The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the three months ended March 31, 2008 was $0.3 million.  There were no stock
option exercises during the three months ended March 31, 2007.
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The fair value of options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2008 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, a pricing model acceptable under SFAS 123(R), with the following assumptions:
 
  

Three Months Ended
 

  
March 31, 2008

 

    
Expected life (years)

 

6.25
 

Interest rate
 

3.1%
Volatility

 

55.4%
Dividend yield

 

—
 

 
Expected volatilities are based on the Company’s historical common stock volatility derived from historical stock price data for historical periods
commensurate with the options’ expected life. The expected life of options granted represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be
outstanding, assuming differing exercise behaviors for stratified employee groupings. The Company used the simplified method for determining the expected
life as permitted under SAB 110, Topic 14, Share-Based Payment. The simplified method was used as the historical data did not provide a reasonable basis
upon which to estimate the expected term. This is due to the extended period during which individuals were unable to exercise options while the Company
was not current with its filings with the SEC. The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield currently available on United States Treasury zero
coupon issues with a term equal to the expected term at the date of grant of the options. The expected dividend yield is zero as the Company has historically
paid no dividends and does not anticipate dividends to be paid in the future.

 
The Company did not grant any long-term incentive program performance share awards (“LTIP Performance Shares”) pursuant to the Company’s 2005 Equity
and Performance Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2005 Incentive Plan”), during the three months ended March 31, 2008 or 2007.   A summary of nonvested
LTIP Performance Shares is as follows:
 

Nonvested LTIP Performance Shares
 

Number of
Shares at
Expected

Attainment
 

Weighted-
Average Grant

Date Fair
Value

 

Nonvested at September 30, 2007
 

312,117
 

$ 31.95
 

Granted
 

—
 

—
 

Vested
 

—
 

—
 

Change in expected attainment for fiscal 2005 and 2006 grants
 

(132,110) 29.00
 

  



Forfeited or expired (5,060) 29.10
Nonvested at December 31, 2007

 

174,947
 

34.25
 

Granted
 

—
 

—
 

Vested
 

—
 

—
 

Forfeited or expired
 

(4,098) 34.30
 

Nonvested at March 31, 2008
 

170,849
 

$ 34.25
 

 
These LTIP Performance Shares are earned, if at all, based upon the achievement, over a specified period that must not be less than one year and is typically a
three-year period  (the “Performance Period”), of performance goals related to (i) the compound annual growth over the Performance Period in the
Company’s 60-month backlog as determined and defined by the Company, (ii) the compound annual growth over the Performance Period in the diluted
earnings per share as reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements, and (iii) the compound annual growth over the Performance Period in the
total revenues as reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. In no event will any of the LTIP Performance Shares become earned if the
Company’s earnings per share is below a predetermined minimum threshold level at the conclusion of the Performance Period. Assuming achievement of the
predetermined minimum earnings per share threshold level, up to 150% of the LTIP Performance Shares may be earned upon achievement of performance
goals equal to or exceeding the maximum target levels for compound annual growth over the Performance Period in the Company’s 60-month backlog,
diluted earnings per share and total revenues. Management must evaluate, on a quarterly basis, the probability that the target performance goals will be
achieved, if at all, and the anticipated level of attainment in order to determine the amount of compensation costs to record in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Through September 30, 2007, the Company had accrued compensation costs assuming an attainment level of 110% for the awards granted in fiscal 2005 and
2006.  During the three months ended December 31, 2007, the Company changed the expected attainment to 0% based upon revised forecasted diluted
earnings per share, which the Company does not expect will achieve the predetermined earnings per share minimum threshold level required for the LTIP
Performance Shares granted in fiscal 2005 and 2006 to be earned.  As the performance goals were considered improbable of achievement, the Company
reversed compensation costs related to the awards granted in fiscal 2005 and 2006 during the three months ended December 31, 2007.
 
Based on forecasts for the performance period of the awards granted during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, management currently believes that an
achievement level of 100% will be attained for those awards.
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2008, pursuant to the Company’s 2005 Incentive Plan, the Company granted restricted share awards (“RSAs”). 
These awards have requisite service periods of four years and vest in increments of 25% on the anniversary dates of the grants. Under each arrangement,
stock is issued without direct cost to the employee. The Company estimates the fair value of the RSAs based upon the market price of the Company’s stock at
the date of grant. The RSA grants provide for the payment of dividends payable on the Company’s common stock, if any, to the participant during the
requisite service period (vesting period) and the participant has voting rights for each share of common stock. The Company recognizes compensation
expense for RSAs on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.
 
A summary of nonvested RSAs as of March 31, 2008 and changes during the period are as follows:
 
  

Number of
   

  
Restricted

 
Weighted-Average Grant

 

Nonvested Restricted Share Awards
 

Share Awards
 

Date Fair Value
 

Nonvested at December 31, 2007
 

—
 

$ —
 

Granted
 

237,500
 

16.17
 

Vested
 

—
 

—
 

Forfeited or expired
 

—
 

—
 

Nonvested at March 31, 2008
 

237,500
 

$ 16.17
 

 
As of March 31, 2008, there were unrecognized compensation costs of $16.2 million related to nonvested stock options, $2.5 million related to nonvested
LTIP Performance Shares, and $2.4 million related to the nonvested RSAs, which the Company expects to recognize over weighted-average periods of 2.8
years, 1.8 years and 3.8 years, respectively.
 
The Company recorded stock-based compensation expenses in accordance with SFAS 123(R) for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 related to
stock options, LTIP Performance Shares, RSAs, and the ESPP of $2.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively, with corresponding tax benefits of $1.0 million
and $0.6 million, respectively.  Tax benefits in excess of the option’s grant date fair value under SFAS 123(R) are classified as financing cash flows.  No
stock-based compensation costs were capitalized during the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007. Estimated forfeiture rates, stratified by employee
classification, have been included as part of the Company’s calculations of compensation costs. The Company recognizes compensation costs for stock option
awards which vest with the passage of time with only service conditions on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

 
Cash received from option exercises for the three months ended March 31, 2008 was $0.4 million.  The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from
option exercises totaled $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008.
 
During the three months ended December 31, 2007, the Company reclassified 31,393 vested options from equity classification to liability classification, as
these options were expected to cash settle subsequent to December 31, 2007 due to the suspension of option exercises because the Company was not current
with its filings with the SEC.  As a result, the Company recorded a liability of approximately $0.1 million and recorded compensation expense of $0.1 million
in the three months ended December 31, 2007. This liability was paid during the three months ended March 31, 2008.  As of March 31, 2008, the Company
was current with its filings with the SEC and therefore, all outstanding options were classified as equity.
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4. Goodwill

 



Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill attributable to each reportable operating segment during the three months ended December 31, 2007 and March 31,
2008, consisting primarily of foreign currency translation adjustments, were as follows (in thousands):
 
  

Goodwill
 

Balance, September 30, 2007
 

$ 205,715
 

Foreign currency translation adjustments
 

628
 

Adjustments - S2 (1)
 

13
 

Adjustments - Visual Web (2)
 

414
 

Balance, December 31, 2007
 

206,770
 

Foreign currency translation adjustments
 

3,175
 

Adjustments - S2 (3)
 

7
 

Balance, March 31, 2008
 

$ 209,952
 

 

(1)
 

Adjustment to S2 Systems, Inc. acquisition relates to settlement of escrow balances in accordance with the purchase
agreement.

(2)
 

Visual Web purchase accounting adjustment relates to an adjustment to deferred tax balances.
(3)

 

Adjustment to S2 Systems, Inc. acquisition relates to a contingency payment made in accordance with the purchase
agreement.

 
5.  Software and Other Intangible Assets

 
The carrying amount and accumulated amortization of the Company’s software that was subject to amortization at each balance sheet date are as follows (in
thousands):
 
  

March 31,
 

December 31,
 

September 30,
 

  
2008

 
2007

 
2007

 

Internally-developed software
 

$ 13,320
 

$ 13,299
 

$ 13,302
 

Purchased software
 

84,338
 

82,410
 

80,836
 

 

 

97,658
 

95,709
 

94,138
 

Less: accumulated amortization
 

(66,698) (64,279) (62,374)
Software, net

 

$ 30,960
 

$ 31,430
 

$ 31,764
 

 
At March 31, 2008, the software net book value includes the following software purchased through acquisitions which is being marketed for external sale:  $1.6
million of S2 Systems, Inc. purchased software, $3.9 million of eps Electronic Payment Systems AG purchased software, $16.8 million of P&H Solutions, Inc.
purchased software and $1.1 million of Visual Web purchased software.   The remaining software net book value of $7.6 million is comprised of various software
that has been acquired or developed for internal use.  The Company capitalized $0.7 million of internal software development costs to be marketed for external
sale in the three months ended March 31, 2008, none were capitalized in the three months ended March 31, 2007.  In addition, see Note 15, “International
Business Machines Corporation Alliance”.

 
Quarterly amortization of acquired software marketed for external sale is computed using the greater of the ratio of current revenues to total estimated revenues
expected to be derived from the software or the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of three to six years. Software amortization expense recorded in
the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 totaled $2.1 million and $2.0 million, respectively. These software amortization expense amounts are reflected
in cost of software license fees in the consolidated statements of operations.
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The carrying amount and accumulated amortization of the Company’s other intangible assets that were subject to amortization at each balance sheet date are as
follows (in thousands):
 
  

March 31,
 

December 31,
 

September 30,
 

  
2008

 
2007

 
2007

 

Customer relationships
 

$ 41,115
 

$ 40,538
 

$ 40,488
 

Purchased contracts
 

11,634
 

11,593
 

11,643
 

Trademarks and tradenames
 

2,336
 

2,266
 

2,246
 

Covenant not to compete
 

1,561
 

1,546
 

1,531
 

 

 

56,646
 

55,943
 

55,908
 

Less: accumulated amortization
 

(19,682) (17,855) (16,223)
Other intangible assets, net

 

$ 36,964
 

$ 38,088
 

$ 39,685
 

 
Other intangible assets amortization expense recorded in the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 totaled $1.7 million and $1.6 million, respectively.
 
Based on capitalized intangible assets at March 31, 2008, estimated amortization expense for future fiscal years is as follows (in thousands):
 

Fiscal Year Ending December 31,
 

Software
Amortization

 

Other
Intangible

Assets
Amortization

 

Remainder of 2008
 

$ 6,773
 

$ 4,878
 

2009
 

8,479
 

6,355
 

2010
 

7,289
 

6,309
 

2011
 

5,321
 

5,956
 

2012
 

2,724
 

4,886
 

Thereafter
 

374
 

8,580
 

Total
 

$ 30,960
 

$ 36,964
 



 
6.  Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
 
The Company maintains an interest-rate risk-management strategy that uses derivative instruments to mitigate the risk of variability in future cash flows (and
related interest expense) associated with currently outstanding and forecasted floating rate bank borrowings due to changes in the benchmark interest rate
(“LIBOR”).
 
At March 31, 2008, the Company had $75 million of outstanding variable-rate borrowings under a 5-year $150 million revolving facility that matures on
September 29, 2011. The variable-rate benchmark is 3-month LIBOR.  During the year ended September 30, 2007, the Company entered into two interest-
rate swaps to convert its existing and forecasted variable-rate borrowing needs to fixed rates.

 
Although the Company believes that these interest rate swaps will mitigate the risk of variability in future cash flows associated with existing and forecasted
variable rate borrowings during the term of the swaps, neither swap qualifies for hedge accounting. Accordingly, the change in the aggregate fair value
liability for the three months ended March 31, 2008 of $3.7 million is reflected as expense in other income (expense), net in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.
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Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps were as follows (in thousands):

 
  

Asset
 

  
(Liability)

 

Beginning fair value, September 30, 2007
 

$ (2,077)
Loss recognized in earnings

 

(2,475)
Fair value, December 31, 2007

 

(4,552)
Loss recognized in earnings

 

(3,689)
Ending fair value, March 31, 2008

 

$ (8,241)
 

As of March 31, 2008, the $8.2 million fair value liability is recorded as $3.8 million and $4.4 million in other current liabilities and other noncurrent
liabilities, respectively, on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
 
Net settlements are measured monthly and paid quarterly.  The net settlements are recorded in other income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations.  Included in the $8.2 million fair value at March 31, 2008, is approximately $0.2 million of net settlement obligations paid by the Company
subsequent to March 31, 2008.
 
Subsequent to March 31, 2008, events in the global credit markets have impacted the expectation of near-term variable borrowing rates. As a result, the
Company has experienced a positive impact to the fair value liability of its interest rate swaps. During April 2008, the fair value liability has decreased
approximately $2.0 million from a balance of $8.2 million as of March 31, 2008 to $6.2 million as of April 30, 2008.
 
7.  Fair Value Financial Instruments
 
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157”), for financial assets and financial
liabilities. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Position No. 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157, the Company will
delay application of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, until January 1, 2009. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
 
SFAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants.  SFAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

 
•                  Level 1 Inputs - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the

measurement date.
 

•                  Level 2 Inputs - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These
might include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that
are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such as interest rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds,
credit risks, etc.) or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by market data by correlation or other means.

 
•                  Level 3 Inputs - Unobservable inputs for determining the fair values of assets or liabilities that reflect an entity’s own assumptions about the

assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities.
 
Derivatives. Derivatives are reported at fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs. The Company utilizes valuation models prepared by a third-party with observable
market data inputs to estimate fair value of its interest rate swaps.
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The following table summarizes financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2008, segregated by the
level of the valuation inputs within the fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value:
 

  

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting
Date Using

 

    
Quoted Prices

     

    
in Active

 
Significant

   
       



Markets for Other Significant
    

Identical
 

Observable
 

Unobservable
 

  
March 31,

 
Assets

 
Inputs

 
Inputs

 

Description
 

2008
 

(Level 1)
 

(Level 2)
 

(Level 3)
 

          
Derivative liabilities

 

$ 8,241
 

$ —
 

$ 8,241
 

$ —
 

 
Certain non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis include reporting units measured at fair value in the first
step of a goodwill impairment test. Certain non-financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis include non-financial assets and non-financial
liabilities measured at fair value in the second step of a goodwill impairment test, as well as intangible assets and other non-financial long-lived assets
measured at fair value for impairment assessment. As stated above, SFAS 157 will be applicable to these fair value measurements beginning January 1, 2009.
 
The Company pays interest quarterly on its long-term revolving credit facility based upon the LIBOR rate plus a margin ranging from 0.625% to 1.375%, the
margin being dependent upon the Company’s total leverage ratio at the end of the quarter.  At March 31, 2008, the fair value of the Company’s long-term
revolving credit facility approximates its carrying value.
 
8.  Corporate Restructuring and Other Reorganization Charges
 
Changes in the liability for corporate restructuring charges during the three months ended March 31, 2008 were as follows:

 

  

Termination
Benefits

 

Balance, September 30, 2007
 

$ 2,726
 

Additional restructuring charges incurred
 

477
 

Amounts paid during the period
 

(1,829)
Other

 

23
 

Balance, December 31, 2007
 

1,397
 

Adjustments to recognized liabilities
 

(45)
Amounts paid during the period

 

(659)
Other

 

52
 

Balance, March 31, 2008
 

$ 745
 

 
Other includes the impact of foreign currency translation.
 
At March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007, the liabilities were classified as short-term in accrued employee compensation in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  See Note 16, “International Business Machines Corporation Information Technology Outsourcing Agreement”.
 
9.  Common Stock and Earnings (Loss) Per Share
 
In December 2004, the Company announced that the board of directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing the Company, from time to time as
market and business conditions warrant, to acquire up to $80.0 million of our common stock.  In May 2006, the Company’s board of directors approved an
increase of $30.0 million to the stock repurchase program, bringing the total of the approved plan to $110.0 million.  In March 2007, the Company’s board of
directors approved an increase of $100 million to the current repurchase authorization, bringing the total authorization to $210 million.  Under the program to
date, the Company has purchased approximately 6,049,484 shares for approximately $154 million.  The maximum remaining dollar value
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of shares authorized for purchase under the stock repurchase program was approximately $57 million as of March 31, 2008.  Purchases will be made from
time to time as market and business conditions warrant, in open market, negotiated or block transactions, subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations.
 
Earnings (loss) per share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share.  Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed on the basis of
weighted average outstanding common shares.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed on the basis of basic weighted average outstanding common
shares adjusted for the dilutive effect of stock options and other outstanding dilutive securities.  The following table reconciles the average share amounts
used to compute both basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (in thousands):
 

  

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

  
2008

 
2007

 

      
Weighted average share outstanding:

     

Basic weighted average shares outstanding
 

35,165
 

37,162
 

Add: Dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stock awards and other
dilutive securities

 

—
 

—
 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding
 

35,165
 

37,162
 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, 4.3 million and 3.5 million, respectively, options to purchase shares, restricted share awards and
contingently issuable shares were excluded from the diluted net income (loss) per share computation due to the net loss.
 
10.  Other Income/Expense
 
Other income (expense) is comprised of the following items (in thousands):
 

  

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

  
2008

 
2007

 

      
Foreign currency transactions gains (losses)

 

$ 3,659
 

$ (272)
  



Change in fair value of interest rate swap (3,689) —
Other

 

(160) (65)
Total

 

$ (190) $ (337)
 
11.  Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 
The Company’s components of other comprehensive income were as follows (in thousands):
 

  

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

  
2008

 
2007

 

      
Net loss

 

$ (3,460) $ (414)
Foreign currency translation adjustments

 

1,482
 

595
 

Comprehensive income (loss)
 

$ (1,978) $ 181
 

 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets represents the accumulated foreign currency translation
adjustment.  Since the undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested, the components of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) have not been tax effected.
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12.  Segment Information

 
The Company’s chief operating decision maker, together with other senior management personnel, currently focus their review of consolidated financial
information and the allocation of resources based on reporting of operating results, including revenues and operating income, for the geographic regions of
the Americas, Europe/Middle East/Africa (“EMEA”) and Asia/Pacific. The Company’s products are sold and supported through distribution networks
covering these three geographic regions, with each distribution network having its own sales force. The Company supplements its distribution networks with
independent reseller and/or distributor arrangements.  As such, the Company has concluded that its three geographic regions are its reportable operating
segments.

 
The Company’s chief operating decision makers review financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by disaggregated information about
revenues and operating income by geographical region.
 
The Company allocated segment support expenses such as global product delivery, business operations and management based upon percentage of revenue per
segment.  Corporate costs are allocated as a percentage of the headcount by segment.  The prior period amounts for operating income (loss) have been reclassified
to conform to current period presentation, which reflect a change in the allocation of certain costs related to acquired businesses across the reportable operating
segments versus solely in the region in which the acquired business was located in when acquired.  The following are revenues and operating income (loss) for
the periods indicated (in thousands):
 

  

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 
 

 
2008

 
2007

 

Revenues:
     

Americas
 

$ 44,014
 

$ 52,622
 

EMEA
 

37,308
 

28,746
 

Asia/Pacific
 

11,269
 

8,580
 

 

 

$ 92,591
 

$ 89,948
 

      
Operating income (loss):

     

Americas
 

$ 1,338
 

$ 7,316
 

EMEA
 

(2,181) (8,354)
Asia/Pacific

 

331
 

1,249
 

 

 

$ (512) $ 211
 

 
No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s consolidated revenues during the three months ended March 31, 2008 or 2007.  Aggregate
revenues attributable to customers in the United Kingdom accounted for 11.4% and 6.8% of the Company’s consolidated revenues during the three months ended
March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
 
13.  Income Taxes
 
The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2008 is not calculable due to the pretax loss and tax charge reported for the period as a result of losses
in tax jurisdictions for which we receive no tax benefit offset by income in tax jurisdictions in which we accrued tax expense and the recognition of tax expense
associated with the transfer of certain intellectual property rights from U.S. to non-U.S. entities.  The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2007
of approximately 41.6% was negatively impacted by losses in foreign countries in which the Company was not able to record tax benefits and by the recognition
of tax expense associated with the transfer of certain intellectual property rights from U.S to non-U.S. entities.
 
In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN
48”).  The Company adopted the provision of FIN 48 effective October 1, 2007.  FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the
recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the Company recognized a decrease to retained
earnings of $3.3 million, which included at October 1, 2007 an increase of $2.7 million in net unrecognized tax benefits.  In addition, reclassification in balance
sheet accounts as required by FIN 48 resulted in an increase in noncurrent deferred income tax assets of $4.3 million, an increase in other long term assets of $1.5
million and an increase in other long term liabilities of
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$16.2 million.  As of the date of adoption, the Company’s gross unrecognized tax benefits totaled $14.8 million.  Of this amount, $9.0 million represent the net
unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably impact the effective income tax rate.  No material amount of liability was added to the
unrecognized tax benefit balance during the quarter.
 
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various state and local jurisdictions, and many foreign jurisdictions.  The U.S., United
Kingdom and Canada are the main taxing jurisdictions in which the Company operates.  A number of years may elapse before an uncertain tax position is audited
and finally resolved.  While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any particular uncertain tax position, the Company
believes that the accruals for income taxes reflect the most probable outcome.  The Company will adjust these accruals, as well as the related interest, in light of
changing facts and circumstances.  The years open for audit varies depending on the tax jurisdiction.  In the US, the Company’s tax returns for years following
fiscal year 2003 are open for audit.  In the UK, the Company’s tax returns for the years following 2002 are open for audit, while in Canada, the Company’s tax
returns for years following 1999 are open for audit.
 
The Internal Revenue Service is currently auditing the Company’s fiscal year 2005 and 2006 income tax returns.  The Company’s United Kingdom and Canada
income tax returns covering fiscal year 2003 through 2005 and 2000 through 2004, respectively, are also under audit by the applicable tax authorities.  The
Company believes it is reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will decrease within the next 12 months by approximately $4.9
million, due to settlement of various audits.
 
The Company accrues interest related to uncertain tax positions in interest expense or interest income and recognizes penalties related to uncertain tax positions in
other income or other expense.  As of March 31, 2008, $1.5 million is accrued for the payment of interest and penalties related to income tax liabilities.
 
14.  Contingencies
 
Legal Proceedings
 
From time to time, the Company is involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of its business. Other than as described below, the
Company is not currently a party to any legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of which, individually or in the aggregate, the Company believes would be
likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
 
Class Action Litigation. In November 2002, two class action complaints were filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Nebraska (the “Court”) against
the Company and certain individuals alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.
Pursuant to a Court order, the two complaints were consolidated as Desert Orchid Partners v. Transaction Systems Architects, Inc., et al., with Genesee
County Employees’ Retirement System designated as lead plaintiff. The Second Amended Consolidated Class Action Complaint previously alleged that
during the purported class period, the Company and the named defendants misrepresented the Company’s historical financial condition, results of operations
and its future prospects, and failed to disclose facts that could have indicated an impending decline in the Company’s revenues. That Complaint also alleged
that, prior to August 2002, the purported truth regarding the Company’s financial condition had not been disclosed to the market.  The Company and the
individual defendants initially filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit. In response, on December 15, 2003, the Court dismissed, without prejudice, Gregory
Derkacht, the Company’s former president and chief executive officer, as a defendant, but denied the motion to dismiss with respect to the remaining
defendants, including the Company.

 
On July 1, 2004, lead plaintiff filed a motion for class certification wherein, for the first time, lead plaintiff sought to add an additional class representative,
Roger M. Wally. On August 20, 2004, defendants filed their opposition to the motion. On March 22, 2005, the Court issued an order certifying the class of
persons that purchased the Company’s common stock from January 21, 1999 through November 18, 2002.

 
On January 27, 2006, the Company and the individual defendants filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings, seeking a dismissal of the lead plaintiff and
certain other class members, as well as a limitation on damages based upon plaintiffs’ inability to establish loss causation with respect to a large portion of
their claims.  On February 6, 2006, additional class representative Roger M. Wally filed a motion to withdraw as a class representative and class member. On
April 21, 2006, and based upon the pending motion for judgment, a motion to intervene as a class representative was filed by the Louisiana District Attorneys
Retirement System (“LDARS”). LDARS previously attempted to be named as lead plaintiff in the case.  On July 5, 2006, the Magistrate denied LDARS’
motion to intervene, which LDARS appealed to the District Judge.
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On May 17, 2006, the Court denied the motion for judgment on the pleadings as being moot based upon the Court’s granting lead plaintiff leave to file a
Third Amended Complaint (“Third Complaint”), which it did on May 31, 2006.  The Third Complaint alleges the same misrepresentations as described
above, while simultaneously alleging that the purported truth about the Company’s financial condition was being disclosed throughout that time, commencing
in April 1999.  The Third Complaint sought unspecified damages, interest, fees, and costs.

 
On June 14, 2006, the Company and the individual defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Third Complaint pursuant to Rules 8 and 12 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure.  Lead Plaintiff opposed the motion.  Prior to any ruling on the motion to dismiss, on November 7, 2006, the parties entered into a
Stipulation of Settlement for purposes of settling all of the claims in the Class Action Litigation, with no admissions of wrongdoing by the Company or any
individual defendant.  The settlement provides for an aggregate cash payment of $24.5 million of which, net of insurance, the Company contributed
approximately $8.5 million.  The settlement was approved by the Court on March 2, 2007 and the Court ordered the case dismissed with prejudice against the
Company and the individual defendants.

 
On March 27, 2007, James J. Hayes, a class member, filed a notice of appeal with the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit appealing the
Court’s order.  The Company responded to this appeal in accordance with the Court of Appeals’ orders and procedures.  The appeal has not yet been decided.

 
15.  International Business Machines Corporation Alliance
 



On December 16, 2007, the Company entered into an Alliance Agreement (“Alliance”) with International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM”) relating to
joint marketing and optimization of the Company’s electronic payments application software and IBM’s middleware and hardware platforms, tools and
services. On March 17, 2008, the Company and IBM entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Alliance (“Amendment No.1” and included hereafter in all
references to the “Alliance”), which changed the timing of certain payments to be made by IBM.  Under the terms of the Alliance, each party will retain
ownership of its respective intellectual property and will independently determine product offering pricing to customers. In connection with the formation of
the Alliance, the Company granted warrants to IBM to purchase up to 1,427,035 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $27.50 per share and up
to 1,427,035 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $33.00 per share. The warrants are exercisable for five years.
 
Under the terms of the Alliance, on December 16, 2007, IBM paid the Company an initial non-refundable payment of $33.3 million in consideration for the
estimated fair value of the warrants described above. The fair value of the warrants granted, as subsequently determined by an independent third party
appraiser, is approximately $24.0 million and is recorded as common stock warrants in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2008
and December 31, 2007. The remaining balance of $9.3 million is related to prepaid incentives and other obligations and is recorded in the Alliance
agreement liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2007.
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2008, the Company received an additional payment from IBM of $37.3 million per Amendment No.1.  This
payment has been recorded in the Alliance agreement liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2008.  This amount represents
a prepayment of funding for technical enablement milestones and incentive payments to be earned under the Alliance and related agreements and accordingly
a portion of this payment is subject to refund by the Company to IBM under certain circumstances.  As of March 31, 2008, $20.7 million is refundable subject
to achievement of future milestones.
 
The future costs incurred by the Company related to internally developed software associated with the technical enablement milestones will be capitalized in
accordance with SFAS No. 86, Accounting for Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed (“SFAS 86”), when the resulting
product reaches technological feasibility. Prior to reaching technological feasibility, the costs will be expensed as incurred. The Company will receive partial
reimbursement from IBM for expenditures incurred if certain technical enablement milestones and delivery dates specified in the Alliance are met.
Reimbursements from IBM for expenditures determined to be direct and incremental to satisfying the technical enablement milestones will be used to offset
the amounts expensed or capitalized as described above but not in excess of non-refundable cash received or receivable.  During the three months ended
March 31, 2008, the Company incurred $1.1 million of costs related to fulfillment of the technical enablement milestones.  The reimbursement of these costs
was recorded as a reduction of the Alliance agreement liability and a reduction in capitalizable costs under SFAS 86 in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet as of March 31, 2008, and a reduction of operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the three months
ended March 31, 2008.
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Also, during the three months ended March 31, 2008, the Company reached certain technical enablement milestones and has recognized an increase in the
Alliance agreement liability of $0.2 million and has recorded the receivable in billed receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of
March 31, 2008.
 
IBM will pay the Company additional amounts upon meeting certain prescribed technical enablement obligations and incentives payable upon IBM
recognizing revenue from end-user customers as a result of the Alliance.  The revenue related to the incentive payments will be deferred until the Company
has reached substantial completion of the technical enablement milestones.  Subsequent to reaching substantial completion, revenue will be recognized as
sales incentives are earned.
 
The stated initial term of the Alliance is five years, subject to extension for successive two year terms if not previously terminated by either party and subject
to earlier termination for cause.
 
16.  International Business Machines Corporation Information Technology Outsourcing Agreement
 
On March 17, 2008, the Company entered into a Master Services Agreement (“Outsourcing Agreement”) with IBM to outsource the Company’s internal
information technology (“IT”) environment to IBM. Under the terms of the Outsourcing Agreement, IBM will provide the Company with global IT
infrastructure services including the following services, which services are currently provided by the Company: cross functional delivery management
services, asset management services, help desk services, end user services, server system management services, storage management services, data network
services, enterprise security management services and disaster recovery/business continuity plans (collectively, the “IT Services”). The Company will retain
responsibility for its security policy management and on-demand business operations.
 
The initial term of the Outsourcing Agreement is seven years, commencing on March 17, 2008. The Company has the right to extend the Outsourcing
Agreement for one additional one-year term unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the Outsourcing Agreement. Under the Outsourcing
Agreement, the Company retains the right to terminate the agreement both for cause and for its convenience. However, upon any termination of the
Outsourcing Agreement by the Company for any reason (other than for material breach by IBM), the Company will be required to pay a termination charge to
IBM, which charge may be material.
 
The Company will pay IBM for the IT Services through a combination of fixed and variable charges, with the variable charges fluctuating based on the
Company’s actual need for such services as well as the applicable service levels and statements of work. Based on the currently projected usage of these IT
Services, the Company expects to pay $116 million to IBM in service fees and project costs over the initial seven-year term.
 
In addition, IBM will provide the Company with certain transition services required to transition the Company’s IT operations embodied in the IT Services in
accordance with a mutually agreed upon transition plan (the “Transition Services”). The Company currently expects the Transition Services to be completed
approximately 18 months after the effective date of the Outsourcing Agreement and to pay IBM approximately $8 million for the Transition Services over a
period of five years.  No Transition Services occurred during the three months ended March 31, 2008.
 
The Outsourcing Agreement has performance standards and minimum services levels that IBM must meet or exceed. If IBM fails to meet a given
performance standard, the Company would, in certain circumstances, receive a credit against the charges otherwise due.
 
Additionally, the Company has the right to periodically perform benchmark studies to determine whether IBM’s price and performance are consistent with the
then current market. The Company has the right to conduct such benchmark studies, at its cost, beginning in the second year of the Outsourcing Agreement.



 
As a result of the Outsourcing Agreement, approximately 20 employees of the Company are expected to become employees of IBM and another 59 positions
will be eliminated by the Company.  In connection with these actions, the Company will incur approximately $1.9 million to $2.3 million of termination
costs.  During the three months ended March 31, 2008, $0.5 million of termination costs were recognized in general and administrative expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  The charges, by channel, were as follows:  $0.4 million in the Americas channel and $0.1 million in the
EMEA channel.  The remainder of the costs will be recognized over the employees remaining service periods during the second and third quarters of fiscal
year 2008.
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As of March 31, 2008, $0.5 million is accrued in accrued employee compensation in the accompanying consolidation balance sheets.  The Company
anticipates that these amounts will be paid by the end of fiscal 2009.  No amounts were paid during the three months ended March 31, 2008.
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Item 2.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Forward-Looking Statements
 
This report contains forward-looking statements based on current expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Generally, forward-looking
statements do not relate strictly to historical or current facts, and include words or phrases such as “management anticipates,” “we believe,” “we anticipate,”
“we expect,” “we plan,” “we will,” “we are well positioned,” and words and phrases of similar impact, and include, but are not limited to, statements
regarding future operations, business strategy, business environment and key trends, as well as statements related to expected financial and other benefits
from our recent acquisition of Visual Web Solutions, Inc., and Stratasoft Sdn Bhd and those related to our organizational restructuring activities. The forward-
looking statements are made pursuant to safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any or all of the forward-looking
statements in this document may turn out to be incorrect. They may be based on inaccurate assumptions or may not account for known or unknown risks and
uncertainties. Consequently, no forward-looking statement is guaranteed, and our actual future results may vary materially from the results expressed or
implied in our forward-looking statements. The cautionary statements in this report expressly qualify all of our forward-looking statements. In addition, we
are not obligated, and do not intend, to update any of our forward-looking statements at any time unless an update is required by applicable securities laws.
Factors that could cause actual results to differ from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those
discussed in Item 1A in the section entitled “Risk Factors – Factors That May Affect Our Future Results or The Market Price of Our Common Stock.”
 
The following discussion should be read together with our financial statements and related notes contained in this report and with the financial statements and
related notes and Management’s Discussion & Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, as amended by the
Form 10-K/A for the same period filed March 4, 2008, and the Transition Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended December 31, 2007, and as
amended by the Form 10-Q/A for the same period filed March 4, 2008.  Results for the three months ended March 31, 2008, are not necessarily indicative of
results that may be attained in the future.
 
Change in Fiscal Year End
 
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company changed its fiscal year end from September 30 to December 31.  The Company’s new fiscal year commenced
January 1, 2008, and will end on December 31, 2008.  This first quarterly report on Form 10-Q compares the financial position as of March 31, 2008, to
December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007, and the results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 with the results of operations for the
three months ended March 31, 2007.  The Company has changed its fiscal year end to align its sales contracting and delivery processes with its customers and
to allow for more effective communication with the capital markets and investment community by being consistent with its peer group.
 
Overview
 
We develop, market, install and support a broad line of software products and services primarily focused on facilitating electronic payments. In addition to our
own products, we distribute, or act as a sales agent for, software developed by third parties. Our products are sold and supported through distribution networks
covering three geographic regions – the Americas, EMEA and Asia/Pacific. Each distribution network has its own sales force and supplements its sales force
with independent reseller and/or distributor networks. Our products and services are used principally by financial institutions, retailers and electronic payment
processors, both in domestic and international markets. Accordingly, our business and operating results are influenced by trends such as information
technology spending levels, the growth rate of the electronic payments industry, mandated regulatory changes, and changes in the number and type of
customers in the financial services industry. Our products are marketed under the ACI Worldwide brand.
 
We derive a majority of our revenues from non-domestic operations and believe our greatest opportunities for growth exist largely in international markets.
Refining our global infrastructure is a critical component of driving our growth. We have launched a globalization strategy intended to streamline our supply
chain and provide low-cost centers of expertise to support a growing international customer base. A subsidiary in Ireland serves as the focal point for certain
international product development and commercialization efforts. This subsidiary oversees remote software development operations in Romania and
elsewhere and manages certain of our intellectual property rights.  We are also taking a direct selling and support strategy in certain countries where
historically we have used third-party distributors to represent our products, in an effort to develop closer relationships with our customers and develop a
stronger overall position in those countries.  Our principal executive offices are
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located in New York state to manage our global infrastructure more strategically.
 
We have launched a service called ACI On Demand, wherein we will host our payment systems and sell them as a service to banks, retailers and processors.



 
In March 2008, we announced to customers the timelines for maturing many of our retail payment engines.  These products were developed or acquired by
ACI over several years and include BASE24, TRANS24-eft, ON/2, OpeN/2 and ASx.  Our strategy is to help customers migrate to our next-generation
BASE24-eps solution as we discontinue standard support for previous products. This will allow customers to take advantage of our newest technology and
allow ACI to more efficiently focus R&D investment.

 
Key trends that currently impact our strategies and operations include:
 

·                Increasing electronic payment transaction volumes. Electronic payment volumes continue to increase around the world, taking market share
from traditional cash and check transactions. We commissioned an industry study that determined that electronic payment volumes are expected
to grow at approximately 13% per year from 2004 through 2009, with varying growth rates based on the type of payment and part of the world.
We leverage the growth in transaction volumes through the licensing of new systems to customers whose older systems cannot handle increased
volume and through the licensing of capacity upgrades to existing customers.

 
·                Increasing competition. The electronic payments market is highly competitive and subject to rapid change. Our competition comes from in-

house information technology departments, third-party electronic payment processors and third-party software companies located both within and
outside of the United States. Many of these companies are significantly larger than we are and have significantly greater financial, technical and
marketing resources. As electronic payment transaction volumes increase, third-party processors tend to provide competition to our solutions,
particularly among customers that do not seek to differentiate their electronic payment offerings. As consolidation in the financial services
industry continues, we anticipate that competition for those customers will intensify.

 
·                Aging payments software. In many markets, electronic payments are processed using software developed by internal information technology

departments, much of which was originally developed over ten years ago. Increasing transaction volumes, industry mandates and the overall costs
of supporting these older technologies often serve to make these systems obsolete, creating opportunities for us to replace aging software with
newer and more advanced products.

 
·                Adoption of open systems technology. In an effort to leverage lower-cost computing technologies and current technology staffing and resources,

many financial institutions, retailers and electronic payment processors are seeking to transition their systems from proprietary technologies to
open technologies such as Windows, UNIX and Linux. Our continued investment in open systems technologies is, in part, designed to address
this demand.

 
·                Electronic payments fraud and compliance. As electronic payment transaction volumes increase, criminal elements continue to find ways to

commit a growing volume of fraudulent transactions using a wide range of techniques. Financial institutions, retailers and electronic payment
processors continue to seek ways to leverage new technologies to identify and prevent fraudulent transactions. Due to concerns with international
terrorism and money laundering, financial institutions in particular are being faced with increasing scrutiny and regulatory pressures. We continue
to see opportunity to offer our fraud detection solutions to help customers manage the growing levels of electronic payment fraud and compliance
activity.

 
·                Adoption of smart card technology. In many markets, card issuers are being required to issue new cards with embedded chip technology. Chip-

based cards are more secure, harder to copy and offer the opportunity for multiple functions on one card (e.g. debit, credit, electronic purse,
identification, health records, etc.). The EMV standard for issuing and processing debit and credit card transactions has emerged as the global
standard, with many regions throughout the world working on EMV rollouts. The primary benefit of EMV deployment is a reduction in
electronic payment fraud, with the additional benefit that the core infrastructure necessary for multi-function chip cards is being put in place (e.g.,
chip card readers in ATM’s and POS devices). We are working with many customers around the world to facilitate EMV deployments, leveraging
several of our solutions.

 
·                Single Euro Payments Area (“SEPA”) and Faster Payments Mandates. The SEPA and Faster Payments initiatives, primarily focused on the

European Economic Community and the United Kingdom, are designed to
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facilitate lower costs for cross-border payments and reduce timeframes for settling electronic payment transactions.  Our retail and wholesale
banking solutions provide key functions that help financial institutions address these mandated regulations.

 
·                Financial institution consolidation. Consolidation continues on a national and international basis, as financial institutions seek to add market

share and increase overall efficiency. There are several potential negative effects of increased consolidation activity. Continuing consolidation of
financial institutions may result in a smaller number of existing and potential customers for our products and services. Consolidation of two of
our customers could result in reduced revenues if the combined entity were to negotiate greater volume discounts or discontinue use of certain of
our products. Additionally, if a non-customer and a customer combine and the combined entity in turn decides to forego future use of our
products, our revenue would decline. Conversely, we could benefit from the combination of a non-customer and a customer when the combined
entity continues use of our products and, as a larger combined entity, increases its demand for our products and services. We tend to focus on
larger financial institutions as customers, often resulting in our solutions being the solutions that survive in the consolidated entity.

 
·                Electronic payments convergence. As electronic payment volumes grow and pressures to lower overall cost per transaction increase, financial

institutions are seeking methods to consolidate their payment processing across the enterprise. We believe that the strategy of using service-
oriented-architectures to allow for re-use of common electronic payment functions such as authentication, authorization, routing and settlement
will become more common. Using these techniques, financial institutions will be able to reduce costs, increase overall service levels, enable one-
to-one marketing in multiple bank channels and manage enterprise risk. Our organizational structure is, in part, focused on this trend, by
facilitating the delivery of integrated payment functions that can be re-used by multiple bank channels, across both the consumer and wholesale
bank. While this trend presents an opportunity for us, it may also expand the competition from third-party electronic payment technology and
service providers specializing in other forms of electronic payments. Many of these providers are larger than we are and have significantly greater
financial, technical and marketing resources.

 



Several other factors related to our business may have a significant impact on our operating results from year to year. For example, the accounting
rules governing the timing of revenue recognition in the software industry are complex and it can be difficult to estimate when we will recognize revenue
generated by a given transaction. Factors such as maturity of the software product licensed, payment terms, creditworthiness of the customer, and timing of
delivery or acceptance of our products often cause revenue related to sales generated in one period to be deferred and recognized in later periods. For
arrangements in which services revenue is deferred, related direct and incremental costs may also be deferred. Additionally, while the majority of our
contracts are denominated in the United States dollar, a substantial portion of our sales are made, and some of our expenses are incurred, in the local currency
of countries other than the United States. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates in a given period may result in the recognition of gains or losses for that
period.  Also during the year ended September 30, 2007, we entered into two interest rate swaps with a commercial bank whereby we pay a fixed rate of
5.375% and 4.90% and receive a floating rate indexed to the three-month LIBOR from the counterparty on a notional amount of $75 million and forecasted
borrowings of $50 million, respectively.  Fluctuations in interest rates in a given period may result in the recognition of gains or losses for that period.
 
We continue to seek ways to grow through both organic sources and acquisitions. We continually look for potential acquisitions designed to improve our
solutions’ breadth or provide access to new markets. As part of our strategy, we seek acquisition candidates that are strategic, capable of being integrated into
our operating environment, and financially accretive to our financial performance.
 
International Business Machines Corporation Alliance
 
On December 16, 2007, we entered into an Alliance Agreement (“Alliance”) with International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM”) relating to joint
marketing and optimization of our electronic payments application software and IBM’s middleware and hardware platforms, tools and services. On March 17,
2008, the Company and IBM entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Alliance (“Amendment No. 1” and included hereafter in all references to the “Alliance”),
which changed the timing of certain payments to be made by IBM.  Under the terms of the Alliance, each party will retain ownership of its respective
intellectual property and will independently determine product offering pricing to customers. In connection with the formation of the Alliance, we granted
warrants to IBM to purchase up to 1,427,035 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $27.50 per share and up to 1,427,035 shares of the
Company’s common stock at a price of $33.00 per share. The warrants are exercisable for five years.
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The stated initial term of the Alliance is five years, subject to extension for successive two year terms if not previously terminated by either party and subject
to earlier termination for cause.
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2008, the Company received an additional payment from IBM of $37.3 million per Amendment No.1.  This
payment has been recorded in the Alliance agreement liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2008.  This amount represents
a prepayment of funding for technical enablement milestones and incentive payments to be earned under the Alliance and related agreements and accordingly
a portion of this payment is subject to refund by the Company to IBM under certain circumstances.  As of March 31, 2008, $20.7 million is refundable subject
to achievement of future milestones.
 
International Business Machines Corporation Outsourcing Agreement
 
On March 17, 2008, we entered into a Master Services Agreement (“Outsourcing Agreement”) with IBM to outsource our internal information technology
(“IT”) environment to IBM. Under the terms of the Outsourcing Agreement, IBM will provide us with global IT infrastructure services including the
following services, which services are currently provided by the company’s employees: cross functional delivery management services, asset management
services, help desk services, end user services, server system management services, storage management services, data network services, enterprise security
management services and disaster recovery/business continuity plans (collectively, the “IT Services”). We will retain responsibility for our security policy
management and on-demand business operations.
 
The initial term of the Outsourcing Agreement is seven years, commencing on March 17, 2008. We have the right to extend the Outsourcing Agreement for
one additional one-year term unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the Outsourcing Agreement. Under the Outsourcing Agreement, we
retain the right to terminate the agreement both for cause and for its convenience. However, upon any termination of the Outsourcing Agreement by us for
any reason (other than for material breach by IBM), we will be required to pay a termination charge to IBM, which charge may be material.
 
We will pay IBM for the IT Services through a combination of fixed and variable charges, with the variable charges fluctuating based on our actual need for
such services as well as the applicable service levels and statements of work. Based on the currently projected usage of these IT Services, we expect to pay
$116 million to IBM in service fees and project costs over the initial seven-year term.
 
In addition, IBM will provide us with certain transition services required to transition our IT operations embodied in the IT Services in accordance with a
mutually agreed upon transition plan (the “Transition Services”). We currently expect the Transition Services to be completed approximately 18 months after
the effective date of the Outsourcing Agreement and to pay IBM approximately $8 million for the Transition Services over a period of five years. No
Transition Services occurred during the three months ended March 31, 2008.
 
To protect our expectations regarding IBM’s performance, the Outsourcing Agreement has performance standards and minimum services levels that IBM
must meet or exceed. If IBM fails to meet a given performance standard, we would, in certain circumstances, receive a credit against the charges otherwise
due.
 
Additionally, to assure that the charges under the Outsourcing Agreement do not become significantly higher than the market rate for such services, we have
the right to periodically perform benchmark studies to determine whether IBM’s price and performance are consistent with the then current market. We have
the right to conduct such benchmark studies, at its cost, beginning in the second year of the Outsourcing Agreement.
 
As a result of the Outsourcing Agreement, approximately 20 employees are expected to become employees of IBM and another 59 positions will be
eliminated.
 
Acquisitions
 
On February 7, 2007, we acquired Visual Web Solutions, Inc (“Visual Web”).  Visual Web markets trade finance and web-based cash management solutions,
primarily to financial institutions in the Asia/Pacific region.  Visual Web had sales and customer support office in Singapore, and a product development



facility in Bangalore, India.  The aggregate purchase price of Visual Web, including direct costs of the acquisition, was $8.3 million, net of $1.1 million of
cash acquired
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On April 2, 2007, we acquired Stratasoft Sdn. Bhd. (“Stratasoft”).  Stratasoft was a Kuala Lumpur based company focused on the provision of mainframe
based payments systems to the Malaysian market.  Prior to the acquisition, Stratasoft had been a distributor of our OCM 24 product within the Malaysian
market since 1995.  The aggregate purchase price of Stratasoft, including direct costs of the acquisition, was $2.5 million, net of $0.7 million of cash
acquired.

 
Backlog
 
Included in backlog estimates are all software license fees, maintenance fees and services specified in executed contracts, as well as revenues from assumed
contract renewals to the extent that we believe recognition of the related revenue will occur within the corresponding backlog period.  We have historically
included assumed renewals in backlog estimates based upon automatic renewal provisions in the executed contract and our historic experience with customer
renewal rates.

 
Our 60-month backlog estimate represents expected revenues from existing customers using the following key assumptions:

 
·                     Maintenance fees are assumed to exist for the duration of the license term for those contracts in which the committed maintenance term is

less than the committed license term.
·                     License and facilities management arrangements are assumed to renew at the end of their committed term at a rate consistent with our

historical experiences.
·                     Non-recurring license arrangements are assumed to renew as recurring revenue streams.
·                     Foreign currency exchange rates are assumed to remain constant over the 60-month backlog period for those contracts stated in currencies

other than the U.S. dollar.
·                     Our pricing policies and practices are assumed to remain constant over the 60-month backlog period.

 
In computing our 60-month backlog estimate, the following items are specifically not taken into account:

 
·                     Anticipated increases in transaction volumes in customer systems.
·                     Optional annual uplifts or inflationary increases in recurring fees.
·                     Services engagements, other than facilities management, are not assumed to renew over the 60-month backlog period.
·                     The potential impact of merger activity within our markets and/or customers is not reflected in the computation of our 60-month backlog

estimate.
 

For the three months ended December 31, 2007, we completed a comprehensive review of the assumptions used and data required in computing our backlog
estimates.  The 60-month and 12-month backlog estimates set forth below for the period ended September 30, 2007 have been revised to reflect these
adjustments.  The revisions resulted in an increase in the 60-month backlog estimate of $14 million and a decrease in the 12-month backlog estimate of $2.5
million, the majority of which is monthly recurring revenue for the period ended September 30, 2007.
 
The review identified two categories of adjustments which are reflected in the above revision:
 

·                 Adjustments due to inaccurate or incomplete data resulting in a historical over-statement of previously reported backlog estimates, and
·                 Adjustments required to conform with the recently adopted backlog policy resulting in a historical under-statement of previously reported backlog

estimates.
 
While this review is complete and we do not expect further adjustments to previously reported backlog estimates, we continue to review the processes,
procedures, tools, and assumptions used in preparing backlog estimates.
 
In addition, we also completed a review of our customer renewal experience over the 12-month period ended December 31, 2007. The impact of this review
resulted in a revision to the renewal assumptions used in computing the 60-month and 12-month backlog estimates.  The company expects to perform an
annual review of customer renewal experience.  In the event a revision to renewal assumptions is determined to be necessary, prior periods will be adjusted
for comparability purposes.
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The following table sets forth our 60-month backlog estimate, by geographic region, as of March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007 (in
millions):
 

  

March 31,
2008

 

December 31,
2007

 

September 30,
2007

 

Americas
 

$ 724
 

$ 733
 

$ 717
 

EMEA
 

522
 

504
 

489
 

Asia/Pacific
 

151
 

143
 

135
 

Total
 

$ 1,397
 

$ 1,380
 

$ 1,341
 

 
 

We also estimate 12-month backlog, segregated between monthly recurring and non-recurring revenues, using a methodology consistent with the 60-month
backlog estimate.  Monthly recurring revenues include all monthly license fees, maintenance fees and processing services fees.  Non-recurring revenues
include other software license fees and services.  Amounts included in our 12-month backlog estimate assume renewal of one-time license fees on a monthly



fee basis if such renewal is expected to occur in the next 12 months.  The following table sets forth our 12-month backlog estimate, by geographic region, as
of March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007 (in millions):

 
  

March 31, 2008
 

December 31, 2007
 

September 30, 2007
 

  

Monthly
Recurring

 

Non-
 Recurring

 
Total

 

Monthly
Recurring

 

Non-
 Recurring

 
Total

 

Monthly
Recurring

 

Non-
Recurring

 
Total

 

Americas
 

$ 132
 

$ 35
 

$ 167
 

$ 130
 

$ 30
 

$ 160
 

$ 125
 

$ 34
 

$ 159
 

EMEA
 

76
 

68
 

144
 

73
 

66
 

139
 

70
 

66
 

136
 

Asia/Pacific
 

27
 

9
 

36
 

26
 

11
 

37
 

25
 

8
 

33
 

Total
 

$ 235
 

$ 112
 

$ 347
 

$ 229
 

$ 107
 

$ 336
 

$ 220
 

$ 108
 

$ 328
 

 
Estimates of future financial results are inherently unreliable. Our backlog estimates require substantial judgment and are based on a number of assumptions
as described above. These assumptions may turn out to be inaccurate or wrong, including for reasons outside of management’s control. For example, our
customers may attempt to renegotiate or terminate their contracts for a number of reasons, including mergers, changes in their financial condition, or general
changes in economic conditions in the customer’s industry or geographic location, or we may experience delays in the development or delivery of products or
services specified in customer contracts which may cause the actual renewal rates and amounts to differ from historical experiences.  Changes in foreign
currency exchange rates may also impact the amount of revenue actually recognized in future periods.  Accordingly, there can be no assurance that amounts
included in backlog estimates will actually generate the specified revenues or that the actual revenues will be generated within the corresponding 12-month or
60-month period.  Additionally, because backlog estimates are operating metrics, the estimates are not subject to the same level of internal review or controls
as a GAAP financial measure.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
The following table presents the consolidated statements of operations as well as the percentage relationship to total revenues of items included in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations (amounts in thousands):
 
  

Three Months Ended March  31,
 

  
2008

 
2007

 

  
Amount

 

% of Total
Revenue

 
Amount

 

% of Total
Revenue

 

Revenues:
         

Initial license fees (ILFs)
 

$ 22,259
 

24.0% $ 23,259
 

25.9%
Monthly license fees (MLFs)

 

16,839
 

18.2% 15,265
 

17.0%
Software license fees

 

39,098
 

42.2% 38,524
 

42.8%
Maintenance fees

 

31,473
 

34.0% 29,901
 

33.2%
Services

 

22,020
 

23.8% 21,523
 

23.9%
Total revenues

 

92,591
 

100.0% 89,948
 

100.0%
          
Expenses:

         

Cost of software licenses fees
 

12,491
 

13.5% 11,193
 

12.4%
Cost of maintenance and services

 

28,629
 

30.9% 23,351
 

26.0%
Research and development

 

12,553
 

13.6% 12,041
 

13.4%
Selling and marketing

 

16,750
 

18.1% 16,799
 

18.7%
General and administrative

 

22,680
 

24.5% 26,353
 

29.3%
Total expenses

 

93,103
 

100.6% 89,737
 

99.8%
          

Operating income
 

(512) -0.6% 211
 

0.2%
          
Other income (expense):

         

Interest income
 

593
 

0.6% 1,014
 

1.1%
Interest expense

 

(1,366) -1.5% (1,597) -1.8%
Other, net

 

(190) -0.2% (337) -0.4%
Total other income (expense)

 

(963) -1.0% (920) -1.0%
          
Loss before income taxes

 

(1,475) -1.6% (709) -0.8%
Income tax expense (benefit)

 

1,985
 

2.1% (295) -0.3%
Net loss

 

$ (3,460) -3.7% $ (414) -0.5%
 
Revenues

 
Total revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2008 increased $2.6 million, or 2.9%, as compared to the same period of 2007. Included in the three
months ended March 31, 2008 revenue with no corresponding revenue in the same period of 2007 was approximately $0.4 million of revenue related to the
acquisition of Stratasoft.  Also included was $0.6 million of revenue in the three months ended March 31, 2008 related to the acquisition of Visual Web,
compared to $0.2 million of revenue for two months of the corresponding period of 2007.  Excluding the impact of the acquired businesses, total revenues
increased primarily as a result of a $0.6 million, or 1.5%, increase in software license fee revenues and a $1.2 million, or 4.2%, increase in maintenance fee
revenues.

 
The increase in software license fee revenues, excluding the impact of Visual Web and Stratasoft, during the three months ended March 31, 2008, as compared
to the same period of 2007, is primarily due to a $1.6 million or 10.3% increase in monthly license fees and monthly initial license fees.  The growth is in the
Americas and EMEA reportable operating segments, while the Asia/Pacific reportable operating segment remained consistent.  There was a $1.0 million or 4.3%
decline in initial license fee and capacity revenues.  Activity during the quarter included a significant capacity event in the EMEA reportable operating segment as
well as increased license fee activity in the Asia/Pacific reportable operating segment, which was offset by the timing of such events in the Americas reportable



operating segment.  The increases in capacity revenue in the EMEA reportable operating segment is primarily due to increased capacity requirements for existing
customers which are often combined with the renewal of
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the license term.
 
The increase in maintenance fee revenues, excluding the impact of Visual Web and Stratasoft, during the three months ended March 31, 2008, as compared to
the same period of 2007, is primarily a result of an increase in the number of customers that achieved live status in all three operating segments subsequent to
March 31, 2007.
 
Services revenues, excluding the impact of Visual Web and Stratasoft, remained consistent for the three months ended March 31, 2008, as compared to the
same period of 2007.  Processing services increased by $1.0 million.  This increase was driven primarily by Enterprise Banker application services growth
and increased revenue from ACI On-Demand offerings, which was offset by a decline of $1.0 million due to the termination of a significant facilities
management contract in Canada.
 
Expenses
 
Total operating expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2008 increased $3.4 million, or 3.8%, as compared to the same period of 2007.  Included in
the three months ended March 31, 2008 operating expenses with no corresponding amount in the same period of 2007 was approximately $0.6 million of
expenses related to the acquisition of Stratasoft.  Also included was $1.2 million of expenses in the three months ended March 31, 2008 related to the
acquisition of Visual Web, compared to $0.7 million of expenses for two months of the corresponding period of 2007.
 
Excluding the impact of the acquired businesses, total expenses increased primarily as a result of a $4.9 million, or 20.9%, increase in cost of maintenance
and services, a $1.1 million, or 9.6% increase in cost of software, offset by a $3.8 million, or 14.5%, decrease in general and administrative costs.
 
Cost of Software
Cost of software represents the costs associated with maintaining software products that have already been developed.  It represents “software management” or
the “overhead” for software development.  Examples of this include product management, documentation, publications and education.  Cost of software for the
three months ended March 31, 2008 increased $1.3 million, or 11.6%, as compared to the same period of 2007.  Expenses of $0.3 million related to acquired
businesses were incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to $31,000 in the corresponding period of 2007.  The remaining increase is
driven by our decision to reallocate resources from other functions in the business (primarily research and development, cost of maintenance and services, and
sales and marketing) to invest in the Global Product Management function.  This is consistent with our increased focus on the market performance and financial
contribution of multi-product solutions.
 
Cost of Maintenance and Services
Cost of maintenance and services includes both the costs of maintaining our software products at customer sites as well as the service costs required to deliver,
install and support software at customer sites.  Maintenance costs include the efforts associated with providing the customer with upgrades, 24-hour Helpdesk,
post go-live (remote) support and production-type support for software that was previously installed at a customer location.  Service costs include human resource
costs and other incidental costs such as travel and training required for both pre go-live and post go-live support.  Such efforts include project management,
delivery, product customization and implementation, installation support, consulting, configuration, and on-site support.  Cost of maintenance and services for the
three months ended March 31, 2008 increased $5.3 million, or 22.6%, as compared to the same period of 2007.  Expenses of $0.5 million related to acquired
businesses were incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2008 as compared to $0.1 million in the corresponding period of 2007.  The remaining
increase is driven by investment in additional personnel and software maintenance costs associated with ACI On Demand as well as investment in the EMEA
professional services organization.
 
Research and Development
Research and development (“R&D”) are primarily human resource costs related to the creation of new products as well as improvements made to existing
products.  Continued R&D effort on existing products addresses issues, if any, related to regulatory requirements and processing mandates as well as
compatability with new operating system releases and generations of hardware.  R&D costs for the three months ended March 31, 2008 increased $0.5 million, or
4.3%, as compared to the same period of 2007.  R&D expenses of $0.8 million related to acquired businesses were incurred during the three months ended
March 31, 2008 as compared to $0.3 million in the corresponding period of 2007.
 
Selling and Marketing
Selling and marketing includes both the costs related to selling our products to current and prospective customers as well as the costs related to promoting the
company, its products and the research efforts required to measure customers’ future needs and
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satisfaction levels.  Selling costs are primarily the human resource and travel costs related to the effort expended to license our products and services to current
and potential clients within defined territories and/or industries as well as the management of the overall relationship with customer accounts.  Selling costs also
include the costs associated with assisting distributors in their efforts to sell our products and services in their respective local markets.  Marketing costs include
costs needed to promote the company and its products as well as perform or acquire market research to help the company better understand what products its
customers are looking for in the future.  Marketing costs also include the costs associated with measuring customers’ opinions toward the company, its products
and personnel.  Selling and marketing costs for the three months ended March 31, 2008 decreased $0.1 million, or 0.3%, as compared to the same period of 2007. 
Selling and marketing expenses of $0.1 million related to acquired businesses were incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2008 as compared to $0.3
million in the corresponding period of 2007.  Additionally, a $1.7 million decrease in commissions was driven by a relative decrease in sales activity partly
attributable to the change from a fiscal year to a calendar year-end, which was offset by increased expenses related to support of the IBM Alliance as well as
timing of annual kick-off meetings.
 
General and Administrative



General and administrative expenses are primarily human resource costs including executive salaries and benefits, personnel administration costs, and the
costs of staff support functions such as legal, administrative, human resources and finance and accounting.  General and administrative costs for the three
months ended March 31, 2008 decreased $3.7 million, or 13.9%, as compared to the same period of 2007.  General and administrative expenses of $0.1
million related to acquired businesses were incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2008 as compared to zero in the corresponding period of 2007. 
Approximately $5.9 million of the expenses incurred in the three months ended March 31, 2007, with no corresponding amount during the same period in
2008, related to the historical stock option review.  This was partially offset by an increase in certain professional fees.
 
Other Income and Expense
 
Other income and expense includes interest income and expense, foreign currency gains and losses, and other non-operating items.  Fluctuating currency rates
impacted the three months ended March 31, 2008 by $3.7 million in net foreign currency gains, as compared with $0.3 million in net losses during the same
period in 2007.  A $3.7 million loss on change in fair value of interest rate swaps was incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2008 with no
corresponding amount in the same period of 2007.  Interest income for the three months ended March 31, 2008 decreased $0.4 million or 41.5% as compared
to the corresponding period of 2007 as a result of lower average daily cash balances and lower interest rates.  Interest expense decreased $0.2 million or
14.5% for the three months ended March 31, 2008 as compared to the corresponding period of 2007 as a result of lower interest rates.
 
Income Taxes
 
The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2008 is not calculable due to the pretax loss and tax charge reported for the period as a result of losses
in tax jurisdictions for which we receive no tax benefit offset by income in tax jurisdictions in which we accrued tax expense and the recognition of tax expense
associated with the transfer of certain intellectual property rights from U.S. to non-U.S. entitities.  The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31,
2007 of approximately 41.6% was negatively impacted by losses in foreign countries in which the Company was not able to record tax benefits and by the
recognition of tax expense associated with the transfer of certain intellectual property rights from U.S to non-U.S. entities.
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Segment Results
 
The prior period amounts for operating income (loss) have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation, which reflect a change in the allocation of
certain costs related to acquired businesses across the reportable operating segments versus solely in the region in which the acquired business was located in
when acquired.  The following table presents revenues and operating income for the periods indicated by geographic region (in thousands):
 

  

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

  
2008

 
2007

 

Revenues:
     

Americas
 

$ 44,014
 

$ 52,622
 

EMEA
 

37,308
 

28,746
 

Asia/Pacific
 

11,269
 

8,580
 

 

 

$ 92,591
 

$ 89,948
 

      
Operating income (loss):

     

Americas
 

$ 1,338
 

$ 7,316
 

EMEA
 

(2,181) (8,354)
Asia/Pacific

 

331
 

1,249
 

 

 

$ (512) $ 211
 

 
Revenues increased in the EMEA reportable operating segment by $8.6 million, or 29.8%, and in the Asia/Pacific reportable operating segment by $2.7
million, or 31.3%, for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the same period in 2007.  Revenue for the Americas reportable operating segment
declined by $8.6 million or 16.4%, during the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the same period in 2007.  These results were driven primarily
by the timing of license fee and capacity revenues within the reporting operating segments.
 
Operating income declined in the Americas reportable operating segment by $6.0 million, or 81.7%, for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to
the same period in 2007.  Operating loss in the EMEA reportable operating segment decreased by $6.2 million or 73.9% for the three months ended
March 31, 2008 as compared to the same period in 2007.  Operating income declined in the Asia/Pacific reportable operating segment by $0.9 million or
73.5% for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the same period in 2007.  The changes in operating income (loss) are primarily driven by the
timing of license fee and capacity revenues.  This is offset by shared functions that are allocated based on a percentage of revenue such as Global Product
Delivery and Development, Global Customer Operations and Global Product Management.  Corporate overhead is allocated as a percentage of headcount and
remains consistent period over period.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
As of March 31, 2008, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of $108.7 million in cash and cash equivalents and $75 million of unused borrowings under our
revolving credit facility.  We had bank borrowings of $75 million outstanding under our revolving credit facility as of March 31, 2008.

 
In December 2004, we announced that our board of directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing us, from time to time as market and business
conditions warrant, to acquire up to $80.0 million of our common stock.  In May 2006, our board of directors approved an increase of $30.0 million to the stock
repurchase program, bringing the total of the approved plan to $110.0 million.  In March 2007, our board of directors approved an increase of $100 million to our
current repurchase authorization, bringing the total authorization to $210 million.  Under the program to date, we have purchased approximately 6,049,484 shares
for approximately $154 million.  The maximum remaining dollar value of shares authorized for purchase under the stock repurchase program was approximately
$57 million as of March 31, 2008.  Purchases will be made from time to time as market and business conditions warrant, in open market, negotiated or block
transactions, subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations.

 



We may also decide to use cash to acquire new products and services or enhance existing products and services through acquisitions of other companies, product
lines, technologies and personnel, or through investments in other companies.
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Cash Flows
 
The following table sets forth summary cash flow data for the periods indicated.  Please refer to this summary as you read our discussion of the sources and
uses of cash in each period.
 

  

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

  
2008

 
2007

 

  
(amounts in thousands)

 

Net cash provided by (used in):
     

Operating activities
 

$ 46,524
 

$ 16,268
 

Investing activities
 

(2,302) (9,509)
Financing activities

 

(29,806) (472)
 
Net cash flows provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2008 amounted to $46.5 million as compared to $16.3 million during the
same period in 2007.  The comparative period increase in net cash flows from operating activities of $30.3 million was principally the result of the following
items:  $36.1 million received from IBM primarily for prepayment of estimated incentives payments pursuant to the terms of the Alliance as amended, an increase
in cash collections on customer receivables of $9.0 million in the three months ended March 31, 2008 and an increase in non cash expenses of $2.4 million, such
as depreciation, amortization, change in fair value of interest rate swaps and deferred taxes in the three months ended March 31, 2008 as compared to the same
period in 2007.  These items were partially offset by a net loss of $3.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to a net loss of $0.4 million
for the same period of 2007, a $7.3 million decrease in deferred revenue growth, and an increase in accruals for other expenses of $6.9 million.
 
Net cash flows used by investing activities totaled $2.3 million in the three months ended March 31, 2008 as compared to $9.5 million used in investing activities
during the same period in 2007.  During the three months ended March 31, 2008, we used cash of $2.6 million to purchase software, property and equipment and
$0.9 million for costs related to fulfillment of the technical enablement milestones under the IBM Alliance.  These uses of cash were partially offset in the three
months ended March 31, 2008, by $1.2 million received from IBM for reimbursement of estimated capitalizable technical enablement milestones costs pursuant
to the terms of the Alliance.  During the three months ended March 31, 2007, we used cash of $1.3 million to purchase software, property and equipment.  We
also used cash of $8.2 million for the acquisition of Visual Web during the three months ended March 31, 2007.
 
Net cash flows used by financing activities totaled $29.8 million in the three months ended March 31, 2008 as compared to net cash flows used of $0.5 million
during the same period in 2007.  In the three months ended March 31, 2008, we used cash of $30.1 million to purchase shares of our common stock under the
stock repurchase program. We also made payments to third-party financial institutions, primarily related to debt and capital leases, totaling $0.8 million and $0.5
million during the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  During the three months ended March 31, 2008, we received proceeds of $0.4
million, including corresponding excess tax benefits, from the exercises of stock options and $0.6 million for the issuance of common stock for a purchase under
our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
 
We also realized a $2.8 million decrease in cash during the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to a $0.2 million decrease during the same period of
2007 related to foreign exchange rate variances.
 
We believe that our existing sources of liquidity, including cash on hand and cash provided by operating activities, will satisfy our projected liquidity
requirements, which primarily consists of working capital requirements, for the foreseeable future.
 
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
 
We are unable to reasonably estimate the ultimate amount or timing of settlement of our reserves for income taxes under FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (as amended).  The liability for unrecognized tax benefits at March 31, 2008 is $14.8 million.
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Lease Termination
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2008, we terminated the lease for one of our facilities in Watford, England.  Under the terms of the termination
agreement, we paid a termination fee of approximately $0.9 million that was recorded in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008.  Further under the termination agreement, we were relieved of our
contractual obligations with respect to the restoration of facilities back to their original condition.  As a result, we recognized a gain of approximately $1.0
million related to the relief from this liability, which is also recorded in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.  At March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007, we had contractual obligations with respect to the restoration of leased facilities
of $1.6 million, $2.5 million and $2.6 million, respectively, recorded in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
Critical Accounting Estimates
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and other
assumptions that we believe to be proper and reasonable under the circumstances. We continually evaluate the appropriateness of estimates and assumptions
used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
The following key accounting policies are impacted significantly by judgments, assumptions and estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. See Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on



Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, as amended by the
Form 10-K/A filed on March 4, 2008, for a further discussion of revenue recognition and other significant accounting policies.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
For software license arrangements for which services rendered are not considered essential to the functionality of the software, we recognize revenue upon
delivery, provided (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, (2) collection of the fee is considered probable, and (3) the fee is fixed or determinable.
In most arrangements, because vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value does not exist for the license element, we use the residual method to determine
the amount of revenue to be allocated to the license element. Under the residual method, the fair value of all undelivered elements, such as post contract
customer support or other products or services, is deferred and subsequently recognized as the products are delivered or the services are performed, with the
residual difference between the total arrangement fee and revenues allocated to undelivered elements being allocated to the delivered element. For software
license arrangements in which we have concluded that collectibility issues may exist, revenue is recognized as cash is collected, provided all other conditions
for revenue recognition have been met. In making the determination of collectibility, we consider the creditworthiness of the customer, economic conditions
in the customer’s industry and geographic location, and general economic conditions.
 
Our sales focus continues to shift from our more-established products to more complex arrangements involving multiple products inclusive of our BASE24-
eps product and less-established (collectively referred to as “newer”) products. As a result of this shift to newer products and more complex, multiple product
arrangements, absent other factors, we initially experience an increase in deferred revenue and a corresponding decrease in current period revenue due to
differences in the timing of revenue recognition for the respective products. Revenues from newer products are typically recognized upon acceptance or first
production use by the customer whereas revenues from mature products, such as BASE24, are generally recognized upon delivery of the product, provided all
other conditions for revenue recognition have been met. For those arrangements where revenues are being deferred and we determine that related direct and
incremental costs are recoverable, such costs are deferred and subsequently expensed as the revenues are recognized. Newer products are continually
evaluated by our management and product development personnel to determine when any such product meets specific internally defined product maturity
criteria that would support its classification as a mature product. Evaluation criteria used in making this determination include successful demonstration of
product features and functionality; standardization of sale, installation, and support functions; and customer acceptance at multiple production site
installations, among others. A change in product classification (from newer to mature) would allow us to recognize revenues from new sales of the product
upon delivery of the product rather than upon acceptance or first production use by the customer, resulting in earlier recognition of revenues from sales of that
product, as well as related costs, provided all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.
BASE24-eps was reclassified as a mature product as of October 1, 2006.
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When a software license arrangement includes services to provide significant modification or customization of software, those services are not considered to
be separable from the software. Accounting for such services delivered over time is referred to as contract accounting. Under contract accounting, we
generally use the percentage-of-completion method. Under the percentage-of-completion method, we record revenue for the software license fee and services
over the development and implementation period, with the percentage of completion generally measured by the percentage of labor hours incurred to-date to
estimated total labor hours for each contract. Estimated total labor hours for each contract are based on the project scope, complexity, skill level requirements,
and similarities with other projects of similar size and scope. For those contracts subject to contract accounting, estimates of total revenue and profitability
under the contract consider amounts due under extended payment terms. For arrangements where we believe it is reasonably assured that no loss will be
incurred under the arrangement and fair value for maintenance services does not exist, we use a zero margin approach of applying percentage-of-completion
accounting until software customization services are completed.  We exclude revenues due on extended payment terms from our current percentage-of-
completion computation until such time that collection of the fees becomes probable.
 
We may execute more than one contract or agreement with a single customer.  The separate contracts or agreements may be viewed as one multiple-element
arrangement or separate arrangements for revenue recognition purposes.  Judgment is required when evaluating the facts and circumstances related to each
situation in order to reach appropriate conclusions regarding whether such arrangements are related or separate.  Those conclusions can impact the timing of
revenue recognition related to those arrangements.
 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 
We maintain a general allowance for doubtful accounts based on our historical experience, along with additional customer-specific allowances. We regularly
monitor credit risk exposures in our accounts receivable. In estimating the necessary level of our allowance for doubtful accounts, management considers the
aging of our accounts receivable, the creditworthiness of our customers, economic conditions within the customer’s industry, and general economic
conditions, among other factors. Should any of these factors change, the estimates made by management would also change, which in turn would impact the
level of our future provision for doubtful accounts. Specifically, if the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, affecting their ability to make
payments, additional customer-specific provisions for doubtful accounts may be required. Also, should deterioration occur in general economic conditions, or
within a particular industry or region in which we have a number of customers, additional provisions for doubtful accounts may be recorded to reserve for
potential future losses. Any such additional provisions would reduce operating income in the periods in which they were recorded.

 
Intangible Assets and Goodwill
 
Our business acquisitions typically result in the recording of intangible assets, and the recorded values of those assets may become impaired in the future. As of
March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007, and September 30, 2007, our intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, were $37.0 million, $38.1 million, and
$39.7 million, respectively. The determination of the value of such intangible assets requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
consolidated financial statements. We assess potential impairments to intangible assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. Judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators and future cash flows related to intangible
assets are based on operational performance of our businesses, market conditions and other factors. Although there are inherent uncertainties in this assessment
process, the estimates and assumptions used, including estimates of future cash flows, volumes, market penetration and discount rates, are consistent with our
internal planning. If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record an impairment charge on all or a portion of
our intangible assets. Furthermore, we cannot predict the occurrence of future impairment-triggering events nor the impact such events might have on our
reported asset values. Future events could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that intangible assets associated with acquired businesses is
impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could have an adverse impact on our results of operations.  Other intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line
method over periods ranging from 18 months to 12 years.
 



As of March 31, 2008, December 31, 2007, and September 30, 2007, our goodwill was $210.0 million, $206.8 million, and $205.7 million, respectively.  In
accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS No. 142”), we assess goodwill for impairment at least annually or when there
is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. During this assessment, which is
completed as of the end of the fiscal year, management relies on a number of factors, including operating results, business plans and anticipated future cash
flows.
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Stock-Based Compensation
 
Effective October 1, 2005 we began recording compensation expense associated with stock-based awards in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R).  We adopted
the modified prospective transition method provided for under SFAS No. 123(R), and consequently have not retroactively adjusted results from prior periods. 
Under this transition method, compensation cost associated with stock-based awards includes (1) amortization related to the remaining unvested portion of
stock-based awards granted prior to September 30, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS
No. 123; and (2) amortization related to stock-based awards granted subsequent to September 30, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R).

 
Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), stock-based compensation cost for stock option awards is estimated at the grant date based on the award’s fair
value as calculated by the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service period.  We recognize stock-
based compensation costs for only those shares that are expected to vest.  The impact of forfeitures that may occur prior to vesting is estimated and considered
in the amount of expense recognized. Forfeiture estimates will be revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. 
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires various highly judgmental assumptions including volatility and expected option life.  If any of the
assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model change significantly, stock-based compensation expense may differ materially for future awards from that
recorded for existing awards.
 
We also have stock options outstanding that vest upon attainment by us of certain market conditions.  In order to determine the grant date fair value of these
stock options that vest based on the achievement of certain market conditions, a Monte Carlo simulation model is used to estimate (i) the probability that the
performance goal will be achieved and (ii) the length of time required to attain the target market price.

 
Long term incentive program performance share awards (“LTIP Performance Shares”) were issued in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005.  These awards
are earned based on the achievement over a specified period of performance goals related to certain performance indicators.  In order to determine
compensation expense to be recorded for these LTIP Performance Shares, each quarter management evaluates the probability that the target performance
goals will be achieved, if at all, and the anticipated level of attainment.

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2008, pursuant to our 2005 Incentive Plan, we granted restricted share awards (“RSAs”).  These awards have
requisite service periods of four years and vest in increments of 25% on the anniversary dates of the grants. Under each arrangement, stock is issued without
direct cost to the employee. We estimate the fair value of the RSAs based upon the market price of our stock at the date of grant. The RSA grants provide for
the payment of dividends payable on our common stock, if any, to the participant during the requisite service period (vesting period) and the participant has
voting rights for each share of common stock.

 
Accounting for Income Taxes
 
Accounting for income taxes requires significant judgments in the development of estimates used in income tax calculations. Such judgments include, but are
not limited to, the likelihood we would realize the benefits of net operating loss carryforwards and/or foreign tax credit carryforwards, the adequacy of
valuation allowances, and the rates used to measure transactions with foreign subsidiaries. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial
statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. The judgments and estimates used are
subject to challenge by domestic and foreign taxing authorities. It is possible that either domestic or foreign taxing authorities could challenge those
judgments and estimates and draw conclusions that would cause us to incur tax liabilities in excess of, or realize benefits less than, those currently recorded.
In addition, changes in the geographical mix or estimated amount of annual pretax income could impact our overall effective tax rate.
 
To the extent recovery of deferred tax assets is not likely, we record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely
than not to be realized. Although we have considered future taxable income along with prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for a
valuation allowance, if we should determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to deferred
tax assets would be charged to income in the period any such determination was made. Likewise, in the event we are able to realize our deferred tax assets in
the future in excess of the net recorded amount, an adjustment to deferred tax assets would increase income in the period any such determination was made.
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In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN
48”).  The Company adopted the provision of FIN 48 effective October 1, 2007.  FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the
recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations (“SFAS 141(R)”), which replaces SFAS 141.  SFAS 141(R) establishes
principles and requirements for how an acquirer in a business combination recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired,
the liabilities assumed, and any controlling interest; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain
purchase; and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. SFAS 141(R) is to be applied prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after an entity’s fiscal year that
begins after December 15, 2008. We will assess the impact of SFAS 141(R) if and when a future acquisition occurs.

 



In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51 (“SFAS
160”).  SFAS 160 establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a
subsidiary. Specifically, this statement requires the recognition of a noncontrolling interest (minority interest) as equity in the consolidated financial
statements and separate from the parent’s equity. The amount of net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest will be included in consolidated net
income on the face of the income statement. SFAS 160 clarifies that changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in
deconsolidation are equity transactions if the parent retains it controlling financial interest. In addition, this statement requires that a parent recognize a gain or
loss in net income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. Such gain or loss will be measured using the fair value of the noncontrolling equity investment on the
deconsolidation date. SFAS 160 also includes expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of the parent and its noncontrolling interest.  SFAS
160 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption is prohibited. We are
currently evaluating the impact, if any, the adoption of SFAS 160 will have on our consolidated financial statements.
 
On March 19, 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, (“SFAS 161”). SFAS 161 amends
FASB Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, (“SFAS 133”) and was issued in response to concerns and criticisms
about the lack of adequate disclosure of derivative instruments and hedging activities.  SFAS 161 requires; (i) qualitative disclosures regarding the objectives
and strategies for using derivative instruments and engaging in hedging activities in the context of an entity’s overall risk exposure, (ii) quantitative
disclosures in tabular format of the fair values of derivative instruments and their gains and losses, and (iii) disclosures about credit-risk related contingent
features in derivative instruments.  SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15,
2008, but early application is encouraged.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, the adoption of SFAS 161 will have on its consolidated
financial statements.
 
Item 3.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
Excluding the impact of changes in interest rates, there have been no material changes to our market risk for the three months ended March 31, 2008. We
conduct business in all parts of the world and are thereby exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The U.S. dollar is
the single largest currency in which our revenue contracts are denominated. Thus, any decline in the value of local foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar
results in our products and services being more expensive to a potential foreign customer, and in those instances where our goods and services have already
been sold, may result in the receivables being more difficult to collect. Additionally, any decline in the value of the U.S. dollar in jurisdictions where the
revenue contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars and operating expenses are incurred in local currency will have an unfavorable impact to operating
margins.  We at times enter into revenue contracts that are denominated in the country’s local currency, principally in Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom
and other European countries. This practice serves as a natural hedge to finance the local currency expenses incurred in those locations.  We have not entered
into any foreign currency hedging transactions. We do not purchase or hold any derivative financial instruments for the purpose of speculation or arbitrage.
 
The primary objective of our cash investment policy is to preserve principal without significantly increasing risk. Based on our cash investments and interest
rates on these investments at March 31, 2008, and if we maintained this level of similar cash
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investments for a period of one year, a hypothetical ten percent increase or decrease in interest rates would increase or decrease interest income by
approximately $0.2 million annually.

 
During the year ended September 30, 2007, we entered into two interest rate swaps with a commercial bank whereby we pay a fixed rate of 5.375% and
4.90% and receive a floating rate indexed to the 3-month LIBOR from the counterparty on a notional amount of $75 million and $50 million, respectively.  As
of March 31, 2008, the fair value liability of the interest rate swaps was approximately $8.2 million, $3.8 million and $4.4 million of which was included in
other current liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheet. The potential additional loss in fair value liability of
the interest rate swaps resulting from a hypothetical 10 percent adverse change in interest rates was approximately $0.9 million at March 31, 2008.  Because
our interest rate swaps do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps are recognized in the consolidated statements
of operations, along with the related income tax effects.
 
Subsequent to March 31, 2008, events in the global credit markets have impacted the expectation of near-term variable borrowing rates. As a result, we have
experienced a positive impact to the fair value liability of our interest rate swaps. During April 2008, the fair value liability has decreased approximately $2.0
million from a balance of $8.2 million as of March 31, 2008 to $6.2 million as of April 30, 2008.
 
Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157”), for financial assets and financial liabilities.
SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements.
 
SFAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants.  SFAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:
 

·                  Level 1 Inputs - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the
measurement date.

 
·                  Level 2 Inputs - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These

might include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that
are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such as interest rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds,
credit risks, etc.) or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by market data by correlation or other means.

 
·                  Level 3 Inputs - Unobservable inputs for determining the fair values of assets or liabilities that reflect an entity’s own assumptions about the

assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities.
 
Derivatives. Derivatives are reported at fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs. We utilize valuation models prepared by a third-party with observable market data
inputs to estimate fair value of its interest rate swaps.
 



Item 4.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Our management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, performed an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report, March 31, 2008.  Based upon this evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer
and Principal Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of that date.
 
As of September 30, 2007, material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting related to recognition of revenue and income taxes existed.  A
material weakness is defined in Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing Standard No. 5 as a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in
internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement would not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis.  In connection with our overall assessment of internal control over financial reporting, we have evaluated the effectiveness of our internal controls as of
March 31, 2008 and have concluded that the material weaknesses related to accounting for recognition of revenue and accounting for income taxes were not
remediated as of March 31, 2008.

 
39

 
Except for the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting as referenced in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007, no other material weaknesses were identified in our evaluation of internal controls as of March 31, 2008.
 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
Remediation plans established and initiated by management in fiscal year 2007 continue to be implemented.  There were no other changes in our internal
controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our
internal controls over financial reporting.
 
While we have implemented or continue to implement our remediation activities, we believe it will take multiple quarters of effective application of the
control activities including adequate testing of such control activities in order for us to revise our conclusion regarding the effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting.
 
PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
From time to time, we are involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of our business. Other than as described below, we are not
currently a party to any legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of which, individually or in the aggregate, we believe would be likely to have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
 
Class Action Litigation. In November 2002, two class action complaints were filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Nebraska (the “Court”) against
us and certain individuals alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. Pursuant to a
Court order, the two complaints were consolidated as Desert Orchid Partners v. Transaction Systems Architects, Inc., et al., with Genesee County Employees’
Retirement System designated as lead plaintiff. The Second Amended Consolidated Class Action Complaint previously alleged that during the purported class
period, we and the named defendants misrepresented our historical financial condition, results of operations and our future prospects, and failed to disclose
facts that could have indicated an impending decline in our revenues. That Complaint also alleged that, prior to August 2002, the purported truth regarding
our financial condition had not been disclosed to the market.  We and the individual defendants initially filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit. In response, on
December 15, 2003, the Court dismissed, without prejudice, Gregory Derkacht, our former president and chief executive officer, as a defendant, but denied
the motion to dismiss with respect to the remaining defendants, including us.
 
On July 1, 2004, lead plaintiff filed a motion for class certification wherein, for the first time, lead plaintiff sought to add an additional class representative,
Roger M. Wally. On August 20, 2004, defendants filed their opposition to the motion. On March 22, 2005, the Court issued an order certifying the class of
persons that purchased our common stock from January 21, 1999 through November 18, 2002.
 
On January 27, 2006, we and the individual defendants filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings, seeking a dismissal of the lead plaintiff and certain other
class members, as well as a limitation on damages based upon plaintiffs’ inability to establish loss causation with respect to a large portion of their claims. 
On February 6, 2006, additional class representative Roger M. Wally filed a motion to withdraw as a class representative and class member. On April 21,
2006, and based upon the pending motion for judgment, a motion to intervene as a class representative was filed by the Louisiana District Attorneys
Retirement System (“LDARS”). LDARS previously attempted to be named as lead plaintiff in the case.  On July 5, 2006, the Magistrate denied LDARS’
motion to intervene, which LDARS appealed to the District Judge.

 
On May 17, 2006, the Court denied the motion for judgment on the pleadings as being moot based upon the Court’s granting lead plaintiff leave to file a
Third Amended Complaint (“Third Complaint”), which it did on May 31, 2006.  The Third Complaint alleged the same misrepresentations as described
above, while simultaneously alleging that the purported truth about our financial condition was being disclosed throughout that time, commencing in
April 1999.  The Third Complaint sought unspecified damages, interest, fees, and costs.

 
On June 14, 2006, we and the individual defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Third Complaint pursuant to Rules 8 and 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure.  Lead plaintiff opposed the motion.  Prior to any ruling on the motion to dismiss, on November 7, 2006, the parties entered into a Stipulation of
Settlement for purposes of settling all of the claims in the Class Action Litigation, with no admissions of wrongdoing by us or any individual defendant.  The
settlement provides for an aggregate cash
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payment of $24.5 million of which, net of insurance, we contributed approximately $8.5 million.  The settlement was approved by the Court on March 2,
2007 and the Court ordered the case dismissed with prejudice against us and the individual defendants.



 
On March 27, 2007, James J. Hayes, a class member, filed a notice of appeal with the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit appealing the
Court’s order.  We responded to this appeal in accordance with the Court of Appeals’ orders and procedures.  The appeal has not yet been decided.
 
Item 1A.  RISK FACTORS
 
Except for the risk factors set forth below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed in Item 1A of the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2007. Additional risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we currently deem
immaterial, could also have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and/or results of operations. The risk factors set forth below were disclosed in
the Form 10-K, but have been updated to provide additional information or updates:
 
Most of our customers are in the banking and financial services industries which are subject to economic changes that could reduce the demand for
our products and services.
 
For the foreseeable future, we expect to derive most of our revenue from products and services we provide to the banking and financial services industries. 
Changes in economic conditions and unforeseen events like the current mortgage crisis, recession, inflation or changes in bank credit quality in the United
States or abroad, could occur and reduce consumers’ use of banking services and financial service providers.  Any event of this kind, or implementation for
any reason by banks or related financial service providers of cost reduction measures, could result in significant decreases in the demand for our products and
services and adversely affect our operating results.
 
Our recent outsourcing agreement with IBM may not achieve the level of savings that we anticipate and many associated changes in systems and
personnel are being made, increasing operational and control risk during transition, which may have an impact on the business and its financial
condition.
 
Our seven-year outsourcing agreement with IBM is estimated to deliver operating cost savings for us of $25 million to $30 million over the course of the
contract and reduce our capital expenditures.  The estimated cost savings and capital expenditure reductions are dependent upon many factors, and
unanticipated changes in operations may cause actual cost savings and capital expenditure reductions to be substantially less than expected.
 
In addition, as a part of the outsourcing agreement, many functions are being transitioned to IBM and many new personnel are assuming responsibilities
across these functions, increasing the risk of operational delays, potential errors and control failures which may have an impact on us and our financial
condition. Additionally, new information technology systems and process changes are also being put into place increasing the risk of operational delays,
potential errors and control failures which may have an impact on us and our financial condition.
 
Our announcement of the maturity of certain legacy retail payment products may result in decreased customer investment in our products and our
strategy to migrate customers to our next generation products may be unsuccessful which may adversely impact our business and financial
condition.
 
Our announcement related to the maturity of certain retail payment engines may result in customer decisions not to purchase or otherwise invest in these
engines, related products and/or services.  Alternatively, the maturity of these products may result in delayed customer purchase decisions or the renegotiation
of contract terms based upon scheduled maturity activities.  In addition, our strategy related to migrating customers to our next generation products may be
unsuccessful.  Reduced investments in our products, deferral or delay in purchase commitments by our customers or our failure to successfully manage our
migration strategy could have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity and financial condition.
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Item 2.  UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 
The following table provides information regarding the Company’s repurchases of its common stock during the three months ended March 31, 2008:
 

Period
 

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased
 

Average Price
Paid per Share

 

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased as
Part of Publicly

Announced
Program

 

Approximate
Dollar Value of

Shares that May
Yet Be

Purchased
Under the
Program

 

January 1 through January 31, 2008
 

—
 

$ —
 

—
 

$ 86,608,000
 

February 1 through February 29, 2008
 

826,000
 

$ 17.61
 

826,000
 

$ 72,063,000
 

March 1 through March 31, 2008
 

813,755
 

$ 19.07
 

813,755
 

$ 56,545,000
 

Total (1)
 

1,639,755
 

$ 18.33
 

1,639,755
   

 

(1)
 

In fiscal 2005, we announced that our board of directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing us, from time to
time as market and business conditions warrant, to acquire up to $80 million of our common stock, and that we intend to use
existing cash and cash equivalents to fund these repurchases. In May 2006, our board of directors approved an increase of $30
million to the stock repurchase program, bringing the total of the approved program to $110 million. In March 2007, our board
of directors approved an increase of $100 million to its current repurchase authorization, bringing the total authorization to
$210 million, of which approximately $57 million remains available.  In June 2007, we implemented this previously
announced increase to our share repurchase program. There is no guarantee as to the exact number of shares that will be
repurchased by us. Repurchased shares are returned to the status of authorized but unissued shares of common stock. In
March 2005, our board of directors approved a plan under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to facilitate the
repurchase of shares of common stock under the existing stock repurchase program. Under our Rule 10b5-1 plan, we have
delegated authority over the timing and amount of repurchases to an independent broker who does not have access to inside
information about the Company. Rule 10b5-1 allows us, through the independent broker, to purchase shares at times when we



ordinarily would not be in the market because of self-imposed trading blackout periods, such as the time immediately
preceding the end of the fiscal quarter through a period three business days following our quarterly earnings release. During
the three months ended March 31, 2008, all shares were purchased in open-market transactions.

 
During the three months ended December 31, 2007, we reclassified 31,393 vested options from equity classification to liability classification, as these options
were expected to cash settle subsequent to December 31, 2007 due to the suspension of option exercises because we were not current with our filings with the
SEC.  As a result, we recorded a liability of approximately $0.1 million and recorded compensation expense of $0.1 million in the three months ended
December 31, 2007.  This liability was paid during the three months ended March 31, 2008.  As of March 31, 2008, we were current with our filings with the
SEC and, therefore, all outstanding options were classified as equity.

 
Item 3.  DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 5.  OTHER INFORMATION
 

Not applicable.
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Item 6.  EXHIBITS
 

The following lists exhibits filed as part of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q:
 
Exhibit
No.

 
Description

   
10.1(1)

 

Description of the 2008 Management Incentive Compensation Plan
10.2(2)

 

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for the Company’s 2005 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan, as amended
10.3(3)

 

2008 Executive Management Incentive Compensation Plan
10.4

 

Master Service Agreement by and between ACI Worldwide, Inc. and International Business Machines Corporation (filed herewith)
31.01

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

31.02
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.01*
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

32.02*
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

 

(1)   Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed February 4, 2008.
(2)   Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed February 4, 2008.
(3)   Incorporated herein by reference to Annex A to the registrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting.  (File No. 000-25346) filed April 21, 2008.

 
*  This certification is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the liability of that
section. Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.
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SIGNATURE

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 
 

 

ACI WORLDWIDE, INC.
(Registrant)

  
Date: May 9, 2008 By: /s/ SCOTT W. BEHRENS
  

Scott W. Behrens
  

Vice President, Corporate Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

 
Exhibit
No.

 
Description

   
10.1(1)

 

Description of the 2008 Management Incentive Compensation Plan
10.2(2)

 

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for the Company’s 2005 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan, as amended
10.3(3)

 

2008 Executive Management Incentive Compensation Plan
10.4

 

Master Service Agreement by and between ACI Worldwide, Inc. and International Business Machines Corporation (filed herewith)
31.01

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

31.02
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.01*
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

32.02*
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

 

(1)          Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed February 4, 2008.
(2)          Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed February 4, 2008.
(3)          Incorporated herein by reference to Annex A to the registrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting. (File No. 000-25346) filed April 21, 2008.

 *  This certification is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the liability of that
section. Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.
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Exhibit 10.4
 

Execution Copy
 
 

Master Services Agreement
 

by and between
 

ACI Worldwide, Inc.
 

and
 

International Business Machines Corporation
 

 
1. Background, Goals and Objectives

 

1
     
 

1.1 Background, Goals and Objectives
 

1
     
 

1.2 Construction
 

2
     
2. Definitions

 

2
     
 

2.1 Certain Definitions
 

2
     
 

2.2 Inclusion of Affiliates in Definition of ACI and Vendor
 

2
     
 

2.3 Other Defined Terms
 

2
     
3. Services

 

3
     
 

3.1 General
 

3
     
 

3.2 Implied Services
 

3
     
 

3.3 Services Evolution
 

4
     
 

3.4 Services Variable in Scope and Volume
 

5
     
 

3.5 Work Prioritization
 

5
     
 

3.6 Services Performed by ACI or Third Parties
 

5
     
 

3.7 Existing Equipment and Vendor Supported Software
 

6
     
 

3.8 Transition
 

6
     
 

3.9 ACI IT Standards
 

6
     
 

3.10 End Users of the Services
 

7
     
 

3.11 Projects
 

8
     
 

3.12 Protection of ACI Information
 

8
     
 

3.13 Relocation of the Services
 

8
     
 

3.14 Acquisitions and Divestitures
 

8
     
 

3.15 ACI Retained Systems and Processes
 

9
     
 

3.16 Knowledge Sharing
 

10
     
4. Term of Agreement

 

10
     
 

4.1 Term
 

10
     
 

4.2 Extension of Term
 

10
     
5. Personnel

 

10
 
i



 
 

5.1 Key Vendor Positions
 

10
     
 

5.2 Transitioned Personnel
 

12
     
 

5.3 Qualifications, Retention and Removal of Vendor Personnel
 

13
     
6. Responsibility for resources

 

14
     
 

6.1 Generally
 

14
     
 

6.2 Intentionally left blank
 

14
     
 

6.3 Financial Responsibility for Equipment
 

14
     
 

6.4 Equipment Access and Operational and Administrative Responsibility
 

14
     
 

6.5 Financial Responsibility for Software
 

15
     
 

6.6 Third Party Contracts
 

16
     
 

6.7 Required Consents
 

16
     
 

6.8 Straddle Agreements
 

16
     
7. Software and Proprietary Rights

 

16
     
 

7.1 ACI Software
 

16
     
 

7.2 Vendor Software
 

17
     
 

7.3 ISV Software
 

18
     
 

7.4 Rights in Newly Developed Software and Other Materials
 

19
     
 

7.5 Export
 

21
     
8. Office Space

 

21
     
 

8.1 ACI Obligations
 

21
     
 

8.2 Vendor Obligations within ACI Office Space
 

21
     
 

8.3 Use of Vendor Facilities by ACI
 

22
     
9. Service Levels

 

22
     
 

9.1 General
 

22
     
 

9.2 Failure to Perform
 

23
     
 

9.3 Critical Service Levels and Service Level Credits
 

23
     
 

9.4 Priority of Recovery Following Interruption of Services
 

23
     
 

9.5 User Satisfaction
 

23
     

 
ii

 
 

9.6 Periodic Reviews and Adjustments to Service Levels
 

24
     
 

9.7 Measurement and Reporting
 

25
     
10. Project and Contract Management

 

25
     
 

10.1 Governance Guidelines and Principles
 

25
     
 

10.2 Executive Steering Committee
 

25
     
 

10.3 Reports
 

25
     
 

10.4 Meetings
 

26



     
 

10.5 Procedures Manuals
 

26
     
 

10.6 Change Control
 

27
     
 

10.7 Subcontracting
 

29
     
 

10.8 Technology Planning and Budgeting
 

31
     
 

10.9 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programs
 

32
     
 

10.10 Management of Issues
 

33
     
11. Audits, Record Retention

 

33
     
 

11.1 Intentionally left blank
 

33
     
 

11.2 Audit Rights
 

33
     
 

11.3 Vendor Internal Controls
 

35
     
 

11.4 Audit Follow-up
 

35
     
 

11.5 Records Retention
 

36
     
 

11.6 Discovery of Overcharge of ACI
 

36
     
12. ACI Responsibilities

 

36
     
13. Charges

 

37
     
 

13.1 General
 

37
     
 

13.2 Pass-Through Expenses
 

37
     
 

13.3 Incidental Expenses
 

37
     
 

13.4 Taxes
 

38
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MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), made and effective as of March 17, 2008 (the “Effective Date”), by and between ACI

Worldwide, Inc., a Delaware corporation with a principal place of address at 120 Broadway, Suite 3350, New York, NY  10271 (“ACI”), and International
Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, with its principal place of business located at Route 100, Somers, New York 10589 (“Vendor”).

 
1.                                      BACKGROUND, GOALS AND OBJECTIVES
 
1.1                               Background, Goals and Objectives.
 

This Agreement is being made and entered into with reference to the following background, specific goals and objectives, the successful
achievement of which are mutually agreed by the Parties hereto to be in the best business interests of both Parties and the principal purpose of this
Agreement:

 
(a)                                  ACI is an software company.  Currently ACI manages and operates its own information technology environment.
 
(b)                                 Vendor is in the business of providing information technology outsourcing services.
 
(c)                                  ACI desires to enter into an outsourcing arrangement that will meet its business objectives, which include:
 

(i)                                     realizing cost savings (by virtue of the performance of this Agreement by the Parties) both initially and on an ongoing basis;
 
(ii)                                  restructuring and standardizing ACI’s IT infrastructure and strengthening its IT governance model;
 
(iii)                               delivering to ACI world class, evolving IT outsourcing services;
 
(iv)                              enabling ACI to focus on its core competencies and on those activities which provide it with a competitive advantage, recognizing

that ACI’s core business is dependent on ACI being able to deliver information and related services to its customers;
 
(v)                                 establishing a flexible framework within which to quickly respond to evolving technologies, competitive conditions, and changing

ACI business needs;
 
(vi)                              treating fairly ACI personnel being hired by Vendor and also providing such personnel with meaningful jobs and a package of total

compensation and benefits package that is at current market rates within Vendor’s industry;
 
(vii)                           attaining transparency and variability of Vendor pricing permitting ACI to fully understand Vendor’s Charges;
 
(viii)                        identifying means to improve services and reduce costs to ACI and to enable ACI to improve and expand its information

technology operations;
 
(ix)                                providing for an uninterrupted transition of responsibility for performing the Services from ACI and certain of its contractors to

Vendor;
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(x)                                   ensuring strong data security and disaster recovery capability;
 
(xi)                                providing for an uninterrupted transition of responsibility for performing the Services back to ACI or its designee(s) in connection

with termination or expiration of this Agreement; and
 
(xii)                             limiting to the extent possible the amount of raised floor space in ACI facilities.
 

(d)                                 The Parties desire to promote a flexible business relationship between them that allows for and encourages growth of ACI’s core
businesses.

 
(e)                                  The Parties desire to collaborate for the overall success of this Agreement for both Parties.
 
(f)                                    The Parties desire to provide an agreement and pricing structure that, as of the Effective Date, is intended to establish a mutually beneficial

business relationship.
 

1.2                               Construction.
 

The provisions of this Article 1 are intended to be a general introduction to this Agreement and are not intended to expand the scope of the Parties’
clearly stated obligations or otherwise alter the plain meaning of this Agreement’s terms and conditions, as set forth hereinafter.  However, to the extent that
any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement do not address a particular circumstance or otherwise conflict or give rise to ambiguity, such terms or
conditions are to be interpreted and construed so as to give effect to this Agreement as a whole and this listing of background, goals and objectives.

 
2.             DEFINITIONS



 
2.1                               Certain Definitions.
 

The terms used with initial capital letters in this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Schedule D (Definitions).
 

2.2                               Inclusion of Affiliates in Definition of ACI and Vendor.
 

(a)                                  References to “ACI” in this Agreement include Affiliates of ACI as defined in Schedule D (Definitions).
 
(b)                                 References to “Vendor” in this Agreement include Affiliates of Vendor but only those Vendor Affiliates previously approved in writing by

ACI.
 

2.3                               Other Defined Terms.
 

Other terms used in this Agreement are defined where they are used and have the meanings there indicated.  Those terms, acronyms, and phrases
utilized in the IT outsourcing services industry, as applicable, or other pertinent business context which are not otherwise defined herein shall be interpreted in
accordance with their then-generally understood meaning in such industry or business context.
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3.                                      SERVICES
 
3.1                               General.
 

Beginning on the Effective Date (if required pursuant to the Transition Plan) and thereafter on each applicable Service Tower Commencement Date,
Vendor shall provide the following services, functions and responsibilities, as they may evolve or be modified by mutual agreement of the Parties during the
Term and as they may be supplemented, enhanced, modified or replaced (“Services”):

 
(a)                                  The Services described in this Agreement, its Schedules, Exhibits and related documents, including (i) Termination/Expiration Assistance,

(ii) Projects, (iii) New Services, (iv) Enhancement Activities, (v) Vendor Applications Software Operational Support Services, and (vi) performance of the
Transition; and

 
(b)                                 The information technology services, functions and responsibilities that are reasonably related to the Services described in this Agreement,

to the extent
 

(i)                                     performed on a consistent or routine basis during the twelve (12) months preceding the Effective Date by Affected Employees and
ACI Contractor Personnel who are (A) transitioned to Vendor, or (B) displaced or whose tasks were displaced as a result of this Agreement, even if the
service, tasks or responsibility so performed is not specifically described in this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, services, functions or
responsibilities that are specifically excluded from the scope of Services under this Agreement (such as responsibilities retained by ACI) shall not be deemed
to be within the scope of the Services; or

 
(ii)                                  reflected in those categories in Exhibit C-4 (Base Case) that Vendor is assuming pursuant to this Agreement.
 

3.2                               Implied Services.
 

(a)                                  If any information technology services, functions, or responsibilities are required for the proper performance and provision of the Services,
regardless of whether they are specifically described in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be implied by and included within the scope of the Services
to be provided by Vendor to the same extent and in the same manner as if specifically described in this Agreement.  Vendor shall be compensated for the
provision of such Services in accordance with the payment provisions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, services, functions or
responsibilities that are specifically excluded from the scope of Services under this Agreement (such as responsibilities retained by ACI) shall not be deemed
to be within the scope of the Services.

 
(b)                                 For the avoidance of doubt, the following is a non-exclusive listing of services, tasks and responsibilities that are deemed to be included

within the Monthly Base Charges and, therefore, will not result in additional Charges under the Change Control Procedure.
 

(i)                                     Invoicing activities, including support of and providing information for charge-back or allocation of Charges to individual
business units, ACI customers or costs centers in accordance with this Agreement.  With the exception of charge-back for testing and other ACI customer
services that are supported by the Services provided by Vendor (and will be addressed by the Parties pursuant to Section 10.6), ACI agrees that such charge-
back or allocation processes are being followed by ACI as of the Effective Date;
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(ii)                                  All services, tasks and responsibilities that this Agreement expressly provides are to be performed at no additional Charge;
 
(iii)                               Vendor’s internal functions and responsibilities needed to support the Services, including management reporting, staff planning,

quality assurance programs, Vendor Personnel training and development and maintenance of project management methodologies;
 
(iv)                              the development and implementation of action plans to remedy any deficient Services;
 
(v)                                 compliance with this Agreement’s security requirements and security-related audit requirements, including monitoring, executing

and coordinating Sarbanes Oxley testing of logical security, assistance with vulnerability scans, and management and administration of user IDs and
passwords;



 
(vi)                              reasonable cooperation with respect to software use audits by providers of Third-Party Software performed with reasonable

advance notice and to the extent such cooperation does not materially affect Vendor’s ability to provide the Services using existing resources;
 
(vii)                           any training for ACI personnel required as a result of Changes requested by Vendor;
 
(viii)                        services, tasks and responsibilities necessary for or incidental to the Transition of the Services;
 
(ix)                                monitoring, measurement, analysis and reporting of performance against Service Levels; and
 
(x)                                   services, tasks and responsibilities preliminary to or incidental to Projects or Changes, including the preparation of change

management documents, SOWs, scoping SOWs and other similar deliverables, pursuant to Schedule V (In-Flight Projects) and/or Schedule U (Change
Control Procedure).

 
3.3                               Services Evolution.
 

(a)                                  Vendor and ACI shall cause the Services to evolve and to be modified, enhanced, supplemented and replaced as necessary for the Services
to keep pace with technological advances and advances in the methods of delivering services, where such advances are at the time in general use within the IT
outsourcing services industry, as applicable, or otherwise among ACI’s competitors, including as practices evolve to comply with new or modified Applicable
Laws.  Such evolution shall, at a minimum, be made so as to cause the Services to conform with the requirements for continuous improvement of Service
Levels as set forth in Schedule B (Service Levels).  As an example, Services evolution shall include the addition of functionality by Vendor as is made
possible with new Equipment and Software utilized by Vendor during the Term.  Adjustments in Services in accordance with this Section 3.3 shall be deemed
to be included within the scope of the Services to the same extent and in the same manner as if expressly described in this Agreement.  Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in this Section 3.3, the foregoing statement is not intended to enlarge Vendor’s obligations where evolutions in technology are
specified in this Agreement (e.g., standards, configurations and Service Levels).  To the extent necessary and appropriate, the Parties shall equitably modify
and adjust the Resource Units to be measured and the Baselines associated with such Resource Units to be consistent with such evolution in technology. 
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Adjustments to the Services under this Section may also constitute New Services.  Adjustments to the Services pursuant to this subparagraph shall be at no
charge (unless they are New Services) and are subject to the technical change control procedure set forth in the Procedures Manual.

 
(b)                                 The Parties acknowledge that, from time to time, Vendor may make modifications to its shared services centers for the benefit of a number

of customers including ACI as a part of Vendor’s normal course of business, including modifications that are necessary to comply with new or modified
Vendor Laws, as defined in Section 22.1.  As such modifications are made by Vendor, although ACI would enjoy the benefit of the specific modifications at
no additional charge, there may be some planning and testing that needs to occur for the ACI information technology environment which may result in some
additional internal costs to ACI or would otherwise have a negative impact to ACI.  Vendor will give ACI forty five (45) days’ advance written notice if
Vendor intends to make such modifications to a shared service center, shall advise ACI in such notice what internal planning and testing it believes ACI will
have to perform in connection with Vendor’s implementation of such modifications and shall not make any such changes unless it (i) reimburses ACI for the
costs ACI may incur as the result of the changes and (ii) takes all reasonable steps to mitigate any other negative impact to ACI and its customers.  Any such
proposed modification shall be subject to the technical change control procedure set forth in the Procedures Manual.

 
3.4                               Services Variable in Scope and Volume.
 

The Services are variable in scope and volume to the extent specified in the pricing mechanisms set forth in Schedule C (Charges) and its Exhibits,
or as may otherwise be set forth in this Agreement.  Vendor shall not be entitled to receive an adjustment to the Charges except as set forth in this Agreement.

 
3.5                               Work Prioritization.
 

ACI may identify new or additional work activities to be performed by Vendor Personnel (including work activities that would otherwise be treated
as New Services or a Project) or reprioritize or reset the schedule for existing work activities to be performed by such Vendor Personnel.  Unless otherwise
agreed, ACI shall incur no additional Charges for the performance of such work activities by such Vendor Personnel to the extent then assigned to ACI. 
Vendor shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to perform such work activities without impacting the established schedule for other tasks or the
performance of the Services in accordance with the Service Levels.  If after using such efforts it is not possible to avoid such an impact, Vendor shall notify
ACI of the anticipated impact and obtain its consent prior to proceeding with such work activities.  ACI, in its sole discretion, may forego or delay such work
activities or temporarily adjust the work to be performed by Vendor, the schedules associated therewith or the Service Levels to permit the performance by
Vendor of such work activities.

 
3.6                               Services Performed by ACI or Third Parties.
 

(a)                                  Subject to Sections 13.5, 13.6 and 21.3 (provided that ACI’s adjustments to the Services pursuant to this Section 3.6 constitute a
termination for convenience) and any adjustments to Charges provided for in Schedule C (Charges), ACI retains the right to perform itself, or retain third
parties to perform, any of the Services.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the total Charges payable by ACI under the Agreement shall not be less
than the annual dollar amounts shown in the Minimum Revenue Commitment Table in the Pricing Tables, Exhibit C-1, Tab VII. (Minimum Revenue
Commitment and Inflation Sensitivity) in Schedule C (Charges) (the “Minimum Revenue Commitment” or “MRC”), as adjusted pursuant to the following. 
The MRC shall be equitably reduced as further described in this Section 3.6 to the extent that the total Charges payable by ACI fall below the MRC as a result
of any material breach of the Agreement resulting in removal of Services pursuant to Section 21.1 (Termination
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for Cause by ACI) or a partial termination for convenience by ACI pursuant to Section 21.3 (Termination for Convenience) of the Agreement, or reduction in
Service volume pursuant to Section 13.5 (Extraordinary Event) or Section 19.6 (Force Majeure).  The Minimum Revenue Commitment will not be in effect



during the Termination/Expiration Assistance Period.
 
(b)                                 In the case of ACI’s withdrawal of Services under this Section 3.6, the Charges for the remaining Services shall be as reflected in Exhibit C-

1 (Base Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates and Termination Charges) or if not addressed in such Exhibit C-1 (Base Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates
and Termination Charges), the Charges shall be equitably adjusted to reflect those Services that are no longer required.  If, within thirty (30) days following
ACI’s notice, the Parties have not agreed on the Charges for the remaining Services, then the pricing will be determined under Section 20.1(a).

 
(c)                                  To the extent ACI performs any of the Services itself, or retains third parties to do so, Vendor shall cooperate with ACI or such third parties

in accordance with Section 21.9.
 

3.7                               Existing Equipment and Vendor Supported Software.
 

Schedule H (Existing Equipment) includes a listing of the Equipment that is, as of the Effective Date, used by ACI in providing the Services
internally, and that will be used and managed by Vendor in providing the Services from and after the Effective Date.  Schedule I (Vendor Supported Software)
identifies the Software that is, as of the Effective Date, used by ACI in providing the Services internally, and that will be used and managed by Vendor in
providing the Services from and after the Effective Date.

 
3.8                               Transition.
 

Vendor will perform all functions and services necessary to accomplish the transition to Vendor of ACI’s information technology operations
embodied in the Services described in Schedule A (Statement of Work) (other than those specified in the Agreement as ACI’s responsibility (the
“Transition”)) in accordance with the initial, high level, transition plan (as revised and supplemented by the Parties under the Changes Control Procedure
from time to time, the “Transition Plan”) attached as Schedule L (Transition and Transformation).  Within the timeframes set forth in the Schedule L
(Transition and Transformation), the Parties shall mutually agree on a more detailed plan, which, upon such mutual agreement, shall supersede and replace
Schedule L (Transition and Transformation).  Vendor will perform the Transition without causing material disruption to ACI’s business or that of its
customers or Affiliates.  No functionality of the information technology operations being Transitioned shall be disabled until Vendor demonstrates to ACI’s
reasonable satisfaction that it has fully tested and implemented equivalent capabilities for such functionality.  ACI may monitor, test and otherwise participate
in the Transition in its discretion.

 
3.9                               ACI IT Standards.
 

As requested by ACI from time to time, Vendor shall assist ACI in defining and developing, and integrating with Vendor’s information technology
standards, ACI’s information technology architectures and standards applicable to the Services on an ongoing basis (collectively, the “ACI IT Standards”). 
ACI will retain primary responsibility for determining the ACI IT Standards.  The ACI IT Standards as of the Effective Date are set forth in Schedule J (ACI
Policies and Standards).  Subject to the Change Control Procedure, Vendor will comply with changes from time to time in the ACI IT Standards.  The
assistance to be provided by Vendor shall include:

 
(a)                                  active participation with ACI representatives on permanent and ad-hoc committees and working groups addressing such issues;
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(b)                                 assessments of the then-current ACI IT Standards at a level of detail sufficient to permit ACI to make informed business decisions;
 
(c)                                  analyses of the appropriate direction for such ACI IT Standards in light of business priorities, business strategies, competitive market forces

and changes in technology;
 
(d)                                 the provision of information to ACI regarding Vendor’s information technology strategies for its own business to the extent not considered

proprietary to Vendor’s business;
 
(e)                                  recommendations regarding then current and available information technology architectures and platforms, software and hardware

products, information technology strategies, standards and directions, and other enabling technologies (which may or may not be reflected in the Technology
Plans); and

 
(f)                                    recommending then current and available appropriate information technology services (including platforms comprising various hardware

and software combinations) that support Service Level requirements, exploiting industry trends in production capabilities and provide potential price and
performance improvement opportunities.

 
Without limiting the foregoing, ACI IT Standards shall include the then-current ACI technical architecture and product standards, as such standards may be
modified by ACI from time to time.
 
3.10                        End Users of the Services.
 

(a)                                  Subject to Section 3.10(b) hereof, the Services may be used by ACI and, as directed by ACI, (i) its Affiliates and those third parties (such as
suppliers, service providers and joint venturers) with whom, at any point during the Term, ACI or any Affiliate has a commercial relationship; and (ii) those
persons and entities that, as determined by ACI, access ACI’s or any of its Affiliates’ IT infrastructure (for example, these who are registered/authorized users
of ACI’s website and who are made known to Vendor) at any time during the Term through standard operating procedures (the parties in Sections 3.10(a)
(i) and 3.11(a)(ii) will collectively be referred to as “End Users”).  Vendor acknowledges that such access is ongoing as of the Effective Date.  Services
provided to End Users shall be deemed to be Services provided to ACI.

 
(b)                                 In accordance with Schedule A (Statement of Work), Vendor shall perform the Services at the Service Locations set forth in Schedule P

(Locations), which include ACI facilities and non-ACI facilities as designated on Schedule P (Locations).  If ACI requests that Vendor provide Services in or
from a new Service Location, then Charges set forth in Schedule C (Charges) shall apply and ACI shall pay the applicable labor rate(s) for additional
personnel reasonably required by Vendor and for the incremental Out-of-Pocket Expenses reasonably incurred by Vendor in physically relocating to such new
Service Location, and for any additional ongoing costs incurred by Vendor that would not have been incurred but for the requirement that the Services be



provided from or in a new Service Location and only to the extent those ongoing costs are disclosed in a written plan approved by ACI.  All such changes and
any additional payments will be determined through the contractual Change Control Procedure, as appropriate (collectively, the “Change Control
Procedure”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if ACI changes a location at which Vendor Personnel are performing Services, and the relocation is 50 miles or
less in distance, ACI will not be responsible for any Vendor employee relocation costs, including reimbursement of relocation costs or changes in employee
compensation related to any local labor market conditions.
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3.11                        Projects.
 

At ACI’s request and upon mutual agreement, Vendor shall perform Projects.  Charges for such Projects shall be determined in accordance with
Schedule C (Charges).  Projects shall be proposed and implemented in accordance with Schedule C (Charges), Schedule V (In-Flight Projects) (which
contains procedures regarding initiation and management of Projects) and Schedule U (Change Control Procedure).

 
3.12                        Protection of ACI Information.
 

If any information of ACI is processed in any facility used by Vendor to perform services for any ACI Competitor, Vendor will take such steps as are
reasonably necessary to prevent ACI’s information from being disclosed.

 
3.13                        Relocation of the Services.
 

For a relocation of substantially all of the Services under a Service Tower to a new or different Service Location, Vendor shall give ACI at least
ninety (90) days prior notice; for any other relocation of Services to a new or different Service Location, Vendor shall give ACI reasonable notice under the
circumstances which shall in no event be less than thirty (30) days (in either case, the “Relocation Notice”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a relocation is
required to obtain critical skills, is required for Vendor to meet Service Levels or as otherwise agreed by the Parties, then such thirty (30) days notice shall not
be required but Vendor will provide as much notice to ACI as is reasonably possible.  If the relocation would result in one or more of the following impacts,
then Vendor shall obtain ACI’s prior approval, and such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, for such relocation proposed by Vendor, its Affiliates or
subcontractors;

 
(i)                                     if the relocation of the Services would prevent ACI or its Affiliates from being in compliance with any ACI Laws, or results in a

material administrative burden for ACI or its Affiliates to comply with any ACI Law;
 
(ii)                                  if the relocation of the Services would result in a negative regulatory or financial impact on a customer of ACI or its Affiliates, or

would cause ACI or its Affiliates to be in breach of its contract with a customer of ACI or its Affiliates; or
 
(iii)                               if the relocation involves the movement of Equipment to a new or different Service Location.
 

If ACI determines within the period of the Relocation Notice that one of the above criteria is met, ACI shall provide written notice of such to
Vendor.  ACI and Vendor shall then meet in good faith to review alternatives to mitigate the impact of the proposed relocation.  If the impact cannot be
mitigated using the Parties’ Commercially Reasonable Efforts, ACI may withhold its consent.  Any incremental expenses incurred by ACI as a result of such
a relocation (or a relocation as a result of Vendor’s failure to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement) will be paid or reimbursed by Vendor.

 
3.14                        Acquisitions and Divestitures.
 

(a)                                  If, as a result of a Restructure, an entity that was not an Affiliate of ACI on the Effective Date becomes an Affiliate of ACI during the Term
(a “New Entity”), then, at ACI’s option and to the extent such New Entity is not a Vendor Competitor and in accordance with ACI’s directions, Vendor will
provide the Services designated by ACI to the End Users of the New Entity.  In such case, the Parties will utilize the Change Control Procedure to address any
integration services requested by ACI with respect to the integration required for the New Entity to receive the Services and any associated Charges.
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(b)                                 If at any time during the Term, ACI divests or otherwise transfers ownership of a business unit or entity receiving Services from Vendor,

then, if requested by ACI, Vendor shall continue to provide the Services to such entity on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement for such period
as specified by ACI, not to exceed twelve (12) months after the effective date of the divestiture or transfer.  In such case, the Parties will utilize the Change
Control Procedure to address any required Changes or additions to the Services and the associated Charges.

 
(c)                                  Where ACI indicates that it is considering or intends a Restructure, Vendor will, at no additional cost to ACI to the extent the then-existing

Vendor Personnel have the skill set and availability without causing a materially negative impact on the Services, provide to ACI reasonable assistance and
information as may be reasonably necessary to facilitate the Restructure, including:

 
(i)                                     working with ACI to develop a plan to adequately staff any Projects specific to the Restructure and meet volume increases

resulting from the Restructure;
 
(ii)                                  responding promptly to requests for information relating to the Services and Charges for the Services;
 
(iii)                               if requested by ACI, assisting in discussions with third parties relating to any Equipment, licenses or contracts relevant to any

proposed New Entity;
 
(iv)                              cooperating in good faith with ACI in relation to the Restructure; and
 
(v)                                 performing any Termination / Expiration Assistance which may be necessary under the circumstances.
 



Any incremental effort required of Vendor (beyond the above obligations) to support a Restructure, whether such Restructure is an acquisition or a divestiture,
will be reviewed by the Parties in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.  The staffing process generally applicable to the Services will also apply in
the context of a Restructure to staffing for the in-scope Services.
 
3.15                        ACI Retained Systems and Processes.
 

Vendor will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to ensure that, in providing the Services, it does not, without the consent of ACI, adversely affect
or alter (a) the operation, functionality or technical environment of the software and hardware used by or on behalf of ACI in connection with ACI’s business
other than the Vendor Equipment (the “Retained Systems”); and (b) the processes used by ACI in connection with ACI’s business (the “Retained Processes”). 
Vendor will be proactive in keeping itself informed about Retained Systems and Retained Processes as necessary to provide the Services.  ACI will inform
Vendor about all aspects of the existing and future Retained Systems and the Retained Processes that are reasonably likely to have a material impact on
Vendor’s ability to perform the Services.  ACI will provide documentation, information and other cooperation regarding any existing and future Retained
Systems and Retained Processes, as reasonably necessary for Vendor to perform the Services.  ACI will also provide training with respect to any ACI System
and Retained Process that is proprietary to ACI that is reasonably required by Vendor to perform the Services.  At ACI’s request, Vendor will coordinate with
ACI to evaluate the impact of any alterations to Retained Systems and Retained Processes to the extent such alterations may impact the Services.
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3.16                        Knowledge Sharing.
 

(a)                                  At least once every twelve (12) months during the Term, Vendor will meet with ACI account leaders (such meetings to occur in the United
States, EMEA or Asia Pacific as designated by ACI), at no additional charge, in order to (i) provide an overview of how the Services are provided,
(ii) provide an overview of how the Vendor Software and Equipment work and should be operated and (iii) provide such training and documentation 
necessary for ACI to (A) provide the Retained Systems, Retained Processes or other services that relate to or interface with the Services and (B) provide an
outline of such training and documentation necessary for ACI to understand and operate the interfaces to the Vendor Software and Equipment and understand
and provide the Services for itself and the other End Users after the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  The Parties will document the training and
documentation to be provided in subsection (iii) of the preceding sentence.

 
(b)                                 As further specified pursuant to the Change Control Procedure, ACI may assign ACI personnel (excluding any third parties) on a rotational

basis to Vendor’s operating environment (subject to appropriate safeguards to protect the data and proprietary information of other Vendor customers and
Vendors security policies) as reasonably required in order to (i) maintain visibility and understanding regarding Services and how they are performed and
(ii) provide assistance to Vendor personnel in connection with a Transition or a modification to an existing Service.

 
(c)                                  Upon ACI’s request from time to time, but no more often than once every twelve (12) months during the Term, Vendor will provide to ACI

a full description of the environmental configuration in respect of the Services, including information regarding Vendor Software and Equipment, staffing
relative to Projects, operating environment, systems constraints, protocols, interfaces, architecture and other operating parameters.

 
4.                                      TERM OF AGREEMENT
 
4.1                               Term.
 

The term (“Term”) of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective Date and shall expire on the seventh anniversary of the Effective Date, unless
terminated earlier or extended in accordance with this Agreement.

 
4.2                               Extension of Term.
 

Vendor shall provide ACI written notice not less than nine (9) months prior to the then-existing expiration date of this Agreement of such upcoming
expiration.  No less than three (3) months prior to such upcoming expiration, ACI shall have the right to extend the Term of this Agreement for up one
(1) year on the terms and conditions then in effect by delivering written notice to Vendor.

 
5.                                      PERSONNEL
 
5.1                               Key Vendor Positions.
 

(a)                                  “Key Vendor Positions” are the Vendor Transition Manager (as defined below), the Vendor Project Executive, Vendor Delivery Project
Executive and Vendor Tower Leads for each Service Tower.  Vendor shall cause each of the Vendor Personnel filling the Key Vendor Positions to devote
substantial time and effort to the provision of Services to ACI.  Except with respect to the Vendor representative assigned primary responsibility for Transition
Services (the “Vendor Transition Manager”), once assigned to a Key Vendor Position, these individuals shall remain on the ACI account in such position for a
period of at least two (2) years (or if assigned during Transition, during the Transition and for two (2) years after the Transition).  In the event of the voluntary
resignation, involuntary termination
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for cause, illness, disability or death of one of its Vendor Personnel filling a Key Vendor Position during or after the specified period, Vendor shall (i) give
ACI as much notice as reasonably possible of such development, and (ii) expeditiously identify and a suitable replacement.  If an employee of an Approved
Subcontractor is assigned to a Key Vendor Position, Vendor shall obtain commitments from that Approved Subcontractor to comply with the requirements of
this Section 5.1 with respect to such position.  Upon providing Vendor 30 days prior notice, ACI may from time to time change the positions designated as
Key Vendor Positions.  ACI shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to change any position from a non-Key Vendor Position to a Key Vendor Position;
provided that in no event will the aggregate number of Key Vendor Positions increase by more than five from the number of Key Vendor Positions as of the
Effective Date.

 
(b)                                 Vendor shall designate an individual to serve as “Vendor Delivery Project Executive.”  The Vendor Delivery Project Executive shall:



 
(i)            be one of the Key Vendor Positions;
 
(ii)           serve as the single point of accountability for Vendor for the Services;
 
(iii)          have day-to-day authority for undertaking to ensure customer satisfaction;
 
(iv)          be located at ACI’s offices in Omaha, Nebraska or other location reasonably designated by ACI from time to time;
 
(v)           be willing to travel to other ACI locations as reasonably requested by ACI from time to time.
 

(c)                                  Without limiting Vendor’s obligation to obtain the approvals required by this Section 5.1 for changes in Key Vendor Positions:
 

(i)                                     Vendor shall implement and maintain a retention strategy designed to retain Vendor Personnel assigned to Key Vendor Positions
for the prescribed period;

 
(ii)                                  Vendor shall also maintain active succession plans for each of the Key Vendor Positions; and
 
(iii)                               At least once each year during the Term, Vendor shall review with ACI the retention strategies and succession plans for the Key

Vendor Positions.  Such review shall include a status review of the current risk profile for each of the Vendor Personnel currently assigned to such positions. 
The risk profile will include the unique technical, account or process skills needed for the Key Vendor Position, and an assessment of the risk that such
Vendor Personnel might leave Vendor, and any actions, including the execution of appropriate retention strategies to assure ACI that Vendor will be able to
continue to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

 
(d)                                 Before assigning an individual to a Key Vendor Position, whether as an initial assignment or a subsequent assignment, Vendor shall advise

ACI of the proposed assignment and introduce the individual to the appropriate ACI representatives.  ACI shall have the right to require Vendor to remove
from ACI’s account and replace such individual at any time, in its sole discretion, provided that ACI does not request the removal of any individual for
reasons prohibited by Applicable Law, and provided that reasonable notice (which may be immediate, depending on the circumstances surrounding the
removal) is
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given.  Upon such request from ACI, Vendor will investigate the request and reasons for it and take appropriate action.

 
(e)                                  If ACI objects in good faith to the proposed Key Vendor Position assignment, the Parties shall attempt to resolve ACI’s concerns on a

mutually agreeable basis.  If the Parties have not been able to resolve ACI’s concerns within five (5) Business Days, Vendor shall not assign the individual to
that position and shall propose to ACI the assignment of another individual of suitable ability and qualifications.  Except with ACI’s consent, individuals
filling Key Vendor Positions may not be transferred or re-assigned to other positions with Vendor or its Affiliates until a suitable replacement has been
approved by ACI, and no such transfer shall occur at a time or in a manner that would have an adverse impact on delivery of the Services.  Vendor shall
establish and maintain an up to date succession plan for the replacement of individuals serving in Key Vendor Positions.

 
(f)                                    Except with respect to the Vendor Transition Manager, so long as an individual is assigned to a Key Vendor Position, is one of the Vendor

employees that is substantially or fully dedicated to providing Services to ACI or otherwise has regular access to view or manipulate ACI Confidential
Information that is either identified by ACI as competitively sensitive or a reasonable person would understand is competitively sensitive for ACI based upon
the content of such information, and for twelve (12) months, thereafter, Vendor shall not assign such individual to perform services for the benefit of any ACI
Competitor, unless such assignment is approved by ACI, in advance and in writing.

 
(g)                                 A meaningful portion of the annual variable compensation for the Vendor Delivery Project Executive and Vendor Personnel in the other

Key Vendor Positions shall be based upon: (i) the level of ACI satisfaction reflected in the periodic customer satisfaction surveys; (ii) the extent to which
Vendor has met Vendor’s responsibilities and obligations under this Agreement; (iii) Vendor’s achievement of the objectives relating to ACI and its businesses
set forth in Section 1.1, and (iv) Vendor’s determination in consultation with ACI as to whether Vendor has met the technical and business objectives set by
ACI.  Vendor maintains the final responsibility and decisions for determining the compensation levels of all Vendor employees as well as recognizing and
rewarding them.

 
5.2                               Transitioned Personnel.
 

(a)                                  Promptly after the Effective Date, Vendor will offer employment to “Potentially Rebadged Employees” identified in Schedule T (Human
Resources).  “Rebadged Employees” shall mean those Affected Employees who receive and accept such offers and become employed by Vendor effective as
of such Service Tower Commencement Date or such other date as to which the Parties agree.  The provisions of Schedule T (Human Resources) shall apply to
all Affected Employees.

 
(b)                                 ACI believes that the Rebadged Employees are critical in providing the Services (“Key Rebadged Employees”).  During the term stated in

Section 5.1(a), following the hire date for any Key Rebadged Employee (the “Mandatory Employment Period”), without ACI’s prior written approval Vendor
may not transfer or re-assign a Key Rebadged Employee from performing the Services for ACI for a period of at least one (1) years.

 
(c)                                  ACI has contracted for the services of non-employee personnel who immediately prior to the Effective Date were performing services

similar to the Services (“ACI Contractor Personnel”).  With regard to the agreements for ACI Contractor Personnel (“ACI Contractor Agreements”), such
ACI Contractor Agreements shall be terminated or, subject to obtaining Required Consents in the manner provided in Section 6.7, assigned to Vendor.  The
action of termination or assignment for particular ACI Contractor Agreements shall be in accordance with a plan prepared by Vendor within ninety (90) days
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after the Effective Date and approved by ACI.  Vendor shall be responsible for the costs, charges and fees associated with such actions.
 

5.3                               Qualifications, Retention and Removal of Vendor Personnel.
 

(a)                                  Vendor shall assign an adequate number of Vendor Personnel to perform the Services.  Vendor Personnel shall be properly educated, trained
and fully qualified for the Services they are to perform.  If any portion of the Services of Vendor Personnel are a separately charged resource, Vendor shall not
charge ACI for the costs of training Vendor Personnel, including the time necessary for such Vendor Personnel to become familiar with ACI’s account or
business.

 
(b)                                 ACI and Vendor agree that it is in their best interests to keep the turnover rate of Vendor Personnel to a low level.  Vendor shall use

Commercially Reasonable Efforts to keep the turnover rate to a low level and remains obligated to perform the Services, regardless of turnover, without
degradation and in accordance with this Agreement.

 
(c)                                  While at ACI’s premises (or the premises of others receiving the Services under this Agreement), Vendor Personnel shall (i) comply with all

reasonable requests, and all rules and regulations, regarding personal and professional conduct (including the wearing of an identification badge and adhering
to regulations and general safety, dress, behavior and security practices or procedures) generally applicable to such premises to the extent that such requests,
and rules and regulations have been provided to Vendor in writing in advance; and (ii) otherwise conduct themselves in a businesslike and professional
manner.

 
(d)                                 Vendor, in performing the Services, shall comply, and cause its employees, agents and subcontractors to comply, with:
 

(i)                                     All applicable local, state and federal laws and regulations relating to the workplace and the performance of its obligations,
including OSHA and other laws regarding workplace safety.

 
(ii)                                  The ACI policies and procedures set forth in Schedule J (ACI Policies and Standards) (to the extent that ACI is in compliance as

of the Effective Date) and as provided to the Vendor in writing from time to time;
 
(iii)                               Any of ACI’s policies and procedures as, from time to time, are communicated in writing to Vendor.
 

(e)                                  If ACI reasonably determines that the continued assignment to ACI’s account of any of Vendor Personnel is not in the best interests of ACI,
then, upon reasonable notice from ACI, Vendor shall replace that person with another person of equal or superior ability and qualifications.  Vendor shall
ensure that such replacement has received sufficient and necessary information to accomplish a satisfactory knowledge transfer from the Vendor Personnel
being replaced and is sufficiently trained so as to assure continuity of the Services without adverse impact.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, where ACI
notifies Vendor that ACI has determined that the concern is of such a nature that such Vendor Personnel should be removed immediately (albeit possibly
temporarily) from ACI’s account, Vendor shall immediately remove such individual(s) from ACI’s account.  In any event, any request by ACI to remove an
individual from ACI’s account shall not be deemed to constitute a termination of such individual’s employment by Vendor and in no event shall ACI be
deemed an employer of any such person.  Notwithstanding the above or any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, the rights of ACI in
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this Section 5.3(e) shall be restricted to those Vendor Personnel that either (i) are located at a ACI facility, or (ii) have direct contact with ACI or an End User
(including any ACI clients).

 
(f)                                    Vendor shall be responsible for conducting at its expense a background investigation of all Vendor’s employees, contractors, agents and

subcontractors assigned to provide Services to ACI.  Vendor agrees that the review period and information gathered will be in accordance with Vendor’s
standard policies.  Vendor shall exercise reasonable care and diligence to ensure that it does not assign employees, agents or subcontractors to ACI who, based
on the results of their background investigation, are likely to present a threat to the safety or security of people or other assets on ACI’s premises.

 
(g)                                 Vendor shall maintain documentation evidencing that the background investigations required in Section 5.3(f) have been completed.
 

6.                                      RESPONSIBILITY FOR RESOURCES
 
6.1                               Generally.
 

Except to the extent specifically provided otherwise in this Agreement, Vendor shall be responsible for providing all resources (including Equipment,
Software, facilities and personnel) necessary or desirable to provide the Services, and shall be responsible for all costs associated with those resources, and
shall only recover such costs through the corresponding Charges specified in this Agreement.  Vendor shall permit ACI, or any third-party provider of services
to ACI, (provided Vendor receives reasonable advance notification and subject to execution by such third party of a confidentiality agreement in the form of
Schedule M (Vendor Confidentiality Agreement)) to establish and maintain uninterrupted remote access to the Applications Software and any software
running on Equipment and used to provide the Services, and, upon request, on-site access to any Vendor facility at which Services are performed as may be
reasonably required by ACI.

 
6.2                               Intentionally left blank.
 
6.3                               Financial Responsibility for Equipment.
 

As identified in Exhibit C-2 (Financial Responsibility and Ownership Matrix), Vendor shall have full financial responsibility for all such Equipment. 
This includes responsibility for all upgrades, enhancements, growth and technology refreshments to and for the Equipment not owned or leased by ACI, and
all costs and expenses related to operational support, including installation, support, maintenance, disaster recovery, and Service Levels with respect to the
Equipment.  Vendor shall refresh the Equipment in accordance with Exhibit C-2 (Financial Responsibility and Ownership Matrix).

 
6.4                               Equipment Access and Operational and Administrative Responsibility.
 



(a)                                  Access.  ACI shall grant Vendor the same rights of access and use, at no cost to Vendor, that ACI has to Equipment used by ACI
immediately prior to the Effective Date to provide services to itself (subject to the Parties’ having obtained any Required Consents therefore and solely to the
extent necessary to provide the Services).

 
(b)                                 No Warranties.  All Equipment transferred or made available to Vendor and Approved Subcontractors under this Agreement by ACI is

provided or made available on an “AS IS, WHERE IS” basis, with no warranties whatsoever.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Agreement, ACI and its Affiliates shall not be responsible for any breach of any of such manufacturers’

 
14

 
warranties and indemnities, and no breach thereof shall affect the limitation on liabilities, rights and obligations of the Parties set forth in this Agreement.

 
(c)                                  Hardware and Software Purchases.  If and as requested by ACI from time to time and agreed by the Vendor, Vendor will offer to acquire

hardware or software for re-sale to ACI at Vendor’s  charges plus a reasonable mark-up through Vendor’s contracts with third-party suppliers.
 
(d)                                 Disposal of Equipment Owned or Leased by ACI.  Vendor shall, as a part of the Services included in the Monthly Base Charges, dispose of

Equipment owned or leased (in accordance with Schedule A (Statement of Work)) by ACI and no longer needed for the provision of the Services.  Vendor is
entitled to retain any salvage value of such Equipment that is owned by ACI without accounting to ACI.

 
(e)                                  Disposal of Equipment Not Owned by ACI.  Vendor shall be responsible for any disposal of Equipment provided or otherwise used by

Vendor or its subcontractors.  Vendor shall be responsible for all costs, charges or fees associated with the disposal of such Equipment.
 
(f)                                    Refresh of Equipment.  Vendor is responsible for acquiring, as a part of the Hardware Services Charge (as defined in Schedule C

(Charges)), such Equipment for refresh and growth as indicated in Exhibit C-2 (Financial Responsibility and Ownership Matrix).  The Equipment to be
acquired by Vendor pursuant to such Equipment refresh is based on the expected volume identified in the Resource Volume Baseline and in Exhibit C-1.  The
Parties acknowledge that the actual refresh of Equipment will be based on ACI’s changing business needs and Vendor’s requirements to perform the Services
and meet the Service Levels.  Within thirty (30) days after the each anniversary of the Effective Date, ACI and Vendor will review the then-current refresh
schedule, make any required revisions to the schedule and estimate by month for the upcoming year the timing such refresh is required.

 
6.5                               Financial Responsibility for Software.
 

(a)                                  All licenses to Software in ACI’s name as of the Effective Date shall be retained in the name of ACI as licensee.  Subject to Section 6.5(c),
financial, administrative and operational responsibility for Software, including (i) all costs for current and future packages, new releases, expanded license
rights, growth and technology refreshment (“Software Capital Costs”) and (ii) all costs and expenses related to operational support, including installation,
support, software maintenance, and achieving Service Levels (“Software Operational Support Costs”) shall be allocated between the Parties as provided in
Exhibit C-2 (Financial Responsibility and Ownership Matrix).  For that Software for which Vendor has financial responsibility, Vendor shall pay directly, or
promptly reimburse ACI if ACI (or any of its Affiliates) has paid, all such costs that are attributable to periods from and after the assumption of such
responsibility.

 
(b)                                 Licenses.  Vendor shall obtain all licenses for any new Systems Software acquired during the Term for Equipment that Vendor is financially

responsible for refreshing as specified in Exhibit C-2 (Financial Responsibility and Ownership Matrix).  Any negotiation of software licenses on behalf of
ACI will be in consultation with the ACI legal and procurement departments.

 
(c)                                  ISV Software.  Except as otherwise provided herein or in Exhibit C-2 (Financial Responsibility and Ownership Matrix), Vendor’s financial

responsibility for Software Capital Costs shall not extend to ISV Software.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) Vendor shall be responsible for providing
Vendor Applications Software Operational Support Services with respect to all ISV Software; and (ii) if Vendor elects to operate any Applications Software
on a shared platform, and such election results in any
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increase in the Software Capital Costs or Software Operational Support Costs in relation to such Applications Software, Vendor shall be solely responsible for
such incremental costs.

 
6.6                               Third Party Contracts.
 
Vendor has financial, administrative and operational responsibility for those Third Party Contracts set forth in Schedule G (Third Party Contracts).  Vendor
shall pay directly, or promptly reimburse ACI, if ACI (or any of its Affiliates) has paid, all such costs that are attributable to periods from and after the
assumption of such responsibility.
 
6.7                               Required Consents.
 

Vendor and its Affiliates shall be administratively responsible, with ACI’s and its Affiliates’ reasonable cooperation and subject to the provisions of
Section 6.6, for performing all administrative activities necessary for obtaining the Required Consents for Software, Equipment, facility leases/subleases and
Third Party Contracts as necessary to perform the Services and other obligations under this Agreement, upon mutually acceptable terms and conditions.  ACI
acknowledges that, in those instances where ACI is the contracting party or licensee, ACI will be the party that must seek the Required Consents and Vendor
will provide assistance and the administrative activities in seeking such Required Consents.  Vendor will pay any and all fees (including transfer or upgrade
fees, additional licenses, sublicenses and maintenance fees) required to obtain such Required Consents and will invoice ACI (as part of Vendor’s normal
monthly invoice) such fees on a Pass-Through Expenses basis.  The Parties shall cooperate with each other so as to minimize such costs and ensure that
mutual agreement exists as to acceptable terms and conditions for the provision of any such Required Consent.  As and to the extent consent is obtained for
Vendor and its Affiliates to manage and utilize the Software or a contract but the relevant license or such contract remains in ACI’s or an Affiliate’s name,
ACI and its Affiliates shall exercise permissible termination, extension and other rights thereunder as Vendor, after consultation with ACI, reasonably directs. 
If a Required Consent is not obtained, then, unless and until such Required Consent is obtained, the Parties shall determine and promptly adopt, such



alternative approaches as are necessary and sufficient to provide the Services without such Required Consents (including modifications to the Transition Plan)
and, subject to consultation with and agreement by ACI, an applicable Service Tower Commencement Date affected by such unavailable Required Consents
shall be adjusted accordingly.

 
6.8                               Straddle Agreements.
 

If a Straddle Agreement is discovered by the Parties after the Effective Date, within ninety (90) days of the date of discovery, the Parties shall
undertake to establish the most appropriate, including the most cost effective, method of leveraging such Straddle Agreement for the benefit of both Parties
and if necessary, shall negotiate in good faith to determine an alternative to Vendor using the Straddle Agreement to perform the Services.

 
7.                                      SOFTWARE AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS
 
7.1                               ACI Software.
 

(a)                                  ACI retains all right, title and interest in and to ACI Software, including all modifications, enhancements and derivative works relating
thereto.  ACI grants to Vendor (and its Approved Subcontractors if and to the extent required to provide the Services) a worldwide, fully paid-up,
nonexclusive license during the Term to use ACI Software solely to the extent necessary for performing the Services for the benefit of ACI, ACI’s Affiliates
and other End Users as directed by ACI.  ACI
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Software shall be made available to Vendor in such form and on such media as exists on the Effective Date or as is later obtained by ACI, together with
available documentation and any other related materials.

 
(b)                                 Vendor shall not modify, decompile, reverse engineer, reverse assemble or reverse compile any ACI Software or any Software licensed to

ACI; distribute, rent, lease, sublicense or transfer any ACI Software to any third party; use the ACI Software in a service bureau or time-sharing arrangement;
or otherwise allow direct or indirect use of any ACI Software by any third party other Approved Subcontractors to the extent necessary for Vendor to perform
the Services without the prior written consent of ACI, which may be withheld at ACI’s sole discretion.  Vendor shall not use ACI Software for the benefit of
any entities other than ACI, ACI’s Affiliates and other End Users, without the prior written consent of ACI, which may be withheld at ACI’s sole discretion. 
Except as otherwise requested or approved by ACI, Vendor shall cease all use of ACI Software upon expiration or termination of this Agreement and deliver
to ACI or destroy any copies of such ACI Software.

 
7.2                               Vendor Software.
 

(a)                                  Subject to Section 7.4, Vendor retains all right, title and interest in and to Vendor Software, including all modifications, enhancements and
derivative works relating thereto.  In providing the Services, Vendor shall not use any Vendor Software without ACI’s prior written approval, which approval
shall not be unreasonably withheld; provided, however that Vendor may use any Vendor Software to be used as Shared Software without approval from ACI. 
Vendor shall be responsible for installing, operating and maintaining Vendor Software at its own expense.

 
(b)                                 As and to the extent necessary for ACI to receive the Services and otherwise obtain the benefits as specified this Agreement, Vendor grants

to ACI a worldwide, fully paid-up, nonexclusive license during the Term to use Vendor Software as it exists from time to time during the Term to receive the
Services during the Term and otherwise obtain the benefits as specified this Agreement.  Subject to the execution of reasonable confidentiality agreements
with the third party, Vendor also grants to ACI the right to sublicense Vendor Software to a third party for such third party to perform work as permitted under
Section 21.9 of this Agreement solely for the benefit of ACI, ACI’s Affiliates and End Users.

 
(c)                                  For generally commercially available Vendor Software which on the date of expiration or termination of this Agreement Vendor, ACI and

ACI Affiliates are using:
 

(i)                                     solely to provide the Services to ACI:
 

(A)                              which Vendor licenses from a third party, subject to the consent of the third party, Vendor will assign its license, if any, to
such software to ACI or its designee upon ACI’s reimbursement to Vendor of any transfer fees imposed by a third party for ISV Software, and any one-time
license or purchase charges in an amount equal to the remaining unamortized value, if any, for the software, depreciated over a period beginning on the date
such charges were incurred and ending on the Termination/Expiration Date (as of the date such charges were incurred); and

 
(B)                                which is Vendor Software, Vendor will provide ACI under Vendor’s standard terms and conditions, a license to such

Software upon ACI’s reimbursement to Vendor of any one-time license fees in an amount equal to the lower of (a) Vendor’s commercially available price at
the time or (b) the discount generally applicable to ACI based on the discount it generally receives at the time the Agreement is terminated, in each case of
(a) and (b) prorated over a period starting on the date the cost was incurred and ending on the Termination/Expiration Date; and
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(C)                                for all Software subject to clauses (A) and (B) of this subsection, ACI will reimburse Vendor for any recurring periodic

license, maintenance, support or other charges applicable to periods after the date of transfer or license to ACI, and ACI will be responsible for any additional
recurring charges applicable to periods after such date of transfer or license; and

 
(D)                               to provide Services to ACI and other customers in a shared environment, Vendor will use Commercially Reasonable

Efforts to assist ACI in obtaining licenses for such software at ACI’s expense.
 

(d)                                 For non-commercially available Vendor Software which on the date of expiration or termination of this Agreement Vendor is using to
provide the Services, Vendor grants to ACI a worldwide, fully paid-up, nonexclusive license during the Termination/Expiration Assistance Period to use such
non-commercially available Vendor Software solely to provide Services to ACI.  Subject to the execution of reasonable confidentiality agreements with the



third party, Vendor also grants to ACI the right to sublicense such non-commercially available Vendor Software to a third party for such third party to perform
work during the Termination/Expiration Transition Period solely for the benefit of ACI, ACI Affiliates and End Users.

 
(e)                                  As of the Effective Date, the Parties do not intend for Vendor to use any Vendor Application Software other than for Vendor’s own internal

or administrative use.  If during the Term the Parties agree that the scope of the Services should be expanded such that Vendor should use Vendor Application
Software, they shall enter into a separate written agreement governing such use.  Absent such agreement, ACI shall have no express or implied right to use
Vendor Application Software.

 
7.3                               ISV Software.
 

(a)                                  Grant of Rights.  With respect to the ISV Software licensed by ACI, subject to the Parties having obtained any Required Consents for such
ISV Software, ACI grants to Vendor to the extent necessary for performing the Services, the rights of use of such Software that ACI has as of the Effective
Date or later obtains during the Term with respect to such Software.  Vendor shall comply with the duties, including use and non-disclosure restrictions
imposed on ACI by the licenses for such ISV Software, and Vendor shall not seek to modify or otherwise revoke the terms of such licenses without ACI’s
prior written consent to the extent that such duties and/or licenses have been provided in writing to Vendor prior to such compliance obligation.  Except as
otherwise requested or approved by ACI, or with respect to operating system Software that (i) is licensed for use on Equipment that ACI does not elect to
purchase or assume the lease pursuant to Section 21.9 and (ii) may not be transferred to ACI for use on other Equipment, Vendor shall cease all use of such
Software upon expiration or termination of this Agreement.

 
(b)                                 Third Party Applications Software.  Vendor shall not use or introduce, nor seek compensation or reimbursement for, any Third Party

Applications Software in providing the Services without ACI’s prior written approval, which will not be unreasonably withheld.
 
(c)                                  Third Party Systems Software Acquired During the Term.  With respect to any Third Party Systems Software acquisitions that are made in

Vendor’s name, prior to the introduction of such Software, Vendor shall comply with the following:
 

 
(i)                                     Vendor shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain for ACI, ACI Affiliates and End Users a perpetual, non-exclusive

license to Use such Software at the expiration or termination of this Agreement and at no additional charge to ACI; or
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(ii)                                  If Vendor is unable to obtain such license, Vendor shall notify ACI of its inability to obtain such a license and of the cost and
viability of any other software that can perform the requisite functions and with respect to which Vendor has the ability to obtain such a license.  Such notice
shall contain the proposed third-party vendor’s then-current terms and conditions, if any, for licensing the software to ACI in accordance with Section 7.3(c)
(i).  With ACI’s prior approval, Vendor may introduce such software in providing the Services.  Moreover, if Vendor desires to introduce Software, the rights
to which have been acquired by Vendor as part of an enterprise agreement, then Vendor shall notify ACI of the relevant terms of such agreement and shall
obtain ACI’s written consent prior to using such Software to provide the Services.

 
(d)                                 Exercise of Rights.  To the extent Vendor has financial responsibility for licenses for Third Party Systems Software, but such licenses

remain in ACI’s name, ACI shall exercise termination or extension rights thereunder, as Vendor, after consultation with ACI, reasonably directs with respect
to such Software; provided that Vendor shall be responsible for the costs, charges and fees associated with the exercise of such rights.

 
7.4                               Rights in Newly Developed Software and Other Materials.
 

(a)                                  Newly Developed Software.
 

(i)                                     “Developed ACI Software” As between ACI and Vendor, all developed Software that is (a) a modification, enhancement or
derivative work of the ACI Software (called “Developed ACI Software”) (b) newly developed software that Vendor develops for ACI on a project basis; and
(c) modifications to, or upgrades or enhancements or derivative works of, ISV Software provided by ACI under this Agreement shall be owned by ACI.  ACI
shall have all right, title and interest, including worldwide ownership of trade secret, copyright, patent and other proprietary rights in and to the Developed
ACI Software and all copies made therefrom.  To the extent that any of the Developed ACI Software is not deemed a “work made for hire” by operation of
law, Vendor hereby irrevocably assigns, transfers and conveys, and shall cause Vendor Personnel to assign, transfer and convey, to ACI, without further
consideration, all of its or their right, title and interest in and to such Developed ACI Software, including all rights of patent, copyright, trade secret or other
proprietary rights in such Developed ACI Software.  Vendor acknowledges, and shall cause Vendor Personnel to acknowledge, that ACI and the successors
and permitted assigns of ACI shall have the right to obtain and hold in their own names any Intellectual Property Rights in and to the Developed ACI
Software.  Vendor agrees to execute, and shall cause Vendor Personnel to execute, any documents or take any other actions as may reasonably be necessary,
or as ACI may reasonably request, at ACI’s expense, to perfect ACI’s ownership of any such Developed ACI Software.  ACI hereby grants Vendor a fully
paid-up, non-exclusive, worldwide license to use Developed ACI Software solely to provide the Services during the Term and the Termination/Expiration
Assistance Period, which includes the right to sublicense and otherwise permit Vendor subcontractors to do any of the foregoing.  Vendor shall not be
permitted to use Developed ACI Software for the benefit of any entities other than ACI, ACI’s Affiliates, and other End Users, without the prior written
consent of ACI, which may be withheld at ACI’s sole discretion.  Except as otherwise requested or approved by ACI, Vendor shall cease all use of Developed
ACI Software upon expiration or termination of this Agreement and deliver to ACI or destroy any copies in its possession.  No further license is granted to
Vendor with respect to Developed ACI Software.  However, both Parties are free to use any ideas, concepts, know-how, or techniques which are developed or
provided by the other or jointly by both Parties during a Project.  Both Parties are free to enter into similar agreements with others and to develop and provide
materials or Services which are similar to those provided under this Agreement.

 
(ii)                                  “Developed Vendor Software” shall mean: (a) modifications to, or upgrades or enhancements or derivative works of, Vendor

Software; (b) newly developed software for which Vendor
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does not charge ACI on a project basis; and (c) modifications to, or enhancements or derivative works of, ISV Software provided by Vendor under this
Agreement.  Developed Vendor Software shall also include methods of providing the Services, such as a work-flow, where such methods were developed



under this Agreement. As between the Parties, Vendor shall have all rights, title and interest in and to Developed Vendor Software and all copies made from
it.  Vendor hereby grants to ACI a perpetual, fully paid-up, non-exclusive, worldwide license to: (i) use all Developed Vendor Software (other than with
respect to the Software which Vendor is not entitled to license to ACI under Vendor’s license with the third party and which ACI is not entitled to use under
its own license agreements with the third party) solely to provide services similar to the Services for itself or services for the processing of approximately the
volume of ACI’s business that existed during the Term; and (ii) permit third parties to use all Developed Vendor Software (other than with respect to the ISV
Software that Vendor is not entitled under its license agreement with the ISV Software vendor to license to third parties unless such third parties are entitled to
use under their own license agreements with the third party) solely to provide services similar to the Services for ACI.

 
(b)                                 Non-Software Materials.  All literary works or other works of authorship including manuals, training materials and documentation

developed or created by Vendor or any Vendor Personnel in accordance with this Agreement or Schedule A (Statement of Work) specifically and exclusively
for ACI, or at the written request of and specifically for ACI or its Affiliates pursuant to a Project or the Change Control Procedures under this Agreement,
but excluding Developed ACI Software, Developed Vendor Software and any Vendor Preexisting IP incorporated into any of the foregoing (collectively
herein referred to as “Work Product”) shall be exclusively owned by ACI.  ACI shall have all right, title and interest, including worldwide ownership of
copyright, in and to the Work Product and all copies made from them.  To the extent any of the Work Product is not deemed a “work made for hire” by-
operation of law, Vendor hereby irrevocably assigns, transfers and conveys, and shall cause Vendor Personnel to assign, transfer and convey, to ACI without
further consideration all, of its or their right, title and interest in and to such Work Product, including all rights of copyright in such materials.  Vendor
acknowledges, and shall cause Vendor Personnel to acknowledge, that ACI and the successors and permitted assigns of ACI shall have the right to obtain and
hold in their own name any copyrights in and to such Work Product.  Vendor agrees to execute, and shall cause Vendor Personnel to execute, any documents
or take any other actions as may reasonably be necessary, or as ACI may reasonably request, at ACI’s expense, to perfect ACI’s ownership of any such Work
Product. Nothing in Section 7.4 will be interpreted or construed to assign to ACI (and, except as licensed to the ACI under this Agreement, Vendor reserves
all right, title and interest that Vendor may have or acquire in) any proprietary software, tools, utilities, methodologies, processes, documentation and other
items (i) that are developed by or on behalf of Vendor in performance of the Services (including all modifications, enhancements, and derivative works of the
Vendor Software and/or tools made by or on behalf of ACI under Section 7.4 excluding all Work Product, Developed ACI Software and any ACI Data or
other materials or information provided by ACI to Vendor for use in connection with such development (“Vendor Developed IP”), or (ii) that were created or
acquired by Vendor prior to the Effective Date, or was developed or acquired by Vendor outside the scope of this Agreement (and without the use of ACI
Confidential Information), and inserted or incorporated within any Work Product or Developed Vendor  Software with the prior written consent of ACI
(“Vendor Preexisting IP”).  To the extent: (i) any Work Product or Developed Vendor Software contains any Vendor Preexisting IP, or (ii) Vendor Developed
IP has been provided to ACI under this Agreement or has been used to provide Services to ACI under this Agreement, or (iii) use of any Work Product or
Developed Vendor Software requires any Vendor Developed IP or Vendor Preexisting IP, Vendor grants to ACI a royalty-free, worldwide, non-exclusive
copyright license to such Vendor Developed IP or Vendor Preexisting IP, during the Term and the Termination/Expiration Assistance Period solely in
connection with internal use of the Work Product, Developed Vendor Software or Vendor Developed IP that is actually provided to ACI under this Agreement
or is actually used to provide Services to ACI under this Agreement.  ACI hereby grants Vendor an irrevocable, fully paid-up, non-exclusive,
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worldwide license to use the Work Product solely to provide the Services during the Term and the Termination/Expiration Assistance Period, which includes
the right to sublicense and otherwise permit third parties to do any of the foregoing.

 
7.5                               Export.
 

The Parties acknowledge that certain Software and technical data to be provided under this Agreement and certain transactions under this Agreement
may be subject to export controls under the laws and regulations of the United States of America and other countries.  Neither Party shall export or re-export
any such items or any direct product thereof or undertake any transaction in violation of any such laws or regulations.

 
8.                                      OFFICE SPACE
 
8.1                               ACI Obligations.
 

(a)                                  Subject to Section 8.2(a), below, ACI shall provide to Vendor the office space reasonably needed and comparable to similarly situated
employees of ACI to accommodate Vendor Personnel who are on site at the End User Locations (the “ACI Office Space”), as the same may be changed by
ACI from time to time throughout the Term.  With respect to such ACI Office Space, except as otherwise provided in this Article 8, Vendor shall have the
same privileges regarding use thereof (such as heating, lights, air conditioning systems, use of cafeteria, etc. (excluding parking privileges)) as do any other
similarly situated employees of ACI.  Furthermore, those Vendor employees who are performing Services or any portion of the Services from ACI Office
Space, shall be free to use and consume, at no cost to Vendor, a reasonable amount of office supplies (such as pencils, pens, pads, copy machines and
facsimile machines) that are ordinarily furnished by ACI to its personnel, and in accordance with the same policies and procedures regarding the use of office
supplies and services as are applicable to similarly-situated ACI employees, as such policies and procedures may be modified from time to time to the extent
such policies are provided to Vendor in writing.  Vendor shall be responsible for providing all other facilities required to perform the Services.

 
(b)                                 ACI shall retain the costs of applicable facilities leases and related leasehold improvements with respect to the ACI Office Space to the

extent required by the applicable facilities leases and related documents.
 
(c)                                  The ACI Office Space shall be made available to Vendor on an “AS IS” basis, with no warranties whatsoever.
 
(d)                                 ACI shall inform Vendor of any plans or determination to relocate the ACI Office Space so that Vendor shall have a reasonable amount of

time to prepare for and implement such change or relocation as it impacts Vendor.  ACI shall reimburse Vendor for Vendor’s Out-of-Pocket Expenses incurred
in connection with such relocation in accordance with Section 3.10.

 
8.2                               Vendor Obligations within ACI Office Space.

 
(a)                                  Vendor shall use the ACI Office Space for the sole and exclusive purpose of providing the Services, unless in its sole discretion ACI

approves another use in advance and in writing.  Accordingly, Vendor and its agents may not provide or market services to a third party from the ACI Office
Space.  The use of ACI Office Space by Vendor shall not constitute a leasehold, a usufruct or other property interest in favor of Vendor.  Notwithstanding any
provision in this Agreement to the contrary, in no event may Vendor file a notice of lease or comparable instrument on the applicable land.
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(b)                                 Vendor shall use the ACI Office Space in an efficient manner and in a manner that is coordinated, and does not interfere, with ACI’s other

business operations.  To the extent that Vendor operates the space in a manner that unnecessarily or unreasonably increases facility or other costs incurred by
ACI, ACI reserves the right to deduct such costs pursuant to Section 14.7 of this Agreement.

 
(c)                                  Vendor shall be responsible for any damage to the ACI Office Space resulting from the abuse, misuse, neglect or negligence of Vendor or

other failure to comply with the obligations respecting the ACI Office Space.
 
(d)                                 Vendor shall keep the ACI Office Space in good order, not commit or permit waste or damage to ACI Office Space or use ACI Office Space

for any unlawful purpose or act, and shall comply with ACI’s standard policies and procedures and with applicable leases regarding access to and use of the
ACI Office Space, including procedures for the physical security of the ACI Office Space to the extent such policies, procedures and lease information has
been provided to Vendor in writing.

 
(e)                                  Subject to compliance with Vendor’s reasonable security requirements and reasonable advance notice (where practical given the nature of

access required), Vendor shall permit ACI and its agents and representatives to enter into those portions of the ACI Office Space occupied by Vendor staff at
any time to (i) inspect the premises; (ii) show the premises; and (iii) perform facilities-related services.

 
(f)                                    Vendor shall not make improvements or changes involving structural, mechanical or electrical alterations to the ACI Office Space without

ACI’s prior written approval.  At ACI’s option, any improvements or fixtures to the ACI Office Space shall become the property of ACI.  If ACI does not
elect to take title thereto Vendor shall remove the same at the end of the use of the ACI Office Space and shall repair any damage caused by the installation or
removal of such improvements or fixtures.

 
(g)                                 Vendor will comply with the physical safety and security procedures that are applicable to the ACI Office Space from time to time to the

extent such procedures are provided to Vendor in writing.
 
(h)                                 When the ACI Office Space is no longer required for performance of the Services, Vendor shall return them to ACI in substantially the

same condition as when Vendor began use of them, subject to reasonable wear and tear.
 

8.3                               Use of Vendor Facilities by ACI.
 

Vendor will make available to ACI reasonable office space and office facilities when ACI personnel are onsite at Vendor facilities, including desks,
telephones and internet connectivity.

 
9.                                      SERVICE LEVELS
 
9.1                               General.
 

Vendor shall perform the Services that are subject to Service Levels in a manner that meets or exceeds the service levels set forth in Schedule B
(Service Levels) (“Service Levels”).  Vendor will provide all Services without expressly defined Service Levels with at least the same degree of accuracy,
quality, completeness, timeliness, responsiveness and efficiency as the greater of (i) the level provided by or for ACI prior to the Effective Date, or (ii) at
levels consistent with the warranty provided in Section 16.2.
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9.2                               Failure to Perform.
 

If Vendor fails to meet any Service Level twice consecutively or any Critical Service Level, Vendor shall promptly (taking into consideration the
severity of the failure): (a) investigate, assemble and preserve pertinent information with respect to, and report to ACI on the causes of, the problem causing
the Service Level failure, including performing a root cause analysis of the problem; (b) advise ACI, as and to the extent requested by ACI, of the status of
remedial efforts being undertaken with respect to such problem; (c) minimize the impact of and correct such problem to begin meeting the Service Level; and
(d) take appropriate preventive measures to minimize the recurrence of the problem.  Vendor shall correct any such failure, whether or not material, as soon as
possible after Vendor becomes aware of such failure; provided, however, that, in the event the root cause analysis demonstrates that Vendor was not at fault in
failing to meet the Service Level or if such failure is due to an exception to Service Level performance expressly set forth in Schedule B (Service Levels), and
Vendor is unable to perform remediation efforts without incurring additional expense or adding significant additional resources, ACI may elect to either
(i) reprioritize the Services, in which event Vendor will perform the activities reflected in (b), (c) or (d) above, or (ii) authorize Vendor to perform the
remediation as a Project.

 
9.3                               Critical Service Levels and Service Level Credits.
 

Vendor recognizes that its failure to meet those Service Levels identified in Schedule B (Service Levels) as critical Service Levels (“Critical Service
Levels”) may have a material adverse impact on the business and operations of ACI and that the damage from Vendor’s failure to meet a Critical Service
Level is not susceptible to precise determination.  Accordingly, if Vendor fails to meet Critical Service Levels, then in addition to any other remedies available
to ACI under this Agreement, Vendor shall pay or credit to ACI the performance credits specified in Schedule B (Service Levels) (“Service Level Credits”) in
recognition of the diminished value of the Services resulting from Vendor’s failure to meet the agreed upon level of performance, and not as a penalty.  The
methodology for calculating such Service Level Credits is set forth in Schedule B (Service Levels).  ACI may from time to time, in accordance with the
limitations set forth in Schedule B (Service Levels), change the Allocation of Pool Percentage and/or Service Level Credit Allocation Percentage, each as
defined in and subject to the limitations set forth in Schedule B (Service Levels).  This Section 9.3 or the Service Level Credits shall not limit ACI’s rights to
terminate this Agreement for cause or pursue other damages.

 
9.4                               Priority of Recovery Following Interruption of Services.
 



If a Force Majeure Event or other occurrence creates an interruption in Vendor’s rendition of the Services, Vendor shall give the recovery of its
capabilities to perform the Services and the resumption of its actual performance of the Services the same or greater priority it gives to recovering its
capabilities to perform services and resuming its performance of those services for any other similarly situated customer of Vendor (and Vendor’s own
operations).

 
9.5                               User Satisfaction.
 

Vendor and ACI shall conduct satisfaction surveys in accordance with Schedule K (User Satisfaction Survey Guidelines).  The surveys shall be
designed to determine the level of user satisfaction and areas where user satisfaction can be improved.  Such surveys shall include representative samples of
each major category of user within ACI and may include a number of in-depth face-to-face or telephone interviews.  Vendor and ACI shall mutually agree on
the form and content of the surveys, which shall be no less thorough than Vendor’s customary user satisfaction program as set forth in Schedule K (User
Satisfaction Survey Guidelines).  The Parties shall jointly review the results of the surveys, and Vendor shall develop and implement a plan to improve user
satisfaction in areas where user satisfaction is low.  ACI’s satisfaction as indicated in the survey results will be a factor in determining the compensation for
all individuals holding Key Vendor Positions.
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9.6                               Periodic Reviews and Adjustments to Service Levels.
 

(a)                                  Without limitation of Schedule B (Service Levels), every six (6) months (or as otherwise mutually agreed by the Parties) starting twelve
(12) months after the Effective Date, ACI and Vendor shall review the Service Levels.  During such reviews, Vendor shall work with ACI to identify possible
cost/Service Level tradeoffs (but any resulting changes in the Service Levels shall be implemented only if approved by ACI in its sole discretion).  Upon such
review, ACI may, in accordance with Schedule B (Service Levels), adjust the applicable Service Levels.

 
(b)                                 In accordance with Schedule B, ACI may change (i) the Service Levels to reflect its changing business needs, including by adding or

removing a Service Level, or (ii) one or more of the calculation metrics and other mechanisms used to determine the Service Level (a “Changed Service
Level”).  Except as otherwise specified in Schedule B (Service Levels), Changed Service Level will take effect sixty (60) days after ACI gives Vendor a
notice specifying the Changed Service Level.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Vendor acknowledges that ACI customers may from time to time require faster
implementation of new or revised Service Levels that pertain to the On Demand environment, and Vendor will use all Commercially Reasonable Efforts to
implement such new Service Levels or modifications as quickly as possible.  If Vendor can demonstrate to ACI’s reasonable satisfaction that such Changed
Service Level or On Demand Service Levels will materially increase Vendor’s cost of performing the Services in accordance with the Changed Service Level,
ACI may only add that Changed Service Level or On Demand Service Level if:

 
(i)                                     Vendor agrees; or
 
(ii)                                  Vendor does not agree, but: (a) ACI removes an existing Service Level at the same time as introducing a Changed Service Level

and the cost of providing the Services in accordance with the Changed Service Level and the cost of achieving, measuring and reporting on such Changed
Service Level is not materially higher than the cost of providing the Services under the existing Service Level and the cost of achieving, measuring and
reporting on the existing Service Level; or (b) ACI agrees to pay Vendor for its incremental cost of providing the Services under the Changed Service Level
and the cost of achieving, measuring and reporting on the Changed Service Level.

 
(c)                                  Any disputes in respect of such incremental cost will be subject to the dispute resolution provisions of this Agreement.  If the Changed

Service Level has associated Service Level Credits, ACI will adjust the then-current aggregate percentage allowed, subject to any limitations set forth in
Schedule B (Service Levels).

 
(d)                                 The Parties expect and understand that the Service Levels shall be improved over time.  Therefore, each Service Level will be reset

annually in accordance with the terms of Schedule B (Service Levels) governing continuous improvement of Service Levels.
 
(e)                                  As new technologies and processes are introduced, subject to Section 9.6(b) above, the Parties shall establish additional Service Levels

reflecting industry best practices for those technologies and processes.  Vendor will, on a regular basis, attempt to identify ways to improve the Service
Levels.  Vendor will, from time to time, include updates with respect to such improvements in the reports provided to ACI in connection with such Service
Levels.
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9.7                               Measurement and Reporting.
 

(a)                                  In addition to Critical Service Levels, Schedule B (Service Levels) also sets forth certain key measurements with associated service level
expectations (“Key Measurements”).  Vendor will measure its performance of the Services against such Key Measurements, will report such performance to
ACI on a monthly basis and will strive to improve its performance related to such Key Measurements over the course of the Term.  For each Key
Measurement, Vendor will either use ACI’s existing methodology for measuring and reporting the Key Measurement or (if no such methodology exists)
Vendor will formulate and propose to ACI a comprehensive, accurate and sufficiently detailed, measurement scope, calculation and reporting methodology.

 
(b)                                 Vendor shall utilize the necessary measurement and monitoring tools and procedures required to measure and report Vendor’s performance

of the Services against the applicable Service Levels.  Such measurement and monitoring shall permit reporting at a level of detail sufficient to verify
compliance with the Service Levels, and shall be subject to audit by ACI.  Vendor shall provide ACI with (i) performance and measurement data, for purposes
of verification, project and contract management; (ii) problem management data and other data regarding the status of incidents, problems, Service Requests
and Authorized User inquiries; and (iii) access to the data used by Vendor to calculate its performance against the Service Levels and procedures utilized by
Vendor to generate such data for purposes of audit and verification.  ACI shall not be required to pay any amount in addition to the Charges for such
measurement and monitoring tools or the resource utilization associated with their use.

 



(c)                                  The raw data, the detailed supporting information, and the reports delivered to ACI under this Agreement relating to Service Levels and
performance under this Agreement (“Performance Information”) will be ACI Data for the purposes of this Agreement.  Vendor may only use Performance
Information in the course of providing the Services and for its internal business purposes and will provide material containing that Performance Information
to ACI promptly on request.  Vendor may also use aggregated data derived from Performance Information for external purposes provided that such
aggregated data is not identifiable as relating to ACI.

 
10.                               PROJECT AND CONTRACT MANAGEMENT
 
10.1                        Governance Guidelines and Principles.

 
Governance of the Parties’ relationship pursuant to this Agreement will follow the guidelines and principles set out in Schedule S (Governance), as

such guidelines and principles are amended or supplemented by the Parties from time to time during the Term.
 

10.2                        Executive Steering Committee.
 
The Parties shall form a steering committee to facilitate communications between them (the “Executive Steering Committee”).  The members,

activities and responsibilities of the Executive Steering Committee are set forth in Schedule S (Governance).
 

10.3                        Reports.
 

(a)                                  Prior to an applicable Service Tower Commencement Date, the Parties shall determine an appropriate set of periodic reports to be issued by
Vendor to ACI with respect to such Service Tower.  For reports that relate to Services provided across multiple Service Towers, such reports shall be
established prior to the first Service Tower Commencement Date for the Service Towers the report is intended to cover.  Such reports shall be issued at the
frequency set forth in Schedule R (Reports).  An initial list of all such reports (including a description of the frequency of such reports) is set forth in
Schedule R (Reports).
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Vendor shall provide ACI with suggested formats for such reports for ACI’s review and approval.

 
(b)                                 Vendor’s reports shall include, at a minimum, (i) reports consistent with ACI’s practice prior to the applicable Service Tower

Commencement Date; and (ii) a monthly performance report, which shall be delivered to ACI within ten (10) Business Days after the end of each month,
describing Vendor’s performance of the Services in such month (the “Monthly Performance Report”).

 
(c)                                  Vendor shall enable ACI to (i) access reports (both management and operational reports) online; (ii) access supporting information for

reports; and (iii) compile such reports and supporting information in order to generate new reports.
 

10.4                        Meetings.
 

(a)                                  The Parties shall conduct periodic meetings that shall, at a minimum, include the following:
 
(i)                                     a weekly meeting of the ACI Project Office Executive and the Vendor Delivery Project Executive to discuss day-to-day operations

and such other matters as appropriate;
 
(ii)                                  a monthly meeting among operational personnel representing ACI and Vendor to discuss the Monthly Performance Report, daily

performance, planned or anticipated activities and changes that might adversely affect performance, and otherwise to address, review and discuss matters
specific to ACI;

 
(iii)                               a quarterly management meeting of the Steering Committee to review the reports for the quarter (including the Monthly

Performance Reports), review Vendor’s overall performance under this Agreement, review progress on the resolution of issues, provide a strategic outlook for
ACI’s service requirements, and discuss such other matters as appropriate;

 
(iv)                              a semi-annual senior management meeting by the Parties to review relevant contract and performance issues; and
 
(v)                                 such other meetings between ACI representatives and Vendor Personnel reasonably requested by either Party as necessary to

address performance of the Services.
 

(b)                                 Vendor shall prepare and circulate an agenda sufficiently in advance of each such meeting to give participants an opportunity to prepare for
the meeting.  Vendor shall incorporate into such agenda items that ACI desires to discuss.  For each meeting held between representatives of Vendor and ACI,
Vendor shall prepare and circulate detailed, precise, complete and accurate minutes reporting, at a minimum all decisions reached during the meeting and for
each such decision, which Party representative raised the issue, a summary of the major points for and in opposition of each issue and the results or actions
agreed upon, promptly after a meeting, although ACI shall not be bound thereto and shall be under no obligation to correct or object to any errors therein.

 
10.5                        Procedures Manuals.
 

(a)                                  The “Procedures Manual” shall describe the method that Vendor will use to perform and deliver the Services under this Agreement, the
Equipment and Software being used, and the documentation (e.g., operations manuals, user guides, specifications) which provide further details of

 
26

 
such activities.  Procedures Manuals shall also describe the activities Vendor will undertake in order to provide the Services, including those direction,
supervision, monitoring, reporting, planning and oversight activities normally undertaken to provide services of the type Vendor is to provide under this



Agreement.  Procedures Manuals also shall include descriptions of the acceptance testing and quality assurance procedures approved by ACI, Vendor’s
problem management and escalation procedures, and the other standards and procedures of Vendor pertinent to ACI’s interaction with Vendor in obtaining the
Services.  Procedures Manuals shall be written explicitly and comprehensively enough to describe how the Services will be performed.  Vendor will make all
Procedures Manuals available for access by ACI on-line as well as in hard copy.

 
(b)                                 Vendor will provide for ACI’s review and consent an outline of the Procedures Manual applicable to that Service Tower on the dates

specified in Exhibit B-3 (Critical Deliverables).  Within forty-five (45) days after such dates, Vendor shall deliver a draft Procedures Manual with respect to
such Service Tower to ACI for ACI’s comments and review.  Vendor shall incorporate comments or suggestions of ACI and shall finalize the Procedures
Manual thirty (30) days after receiving ACI’s comments on the Procedures Manual.  The final Procedures Manual shall be subject to the approval of ACI. 
Vendor shall periodically, but no less than semi-annually, update Procedures Manuals for all Service Towers to reflect changes in the operations or procedures
described therein.  Updates of the Procedures Manuals shall be provided to ACI for review, comment and approval.  Vendor shall perform the Services in
accordance with the Procedures Manuals.  In the event of a conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and the Procedures Manuals, the provisions of
this Agreement shall control.  Until the Parties agree upon a Procedures Manual pursuant to this Section 10.5, Vendor will follow the ACI procedures which
were in effect on the applicable Service Tower Commencement Date to the extent that such procedures have been provided to Vendor in writing.

 
10.6                        Change Control.
 

(a)                                  Technical Change Control.
 

(i)                                     At all times ACI shall be responsible for establishing ACI’s IT architecture, standards and strategic direction; provided, however,
that Vendor shall actively participate in and provide subject matter expertise to ACI as it establishes such IT architecture, standards and strategic direction.  In
performing the Services, Vendor shall conform with and shall support such architecture, standards and strategic direction in accordance with the technical
change control procedures defined in this Section 10.6 and in the Procedures Manual.

 
(ii)                                  Vendor shall be responsible for all Changes to ACI’s IT environment pertaining to the Services, including Changes to programs,

Procedures Manuals, job control language statements, distribution parameters and schedules.  Vendor shall comply with the following Change control
requirements:

 
(A)                              Prior to using any new Systems Software or new Equipment to provide the Services, Vendor shall have verified that the

item is (1) consistent with the IT architecture, standards and strategic direction specified by ACI, (2) has been properly installed, is operating in accordance
with its specifications, (3) is performing its intended functions in a reliable manner, and (4) has been thoroughly tested and been proven compatible with and
within ACI’s then-existing IT infrastructure environment.

 
(B)                                Vendor may make temporary Changes required by an emergency if, after making Commercially Reasonable Efforts,

Vendor has been unable to contact an appropriate ACI
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manager to discuss Vendor’s proposed actions.  Vendor shall document and promptly report such emergency Changes to ACI, which Changes shall then be
subject to ACI’s approval.

 
(C)                                Vendor shall not make the following Changes, including implementing a Change in technology, without first obtaining

ACI’s approval, which such approval ACI may withhold in its discretion:
 

(1)                                  a Change adversely affecting the function or performance of, or decreasing to any significant degree the resource efficiency of, the Services;
 
(2)                                  a Change increasing ACI’s Charges under this Agreement or other costs or fees of ACI;
 
(3)                                  a Change inconsistent with ACI’s physical or information security policies or procedures to the extent such policies or procedures have been
provided to Vendor in writing and in advance;
 
(4)                                  a Change impacting the safety or security of ACI personnel, resources or information;
 
(5)                                  a Change inconsistent with the IT architecture, standards or strategic direction specified by ACI; or
 
(6)                                  a Change impacting the way in which ACI conducts its business or operations which impact ACI considers to be adverse.

 
(D)                               Vendor shall move programs from development and test environments to production environments in a controlled,

documented and auditable manner, so that no Changes are introduced into the programs during such activity, and with the full capability of restoring to the
prior state until the programs have been established as fully operational.

 
(iii)                               Within ninety (90) days after the Effective Date, Vendor shall propose a detailed technical change control procedure, to be set

forth in the Procedures Manual, detailing how Vendor will comply with the requirements set forth in this Section 10.6 and otherwise control Changes to ACI’s
IT environment pertaining to the Services throughout the Term.  Vendor shall incorporate comments or suggestions of ACI and shall finalize the technical
change control procedure thirty (30) days after receiving ACI’s comments.  The technical change control procedure may be used to identify the need for the
Parties to amend this Agreement.  ACI shall have the right to approve in advance any action or decision of Vendor materially affecting the provision of
Services, including Equipment, Software and systems configuration.  ACI shall have the right to set priorities in scheduling work.  If, in accordance with the
Procedures Manual, ACI requests a change in priorities, Vendor shall strive to accommodate the change without negatively impacting the Service Levels; if
the Service Levels shall be impacted, Vendor shall notify ACI of the anticipated impact and the Parties shall agree on the approach to be taken.

 
(b)                                 Contractual Change Control.  In addition to the technical change control procedure, the Parties shall also implement a process for

documenting and mutually agreeing to Changes to this Agreement that are intended to be minor, non-material modifications to this Agreement.  To institute
and implement such a process (the “Contractual Change Control Procedure”), the Parties shall use that procedure reflected in Schedule U (Change Control



Procedure).  Any modifications to this Agreement made pursuant to the Contractual Change Control Procedure shall (i) be by mutual agreement of the
Parties, (ii) require appropriate executions by the Parties to evidence such agreement, and (iii) be deemed amendments to this Agreement.

 
28

 
(c)                                  In determining whether the Charges should be adjusted as a result of a Change implemented pursuant to this Section 10.6, the Parties shall

be guided by the following principles:
 

(i)                                     To the extent and for so long as such a Change can be performed in accordance with the Service Levels without a material increase
in the resources then being utilized by Vendor therefore and is not a New Service, there will be no adjustment to the Charges.

 
(ii)                                  In the event such increase cannot reasonably be accommodated without a change in priorities or a material increase in the

resources then being utilized by Vendor for the performance of the Services (and ACI so requests), Vendor and ACI will work together to adjust the Service
Levels and priorities with respect to other Services being performed by Vendor so as to permit such Change to be implemented without an increase in
Vendor’s Charges.

 
(iii)                               A Change that is required to cure a defective Deliverable or other Service default resulting from Vendors action or inaction will be

provided at no additional Charge.
 
(iv)                              If such a Change cannot be implemented without an increase in the Charges, and ACI agrees to implement the Change, then, if

such Change can be reasonably performed on a time and material basis, the increase in Charges shall be calculated using the applicable time and materials
rates set forth in Exhibit C-1 (Base Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates and Termination Charges).  If such work cannot be reasonably performed on a time
and material basis, then the Change shall be implemented at a price to be mutually agreed to by the Parties in writing.

 
(v)                                 To the extent that such a Change causes a reduction in the scope of the Services or priority of the Services that does not also cause

a reduction in the Vendor resources then being utilized therefore, there will be no adjustment to the Charges.
 
(vi)                              If such a Change results in a reduction of the resources required by Vendor to perform the Services and that reduction is not

reflected in the Charges through the Charges mechanism set forth in Schedule C (Charges), the Charges will be equitably adjusted by mutual written
agreement of the Parties.

 
(d)                                 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, including this Section 10.6, no Change that would result in an increase to ACI’s

Charges under this Agreement or to other costs or fees of ACI shall be implemented unless it has been approved, in advance and in writing, in accordance
with Schedule U (Change Control Procedure).

 
10.7                        Subcontracting.
 

(a)                                  Except as and to the extent ACI may agree otherwise in writing, Vendor may subcontract its obligations under this Agreement only in
accordance with the following:

 
(i)                                     Except as set forth below, Vendor may not delegate or subcontract any of its responsibilities under this Agreement (including to

Affiliates) without prior written approval of ACI, which ACI may withhold in its sole discretion.  Prior to entering into a subcontract with a third party,
Vendor shall give ACI not less than ten (10) Business Days’ prior written notice specifying the components of the Services affected, the scope of the proposed
subcontract, and the identity and qualifications of the proposed subcontractor.  Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, Vendor may, in the ordinary course of business and without notice to ACI, subcontract for any third-party service and/or product that (1) is not
material to any function constituting a
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part of the Services, and (2) does not result in a material change in the way Vendor conducts its business, provided such subcontract does not adversely affect
ACI, whether in performance of or Charges for the Services or otherwise.  Without limitation of the provisions set forth in Section 5.3, if ACI expresses
concerns to Vendor about a subcontract covered by this Section 10.7(a)(i), Vendor shall discuss such concerns with ACI and work in good faith to resolve
ACI’s concerns on a mutually acceptable basis.

 
(ii)                                  ACI may request that Vendor use a particular subcontractor in certain limited circumstances in which case Vendor will attempt to

use such proposed subcontractor unless Vendor persuades ACI that the use of such subcontractor would impair Vendor’s ability to satisfy the Service Levels
or such use would cause a Vendor to breach an agreement.  For purposes of clarity, Vendor Charges shall be equitably adjusted should the use of such ACI
requested subcontractor cause Vendors costs to increase.

 
(iii)                               ACI shall have the right to revoke its prior approval of a subcontractor and direct Vendor to replace such subcontractor if the

subcontractor’s performance is materially deficient, or there have been material misrepresentations by or concerning the subcontractor, or a subcontractor
which at the time approved is a majority owned Affiliate of Vendor ceases to be such an Affiliate.

 
(b)                                 Vendor shall remain responsible for obligations, services and functions performed by subcontractors to the same extent as if such

obligations, services and functions were performed by Vendor employees (including requiring subcontractors to adhere to the standards applicable to Vendor
and the policies and procedures then in effect, whether promulgated by ACI or Vendor) and for purposes of this Agreement such work shall be deemed
Services performed by Vendor.  Vendor shall be ACI’s sole point of contact regarding the Services performed by Vendor’s subcontractors, including with
respect to payment.  It is understood and agreed that, as between the Parties, Vendor shall be solely liable for all costs and payment obligations owed by
Vendor to its subcontractors and third parties in connection with the Services.

 
(c)                                  In addition to any other restrictions in this Agreement regarding confidentiality, Vendor shall not disclose ACI Confidential Information to a

subcontractor unless and until such subcontractor has agreed in writing to protect the confidentiality of such Confidential Information in a manner



substantially equivalent to that required of Vendor under this Agreement, and then only on a need-to-know basis.
 
(d)                                 To the extent subcontractors, agents, representatives or other entities perform the Services, Vendor shall cause such entities to comply with

the obligations and restrictions associated with the services, functions and responsibilities performed by such subcontractors, agents, representatives and other
entities that are applicable to Vendor under this Agreement  In addition, Vendor shall include in its subcontracts, as “flow-down” provisions, provisions
substantially similar to the provisions of this Agreement relating to compliance with Applicable Laws; audit; confidentiality, security and Intellectual Property
Rights of ACI; and each other provision which is necessary to assure that Vendor will fulfill its obligations under this Agreement.  In addition, all documents
(e.g., contracts) between Vendor and its subcontractors or other third parties relating to creative services shall contain a provision whereby the subcontractor
transfers intellectual property rights to customer-developed materials to Vendor or Vendor’s customers.

 
(e)                                  Vendor will, at ACI’s request, enforce the subcontracts as necessary to cause the subcontracted obligations to be fulfilled on Vendor’s behalf

in accordance with this Agreement.
 
(f)                                    Vendor shall exercise prudence and good business judgment in the selection and monitoring of performance of subcontractors.  In the event

of loss resulting from such failure of
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performance by any subcontractor, the burden shall be on Vendor to show that it complied with the aforesaid standard of selection and monitoring of the
subcontractor.

 
(g)                                 ACI may request at any time, and Vendor shall provide within thirty (30) calendar days of such request, a listing of all Vendor employees,

agents and subcontractors who are then performing Services under this Agreement, such listing to include basic information about each person including
name, job title and basic job function with respect to the Services.

 
(h)                                 Subcontractors as to which ACI has, as of the Effective Date, given the approvals required by this Section 10.7 are identified in Schedule N

(Approved Subcontractors).
 

10.8                        Technology Planning and Budgeting.
 

(a)                                  Technology Plan.  The Parties shall annually jointly prepare a technology plan in accordance with the provisions of this Section 10.8
(“Technology Plan”).  The Technology Plan shall address the IT requirements of ACI’s activities and future opportunities to enhance delivery of Services and
to reduce the costs of the Services through introduction of tools, procedures and other improvements into ACI’s IT environment (“Enhancement Activities”). 
Each Technology Plan after the first shall review and assess the immediately preceding Technology Plan.  The Technology Plan shall consist of a three-year
plan and an annual implementation plan as described below.

 
(b)                                 Targeted Cost Savings.  In addition to cost savings opportunities that apply generally to the Services to be discussed as a part of annual

knowledge sharing and technology planning processes, the Parties intend to more closely examine on an annual basis specific aspects of the Services for cost
savings opportunities.  The Parties will identify cost saving opportunities for a selected Service Tower each year of the Term.  The resulting plan shall outline
the activities to undertake in order for ACI to realize the anticipated cost savings if ACI chooses to pursue such opportunity and any gainsharing by the
Parties related to such anticipated cost savings.  In each subsequent Contract Year, the Parties will undertake a similar process for another Service Tower (one
Service Tower per Contract Year).

 
(c)                                  Three-Year Plan.  The Technology Plan shall include a comprehensive assessment and strategic analysis of ACI’s then-current IT systems

related to the Services including the ACI IT Standards and an assessment of the appropriate direction for such systems and services for the next three
(3) years in light of ACI’s business priorities and strategies and competitive market forces (to the extent such business information is provided by ACI to
Vendor).  The Technology Plan shall include:

 
(i)            a specific identification of proposed software and hardware strategies and direction;
 
(ii)           a cost/benefit analysis of any proposed Changes;
 
(iii)          a general plan and a projected time schedule for developing and achieving the recommended elements;
 
(iv)          the resulting impact on ACI information technology costs;
 
(v)           a description of the types of personnel skills and abilities needed to respond to any recommended Changes or upgrades in

technology;
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(vi)                              the changes, if any, in the personnel and other resources required to operate and support the changed environment;
 
(vii)                           the expected performance, quality, responsiveness, efficiency, reliability, security risks and other service levels to be achieved

based on the recommended strategies and directions; and
 
(viii)                        Any Enhancement Activities generally known within the information technology industry at the time of the particular Technology

Plan which could be implemented into the Services on a long-term basis (i.e., during the term of the three-year Technology Plan) and an initial high-level
benefits analysis with regard to such Enhancement Activities and the implementation of same.

 
(d)                                 Annual Implementation Plan.  As necessary to support the overall objectives and directions of the three-year plan, the annual

implementation plan shall include information services requirements, plans, projects (which may include Projects) for the upcoming year, including details on



operations, maintenance backlog and development activities.  The annual implementation plan shall include a summary review of Vendor’s performance of
the Services in the year then concluding, and shall provide updates and revisions of the three-year plan as appropriate.  The annual implementation plan will
also include any Enhancement Activities generally known within the information technology industry at the time of the particular annual technology plan
which could be implemented into the Services on a short-term basis (i.e., during the term of the annual technology plan) and an initial benefits analysis with
regard to such Enhancement Activities and the implementation of same.  An annual implementation plan shall be prepared for each year of the Term.  As part
of the process for preparing the annual implementation plan, the Parties shall review the overall operation of this Agreement with regard to a determination of
whether the Services are meeting ACI’s strategic IT requirements.

 
(e)                                  Drafting Responsibility.  Vendor shall submit to ACI a draft of the Technology Plan for ACI’s review and comment, which draft shall have

been developed with input from key business users of ACI.  Vendor shall submit the final Technology Plan to ACI for its approval within thirty (30) days of
receiving ACI’s comments.  The draft of the first Technology Plan shall be provided within six (6) months of the completion of Transition.

 
(f)                                    Technology Plan Timing and Update.  The schedule for developing and delivering each Technology Plan shall be coordinated to support

ACI’s annual business planning cycle and the semi-annual senior management meeting described in Section 10.4(a)(iv).  Vendor shall recommend
modifications to the Technology Plan as it deems appropriate, and shall revise the Technology Plan as requested or approved by ACI. During Transition, an
outline and the contents of the Technology Plan will be jointly developed by the Parties.

 
10.9                        Quality Assurance and Improvement Programs.
 

As part of its total quality management process, Vendor shall provide continuous quality assurance and quality improvement through: (a) the
identification and application of proven techniques and tools from other installations within its operations (i.e., “best practices”) that would benefit ACI either
operationally or financially or ensure continued compliance with Applicable Vendor Laws; and (b) the implementation of concrete programs, practices and
measures designed to improve Service Levels.  Such procedures shall include checkpoint reviews, testing, acceptance and other procedures for ACI to
confirm the quality of Vendor’s performance, and shall be included in the Procedures Manuals.  Vendor shall utilize project management tools, including
productivity aids and project management systems, as appropriate in performing the Services.
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10.10                 Management of Issues.
 

(a)                                  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 10.10, Vendor will proactively manage issues in a manner such that tasks
required to be performed under this Agreement are performed in a timely manner.  Each member of the Vendor Personnel is expected to promptly escalate an
issue if the performance of any such Vendor Personnel member’s obligation is directly impacted by the failure of ACI or an ACI agent to perform a
prerequisite task.  Vendor will not have met its obligation with respect to the hindered task unless and until the ACI Contract Executive has been notified of
such failure to perform, but only to the extent ACI’s ability to cure its failure is prejudiced by Vendor’s delay or failure in escalating the applicable issue.

 
(b)                                 If ACI, a ACI Affiliate or a ACI agent fails to perform any of its responsibilities set forth in Schedule L (Transition and Transformation),

Schedule A (Statement of Work) or operational responsibility set forth in connection with a Project, Vendor will be excused from the performance of Vendor’s
obligation that is adversely affected by such failure to the extent and only for so long as ACI’s failure is the direct cause of Vendor’s non-performance, but
only (i) if Vendor promptly notifies the ACI Contract Executive of such failure, (ii) if, after notifying the ACI Contract Executive, ACI fails to promptly
rectify such failure; and (iii) with respect to such specific obligations for which no reasonable workaround exists.

 
11.                               AUDITS, RECORD RETENTION
 
11.1                        Intentionally left blank.
 
11.2                        Audit Rights.
 

(a)                                  Vendor shall maintain a complete record of all financial transactions and customary records of non-financial transactions resulting from this
Agreement.  Vendor shall provide to ACI and ACI’s Affiliates and its and their auditors (including the internal audit staff of ACI and ACI’s external auditors),
inspectors, regulators and other representatives who are not Vendor Competitors as ACI may from time to time designate in writing and who agree in writing
to substantially the terms and conditions set forth in Schedule M (Vendor Confidentiality Agreement), access at all reasonable times (and in the case of
regulators at any time required by such regulators), and upon at least five (5) Business Days notice (or a shorter period of time as may be required by
Applicable Law or entities that regulate ACI), to any facility or part of a facility at which either Vendor or any of its subcontractors is providing any portion of
the Services (subject to Vendor’s and its subcontractors standard security rules for such facility), to Vendor Personnel, and to data and records relating to the
Services excluding: (x) attorney-client privileged information; (y) Vendor internal audit reports of Vendor’s activities (provided that Vendor shall provide
summaries of such audits that are prepared by the person that produced the original audit report); and (z) cost data (other than where  the Agreements
specifies that cost or cost plus is the basis for determining the Charges), for the purpose of performing audits and inspections of either Vendor or any of its
subcontractors during the Term and for the period Vendor is required to maintain records hereunder.  The purpose of such audits will be to:

 
(i)                                     verify the accuracy of Charges and invoices, and the inventory of ACI supplies and other ACI assets, if any;
 
(ii)                                  verify the confidentiality, integrity and accessibility of ACI Data and examine the systems that process, store, support and transmit

that data;
 
(iii)                               verify that Vendor and ACI are in compliance with their respective obligations under Article 22; and
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(iv)                              examine Vendor’s performance of the Services and conformance to the terms of this Agreement including, to the extent applicable

to the Services and to the Charges therefore, performing audits:
 



(A)                              of practices and procedures;
 
(B)                                of systems, Equipment and Software;
 
(C)                                of supporting information and calculations regarding compliance with Service Levels;
 
(D)                               of general controls and security practices and procedures;
 
(E)                                 of disaster recovery and back-up procedures;
 
(F)                                 of the efficiency of Vendor in performing the Services; and
 
(G)                                as necessary to enable ACI to meet, or to confirm that Vendor is meeting, applicable regulatory and other legal

requirements.
 

ACI shall not use auditors engaged on a contingency fee basis to perform audits under this Section 11.2.  If an audit by or on behalf of ACI hereunder shows
any matter that may adversely affect ACI, ACI shall notify Vendor of such matter and Vendor shall provide ACI with a detailed plan to remedy such matter
within ten (10) Business Days after Vendor’s receipt from ACI of the final audit report.  Vendor will then immediately proceed to implement the remediation
plan and correct such matters.
 

(b)                                 If, as required by Section 10.7(d), Vendor is unable to include substantially similar audit-related provisions in a subcontract, or audit
provisions that are at least as protective of ACI, Vendor shall disclose such inability in connection with requesting ACI’s consent to use such subcontractor. 
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the audit rights with respect to contracts assigned by ACI to Vendor shall be as set forth in such contracts.

 
(c)                                  In addition but subject to the procedures described in (a) above, Vendor shall provide information sufficient to allow ACI or a designated

third party who is not a Vendor Competitor to ensure that current server packs, patches and firmware are in place for Equipment Vendor has refresh
responsibility.  Vendor will also permit ACI or its Affiliates (or its and their auditors who are not Vendor Competitors) to audit compliance with laws and
regulations and any IT general controls, including the Change Control Procedure, Network security, logical security, computer operations, backup and
recovery and disaster recovery.

 
(d)                                 Vendor and ACI shall meet and review each audit report promptly after its issuance, and, as part of such meeting, Vendor shall provide

responses to ACI on the issues in such audit report.  Vendor shall provide to ACI’s auditors, inspectors, regulators and representatives the reasonable
assistance they require, including installing and operating audit software to the extent such assistance is during Business Hours and does not materially
interfere with Vendors ability to perform its obligations under the Agreement.  Vendor shall notify ACI if the assistance required, including installation of any
audit software would materially and adversely affect Vendor’s ability to meet the Service Levels.  After receiving such notice, ACI shall either alter its request
or temporarily waive the Service Levels that would be adversely affected.  Vendor shall cooperate fully with ACI and its designees in connection with audit
functions and with regard to examinations by regulatory authorities.
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(e)                                  Vendor agrees to promptly provide ACI and its auditors with all reasonable cooperation and information that may be required in connection

with any audits conducted by ACI’s or its Affiliates’ customers that pertain to the Services.
 
(f)                                    With respect to any change management or benchmarking adjustment proposed by Vendor, or any proposed adjustment offered by Vendor

in connection with an Extraordinary Event, New Service or ACI’s withdrawal of Services under Section 3.6(b) (each, an “Adjustment”), if ACI disputes such
Adjustment, in addition to any other rights that ACI has under this Agreement, ACI may retain an independent third party (which may include ACI’s internal
auditors or outside auditors) to audit Vendor’s or any of its subcontractor’s charges and costs (where the Agreement specifies that cost or cost plus is the basis
for determining the charges) associated with such Adjustment; provided (i) such independent third party shall execute a nondisclosure agreement with both
Parties containing confidentiality and nondisclosure terms substantially similar to those set forth in this Agreement, and (ii) such independent third party may
not disclose Vendor’s or any of its subcontractor’s charges and costs (where the Agreement specifies that cost or cost plus is the basis for determining the
charges) associated with such Adjustment to ACI, but may provide sufficient information to ACI to enable ACI to assess the validity of such Adjustment. 
Vendor shall maintain, and shall cause its subcontractors to maintain, sufficient records to permit such independent third party to conduct such audits, and
shall provide such independent third party with reasonable access to its and each of its subcontractor’s records for the purpose of performing such audits. 
Vendor shall provide its full cooperation and assistance as is reasonably requested by such independent third party.

 
11.3                        Vendor Internal Controls.
 

(a)                                  Vendor agrees that, beginning no sooner than eight (8) months following completion of Transition, each calendar year during the Term, it
will have one of the “big four” accounting firms (“Auditors”) conduct, at Vendor’s expense, at least one SAS 70 Type II Audit in Vendor’s shared delivery
center in North America at or from which the Services are provided.  Vendor shall provide ACI with one copy of each applicable audit report resulting from
such SAS 70 Type II Audit (“SAS 70 Type II Report”) at no charge.  To the extent ACI provides reasonable notice and requests that, in addition to the SAS
70 Type II Audit described in the preceding sentence, Vendor conducts a ACI-specific SAS 70 Type II Audit, Vendor shall do so at ACI’s expense (provided,
Vendor notifies ACI of such expense, obtains ACI’s approval and uses Commercially Reasonable Efforts to minimize such expense).

 
(b)                                 Vendor or an independent third party shall perform a security and controls audit at least annually.  This audit shall test the compliance to the

agreed-upon security standards, procedures as reflected in Schedule A (Statement of Work) and the other requirements in this Agreement.  If the audit shows
any material matter that may adversely affect ACI, Vendor shall disclose such matter to ACI and prepare a detailed plan to remedy such matter within thirty
(30) Business Days of completion of the audit.  If the audit does not show any matter that may adversely affect ACI, Vendor shall provide the audit or a
reasonable summary thereof within ten (10) Business Days of audit completion to ACI.  Any such summary may be limited to the extent necessary to avoid a
breach of Vendor’s security by virtue of providing such summary.  ACI may use a third party or its internal staff for an independent audit.  If ACI chooses to
conduct its own security audit, such audit shall be at ACI’s expense.

 
11.4                        Audit Follow-up.
 



(a)                                  Following an audit or examination, ACI may conduct (in the case of an internal audit), or request its external auditors or examiners to
conduct, an exit conference with Vendor to obtain factual concurrence with issues identified in the review.
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(b)                                 Vendor shall promptly make available to ACI SAS 70 Type II Reports to the extent such reports are performed or available as reflected in

Section 11.3(a).
 
(c)                                  Vendor will promptly remediate any audit issues arising in SAS 70 Type II Reports that impact or are reasonably likely to impact ACI or

the Services in accordance with the remediation process described in Section 11.2(a).
 

11.5                        Records Retention.
 

Until the latest of (a) seven (7) years after expiration or termination of this Agreement; (b) all pending matters relating to this Agreement (e.g.,
disputes) are closed; or (c) the information is no longer required to meet ACI’s records retention policy as such policy may be adjusted from time to time and
communicated in writing to Vendor, Vendor shall maintain and provide access upon reasonable request to the records, documents, and other information
required to meet ACI’s audit rights under this Agreement.  Before destroying or otherwise disposing of such information, Vendor shall provide ACI with not
less than sixty (60) days prior written notice and offer ACI the opportunity to recover such information or to request Vendor to deliver such information to
ACI.

 
11.6                        Discovery of Overcharge of ACI.
 

If an audit shows that Vendor has overcharged ACI in the current contract year and/or previous calendar year, at ACI’s option, Vendor shall either
credit to ACI’s account or pay to ACI directly an amount equal to the amount of the overcharge plus interest at the prime rate calculated from the date the
overcharge was paid by ACI to Vendor.  For the purposes of this Section 11.6, the prime rate shall be the rate set forth in the Wall Street Journal, New York
edition, “Money Rates” section (or any successor thereto) at the time of such audit.  If an audit shows that Vendor overcharged ACI by more than five
(5) percent of the Charges, net of any undercharges identified in the audit, then Vendor shall also pay ACI an amount equal to the cost of the portion of the
audit related to such overcharges discovery.  If any such audit reveals an undercharge by Vendor in the Charges for a particular Charges category, ACI shall
promptly pay to Vendor the amount of such undercharge plus interest at the prime rate calculated from the date the undercharge should have been paid to
Vendor.
 
12.                               ACI RESPONSIBILITIES
 

ACI shall have no other responsibilities than those expressly set forth in this Agreement (including any reflected in any Schedules, Exhibits or
Attachments to this Agreement).  Those responsibilities include the following:

 
(a)                                  ACI shall designate one (1) individual to whom Vendor may address all Vendor communications concerning this Agreement and all

activities pursuant to it (the “ACI Contract Executive”).
 
(b)                                 ACI shall cooperate with Vendor, including by making available management decisions, information, approvals and acceptances, as

reasonably requested by Vendor so that Vendor may accomplish its obligations and responsibilities under this Agreement.  The ACI Contract Executive or its
designee shall be the principal point of contact for obtaining such decisions, information, approvals and acceptances.  Only personnel as expressly so
designated by the ACI Contract Executive shall be authorized to make commitments on the part of ACI that amend this Agreement or commit resources that
are subject to a Resource Volume Baseline.  To the extent Vendor relies on the apparent authority of other personnel, it does so at its own risk and without
obligation on ACI’s part.
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13.                               CHARGES
 
13.1                        General.
 

The charges for the Services (“Charges”) are set forth in this Agreement.  ACI shall not be required to pay Vendor any amounts for the Services in
addition to those set forth in this Agreement.

 
13.2                        Pass-Through Expenses.
 

(a)                                  “Pass-Through Expenses” shall mean third-party charges paid by Vendor and reimbursed (without markup or administrative charge of any
kind) by ACI.  Pass-Through Expenses agreed by the Parties as of the Effective Date are set forth in Schedule C (Charges).  Additional Pass-Through
Expenses may be agreed by the Parties through the Change Control Procedure.

 
(b)                                 Vendor shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to minimize the amount of any particular Pass-Through Expense.  With respect to

services or materials paid for on a Pass-Through Expenses basis, ACI reserves the right to:
 

(i)            obtain such services or materials directly from one or more third parties;
 
(ii)           subject to Section 10.6, designate the third-party source for such services or materials;
 
(iii)          designate the particular services or materials (e.g., equipment make and model) Vendor shall obtain (although if Vendor

demonstrates to ACI that such designation shall have an adverse impact on Vendor’s ability to meet the Service Levels, such designation shall be subject to
Vendor’s reasonable approval);

 



(iv)          designate the terms for obtaining such services or materials (e.g., purchase or lease and lump sum payment or payment over time);
 
(v)           require Vendor to identify and consider multiple sources for such services or materials or to conduct a competitive procurement;

and
 
(vi)          review and approve the applicable Pass-Through Expenses before entering into a new contract for particular services or materials.
 

13.3        Incidental Expenses.
 

Except as may be otherwise provided in this Agreement, expenses that Vendor expects to incur in performing the Services (including travel and
lodging, document reproduction and shipping, and long-distance telephone) are included in Vendor’s Charges and rates set forth in this Agreement. 
Accordingly, such Vendor expenses are not separately reimbursable by ACI unless, on a case-by-case basis for unusual expenses, ACI has agreed in advance
and in writing to reimburse Vendor for the expense.  Notwithstanding the above or any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, Vendor shall use
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to minimize any expenses that ACI is required or elects to pay under this Agreement.  Vendor agrees that any such
expenses will be invoiced to ACI without markup.
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13.4                        Taxes.
 

(a)                                  Each Party shall be responsible for any personal property taxes on property it owns or leases, for franchise and privilege taxes on its
business, and for taxes based on its net income or corporate level gross receipts.

 
(b)                                 Vendor shall be responsible for any sales, use, excise, value-added, services, consumption or other taxes and duties payable by Vendor on

the goods or services used or consumed by Vendor in providing the Services where the tax is imposed on Vendor’s acquisition or use of such goods or
services and the amount of tax is measured by Vendor’s costs in acquiring such goods or services.  ACI shall be responsible to pay to Vendor, or reimburse
Vendor for the payment of, and Vendor shall be responsible for the collection and remittance of, any and all sales, use, excise, value-added, services,
consumption and other taxes imposed or assessed on the Charges or the provision of the Services provided by the Vendor after the Effective Date.  Vendor
and ACI shall agree on the appropriate method for invoicing the Services to be certain to capture only those Services subject to tax and the appropriate tax
rate.  If and to the extent any such tax is increased, reduced or eliminated during the Term, Vendor shall adjust the amounts invoiced to ACI to fully reflect the
increase, reduction or elimination of such tax.  If new or higher taxes thereafter become applicable to the Services as a result of Vendor moving all or part of
its operations to a different Service Location (for example, Vendor relocating performance of Services to a shared service center or subcontracting any portion
of the Services), Vendor shall (i) specify the tax rate that applies to the new Service Location on all subsequent invoices, and (ii) reimburse ACI for any
incremental taxes that arise from the move to the new Service Location.

 
(c)                                  If any sales, use, excise, value added, services, consumption or other tax is assessed on the provision of any of the Services, the Parties shall

work together to segregate the payments of such taxes under this Agreement into three (3) payment streams:
 

(i)                                     those for taxable Services;
 
(ii)                                  those for which Vendor functions merely as a payment agent for ACI in receiving goods, supplies or services (including leasing

and licensing arrangements); and
 
(iii)                               those for other nontaxable Services, including those Services and related Equipment sales that qualify under the exemption of

outsourcing.
 

(d)                                 Each Party shall provide and make available to the other any direct pay or resale certificates, information regarding out-of-state or out-of-
country sales or use of Equipment, materials or services, and other exemption certificates or information reasonably requested by the other Party.

 
(e)                                  The Parties agree to cooperate with each other to enable each to more accurately determine its own tax liability and to minimize such

liability to the maximum extent legally permissible.  Unless ACI has provided Vendor with tax-exemption, direct pay or resale certificates, Vendor’s invoices
shall separately state the amounts of any taxes Vendor is collecting from ACI, and Vendor shall remit such taxes to the appropriate authorities.

 
(f)                                    Each Party shall promptly notify the other Party of, and cooperate with,  such other Party regarding the response to and settlement of, any

claim for taxes asserted by applicable taxing authorities for which it is responsible hereunder.
 
(g)                                 If ACI reasonably requests Vendor, timely and in writing, and with appropriate legal authority, to challenge the imposition of any tax,

Vendor shall do so in a timely manner and ACI shall reimburse Vendor for the reasonable legal fees and expenses it incurs.
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(h)                                 Each Party shall be entitled to any tax refunds or rebates (and related interest) granted to the extent such refunds or rebates are of taxes that

were paid by such Party.
 

13.5                        Extraordinary Events.
 

(a)                                  An “Extraordinary Event” means a circumstance in which ACI experiences a significant change in the scope or nature of its business (e.g.
changes to the locations where the ACI operates, changes in the ACI’s products or markets, mergers, acquisitions or divestitures involving ACI, changes in
the ACI’s method of service delivery, changes in the ACI’s market priorities) that is expected by ACI to vary from the applicable Charges at applicable
Resource Volumes Baselines for at least three (3) consecutive months by more than plus or minus thirty-five percent (+/-35%) provided that any such
decrease is not due to ACI resuming provision of the Services itself or transferring provision of the Services to another service provider.

 



(b)                                 Upon the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event, and at ACI’s request, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith with regard to the adjustment
of Vendor’s Charges and resources (including Baselines, Monthly Base Charges, ARCs, RRCs and other rates as appropriate) as well as any other impacted
terms and conditions of this Agreement.  For the avoidance of doubt, either Party may notify the other that an Extraordinary Event has occurred.

 
(c)                                  If within thirty (30) days following a Party’s notice of the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event, the Parties have not agreed upon the

foregoing, then either Party may submit the issue to dispute resolution under Article 20.  Unless and until the Parties have agreed on the adjustment
contemplated in paragraph (b) above, Vendor will continue to perform, and ACI will continue to pay, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
Agreement as applicable before the Extraordinary Event.

 
13.6                        New Services.

 
Services that are materially different from, or in addition to, the Services, but for which there is no charging methodology, or which the existing

charging methodology was not intended to cover (e.g., start-up expenses) shall be considered “New Services.” The Parties’ obligations with respect to New
Services shall be as follows:

 
(a)                                  If the performance of the New Services can be reflected in a change in the volume of chargeable resource usage, and the net change in the

resources and expenses required to perform the New Services would not be disproportionately different from the corresponding change in the volume or
composition of such chargeable resource usage from performing such New Services, then the charge, if any, for such New Services shall be determined
pursuant to Schedule C (Charges), this Section 13.6 and the other Sections of this Agreement relating to New Services.  The New Services shall then be
considered Services and shall be subject to the provisions of this Agreement.  In addition, the Parties may work together to re-prioritize certain then existing
Services and/or Service Levels in order to determine if, by such re-prioritization of existing work or Service Levels, Vendor could accommodate the ACI
requested New Services with the then current account staff, Equipment, Software and other related items.  If Vendor determines, in its reasonable discretion,
that it could accommodate such New Services, such New Services shall become Services without the necessity of an added charge so long as such
accommodation does not jeopardize the performance by Vendor of any other of the Services at the Service Levels.

 
(b)                                 If the performance of the New Services cannot be reflected in a change in the volume of chargeable resource usage, or if the net change in

the resources and expenses required to perform the New
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Services would be disproportionately different from the corresponding change in the volume or composition of chargeable resource usage from performing
such New Services, then:

 
(i)                                     Vendor shall quote to ACI a charge (which may be variable) for such New Services that is competitive with the charge Vendor

provides for similar services to its other customers.  Such charges shall take into account, as applicable, resources and expenses of Vendor for then-existing
portions of the Services that would no longer be required if the New Services would be performed by Vendor; and

 
(ii)                                  upon receipt of such quote, ACI may then elect to have Vendor perform the New Services, and the Charges under this Agreement

shall be adjusted, if appropriate, to reflect such New Services.  If ACI so elects, such New Services shall be subject to the provisions of this Agreement.
 

(c)                                  If the Parties cannot agree upon the pricing applicable to a New Service that, although materially different from the Services, is still closely
related to the Services then being provided by Vendor, ACI nonetheless desires Vendor to perform such New Service, then upon ACI’s written instruction to
proceed, Vendor shall begin performance of such New Service and, until that time when ACI and Vendor can agree on the applicable charge for the New
Service, Vendor will provide such New Service at the applicable time and materials rates reflected in Exhibit C-1 (Base Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates
and Termination Charges).  If within sixty (60) days following ACI’s written instruction to proceed, the Parties have not agreed on the applicable charges for
the New Service, then the Charges will be determined as provided under Section 20.1(a).

 
(d)                                 ACI may in its discretion elect to solicit and receive bids from, or otherwise enter into agreements with, third parties to perform or to

perform itself any New Services.  If ACI so elects, Vendor shall cooperate at no charge with ACI and the third parties with respect to the provision of such
New Services.

 
(e)                                  Evolution, supplements, modifications, enhancements and replacements of the Services required by Section 3.3 above shall not be deemed

to be New Services.
 
(f)                                    With regard to Production Mainframe and Hosting Services which may be required by ACI in the future to provide market competitive

service offerings to their external clients, the Parties agree that Vendor will provide market competitive pricing.
 

13.7                        Benchmarks for Cost of Services.
 

(a)                                  Beginning in the second Contract Year and up to once in each Contract Year thereafter, ACI may benchmark the Services within a Services
Tower.  If ACI notifies Vendor in writing that it elects not to exercise its right to perform a benchmarking within the twelve (12) month period following such
notice, ACI will receive a credit of $200,000.00 on the next invoice following the notice.  Once such a credit has been paid, a benchmark may not be initiated
during the applicable twelve (12) month period.

 
(b)                                 A benchmarking under this Section 13.7 shall be conducted by an independent industry-recognized benchmarking service provider

designated by ACI from the list of approved benchmarkers attached hereto as Schedule O (Approved Benchmarkers) (the “Benchmarker”), which list the
Parties will update under the Contract Change Control Procedure from time to time as necessary to reflect changes in the industry.  The Parties shall be jointly
responsible for the fees of the Benchmarker.  The Benchmarker shall execute a confidentiality agreement in substantially the form set forth in Schedule M
(Vendor Confidentiality Agreement).  The Benchmarker’s compensation shall not be contingency fee based.  The Parties shall cooperate with the
Benchmarker, including, as appropriate, making available knowledgeable
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personnel and pertinent documents and records.  Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the Benchmarker shall not have access to any proprietary data other
than pricing information, or data related to another Vendor customer.  The Benchmarker may not use any information provided by either Vendor or ACI for
any purpose other than conducting the benchmark study hereunder, unless such use is expressly agreed to in writing by Vendor and ACI.

 
(c)                                  The Benchmarker shall perform the benchmarking in accordance with Benchmarker’s documented procedures, which shall be provided to

the Parties prior to the start of the benchmarking process.  The Benchmarker shall, separately as to each Service Tower benchmarked, compare the aggregate
Charges under this Agreement for the Services being benchmarked to the aggregate charges (for services similar to those in that Service Tower) being
incurred in a representative sample of outsourced IT operations by or for other entities.  The Benchmarker shall select the representative sample from entities
(i) identified by the Benchmarker and approved by the Parties, or (ii) identified by a Party and approved by the Benchmarker.  The following conditions apply
to the representative sample: (A) it shall include no more than eight (8) entities and no less than four (4) entities and (B) it may include entities that are
outsourcing customers of Vendor.

 
(d)                                 The Benchmarker is to conduct a benchmarking as promptly as is prudent in the circumstances.  In conducting the benchmarking, the

Benchmarker shall normalize the data used to perform the benchmarking to accommodate, as appropriate, differences in volume of services, scope of
services, service levels, financing or payment streams, service window coverage, geographic scope, Vendor’s upfront costs, the overall financial structure of
the agreement, sophistication of the underlying technology, contract terms and conditions (to the extent available), other factors unique to ACI’s and the
comparison contract’s requirements, and other factors the Benchmarker views to be pertinent.  Each Party shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to
review, comment on and request changes in the Benchmarker’s preliminary findings.  Following such review and comment, the Benchmarker shall issue a
final report of its findings and conclusions.

 
(e)                                  If in the final report of the Benchmarker, the Charges to ACI under this Agreement for the benchmarked Services are in the aggregate

within five (5) percent of the average of the representative sample then no adjustment shall be made to Vendor’s Charges.  If in the final report of the
Benchmarker, the Charges to ACI under this Agreement for the benchmarked Services are in the aggregate between five (5) percent and (10) percent higher
than the average of the representative sample, then the relevant Charges for the Services shall be reduced to the average of the representative sample for each
percent above five (5) percent, effective thirty (30) days after the initial date of delivery of the benchmark results provided however, the Vendor’s Charges
shall not be reduced by more than five (5) percent of the Charges payable for the particular Service Tower benchmarked.  For example, if in the final report of
the Benchmarker, the Charges to ACI under this Agreement for the benchmarked Services are in the aggregate seven (7) percent higher than the average of
the representative sample, then the Vendor Charges payable for the particular Service Tower would be reduced by two (2) percent.  If in the final report of the
Benchmarker, the Charges to ACI under this Agreement for the benchmarked Services are in the aggregate more than ten percent (10%) greater than the
average of the representative sample then (A) the relevant Vendor Charges payable for the particular Service Tower would be reduced by five (5) percent
effective thirty (30) days after the initial date of delivery of the benchmark results and (B) the Vendor shall promptly offer an alternative proposal for the
ACI’s consideration for further adjustments to either the scope of the Services, Service Levels or Charges.

 
(f)                                    Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the foregoing proposal may include Changes to the method, manner or quality of the

Services to the extent Vendor can demonstrate the Changes were not already reflected in the benchmark.  Vendor then shall implement the agreed plan for the
benchmarked Services in the designated period of time.

 
41

 
(g)                                 If Vendor (A) fails to develop promptly and implement a plan to adjust its Charges in accordance with paragraph (i) above, or (B) fails to

adjust its Charges in accordance with the plan in the required time period, then ACI may terminate the benchmarked Services or any portion thereof without
the payment of any Termination Charges, other than payment of the Wind Down Expenses for the affected Services, by giving Vendor at least sixty (60) days’
prior notice.  In the case of termination by ACI of Services in accordance with this Section 13.7, the Charges payable under this Agreement for continuing
Services shall be equitably adjusted to reflect the removal of the Services that are terminated.

 
(h)                                 In no event shall Charges be increased based on the results of a benchmarking process.
 

14.                               INVOICING AND PAYMENT
 
14.1                        Invoicing.
 

(a)                                  Vendor shall invoice ACI for all Charges due under this Agreement in the manner reflected in this Section 14.1.  Monthly Base Charges, as
defined in Schedule C (Charges), shall be invoiced on or before the tenth (10th) day of each month in which the Services which are the subject of the Monthly
Base Charges are performed with payment due to Vendor on or before the last day of the month; provided however, if such invoice is received after the tenth
(10th) day of the month, payment for such invoice shall be due to Vendor within thirty (30) days of the invoice receipt date.  ARCs, RRCs and any other
variable Charges that are in addition to the Monthly Base Charges for a month will be invoiced on a monthly basis but will be invoiced on the following
month’s invoice.

 
(b)                                 To the extent a credit is due ACI pursuant to this Agreement, Vendor shall provide ACI with an appropriate credit against Charges then due

and owing in the next monthly invoice; if no further payments are due to Vendor, Vendor shall pay such amounts to ACI within thirty (30) days.
 
(c)                                  Vendor shall render a single, consolidated, monthly invoice for each month’s Charges, showing the details specified in Exhibit C-3 (Form of

Invoice) including details necessary to satisfy ACI’s accounting and chargeback requirements in accordance with Section 3.2(b).  Such invoice shall
separately identify Pass-Through Expenses for the month (if any), Charges prepaid by ACI, the number of hours allocated to Projects, broken out by Project
and indicating, as applicable, (i) where Project pool resources are drawn down (as described in Schedule C (Charges)) and (ii) where additional Charges
(other than the Monthly Base Charges) have been incurred, and the amounts of any taxes Vendor is collecting from ACI.  Vendor shall include with the
invoice the calculations utilized to establish the charges in sufficient detail to enable ACI to confirm the accuracy of the Charges included in the invoice.  The
form of invoice is included as Exhibit C-3 (Form of Invoice).  If Vendor fails to provide an invoice to ACI for any amount within one calendar year after the
date on which the Services in question are rendered or the expense incurred, Vendor shall waive any right it may otherwise have to invoice for and collect
such amount.

 
14.2                        Payment Due.
 



Subject to the other Sections of this Agreement, undisputed Charges on invoices submitted to ACI shall be due and payable by ACI as specified in
14.1(a).  Such payments will be made by ACI by electronic funds transfer.  If a due date does not fall on a Business Day, payments must be received by
Vendor on or before one (1) Business Day after such date.  Subject to Section 14.8, any undisputed Charges not paid within five (5) days of when they are due
will bear interest until paid at a rate of interest equal to the lesser of: (i) one percent per month of such outstanding amount per every thirty days or portion
thereof or; (2) the maximum rate of interest allowed by Applicable Law calculated from the date payment was due.
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14.3                        Accountability.
 

Vendor shall maintain complete and accurate records of and supporting documentation for the Charges billable to and payments made by ACI under
this Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis.  Vendor shall provide ACI with documentation and
other information with respect to each invoice as may be reasonably requested by ACI to verify accuracy and compliance with the provisions of this
Agreement.

 
14.4                        Pro-ration.
 

Charges occurring on a periodic basis under this Agreement are to be computed on a calendar month basis, and shall be prorated for any partial
month.

 
14.5                        Prepaid Amounts.
 

Where ACI has prepaid for a service or function for which Vendor is assuming financial responsibility under this Agreement, upon either Party
identifying the prepayment, Vendor shall refund to ACI that portion of such prepaid expense that is attributable to periods on and after the applicable Service
Tower Commencement Date on the next monthly invoice.  Upon Vendor’s request and as a condition to Vendor’s obligation, ACI shall provide substantiation
and documentation of any prepaid expense for which it believes it is entitled to credit hereunder.

 
14.6                        Refunds and Credits.
 

If Vendor receives a refund, credit or other rebate for goods or services previously paid for by ACI, Vendor shall promptly notify ACI of such refund,
credit or rebate and shall promptly credit the full amount of such refund, credit or rebate, as the case may be, to ACI on the next monthly invoice; provided
that Vendor will make payment in lieu of such a credit if requested by ACI.

 
14.7                        Deduction.
 

ACI shall have the right to deduct from Charges owed by ACI to Vendor under this Agreement any amount (i) not in dispute between the Parties,
(ii) that ACI has notified Vendor in writing of, on or before the payment due date, and (iii) that Vendor is obligated to pay to or credit to ACI.

 
14.8                        Disputed Charges.
 

Subject to ACI’s right of deduction under Section 14.7, ACI shall pay undisputed Charges when those payments are due.  ACI may withhold
invoiced amounts that ACI disputes in good faith subject to the limits specified herein and pursuant to the following procedures:

 
(i)  After receipt of an invoice from Vendor, but prior to the date on which payment for such invoice is due, ACI shall give written notice to Vendor

of its intent to dispute and reasons for disputing such invoice.
 
(ii) Unless Vendor gives ACI written notice of Vendor’s agreement as to ACI’s position by the payment date for such invoice, ACI shall pay the

disputed invoice upon the due date.
 
(iii) Vendor shall have thirty (30) days from the date of ACI’s notice to cure any breach or otherwise resolve the issue related to the dispute.  If

Vendor is unable to cure the breach or otherwise
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resolve the issue within thirty days, ACI  may withhold the disputed amount from the next month’s payment

 
If any portion of an invoice is subject to a bona fide dispute between the Parties, ACI may withhold the amount ACI disputes in good faith, directly

attributable to such dispute, up to twenty (20) percent of the Monthly Base Charge each month, not to exceed, in the aggregate, the Monthly Base Charge for
one months.  ACI’s payment of invoiced amounts shall not constitute a waiver by ACI of any right or remedy available to it at law or equity or this
Agreement, including any right ACI may have to dispute (or recover) such amounts.  Any dispute regarding payment shall be resolved in accordance with the
Dispute Resolution Process in Section 20 below.  In the event the dispute is resolved in Vendor’s favor, interest (at the rate reflected in Section 14.2) will be
due and owing accruing back to the date that is five (5) days after the date such amount would have been due as an undisputed amount.

 
15.                               SAFEGUARDING OF DATA; CONFIDENTIALITY
 
15.1                        General.
 

(a)                                  ACI Confidential Information shall be and remain, as between the Parties, the property of ACI.  Vendor shall not possess or assert any lien
or other right against or to ACI Confidential Information.  ACI Confidential Information shall not be:

 
(i)                                     used by Vendor other than in connection with providing the Services;
 



(ii)                                  disclosed, sold, assigned, leased or otherwise provided to third parties by Vendor, other than as permitted in this Agreement; or
 
(iii)                               commercially exploited by or on behalf of Vendor.
 

(b)                                 ACI Confidential Information shall not be utilized by Vendor for any purpose other than that of rendering the Services under this
Agreement.

 
15.2                        Safeguarding ACI Data.
 

Vendor shall establish and maintain safeguards against the destruction, loss or alteration of ACI Data in the possession of Vendor which are no less
rigorous than those implemented and in use by ACI as of the Effective Date, to the extent such safeguards are made known to Vendor, either through
documented security policies provided by ACI (“ACI Information Security Requirements”) and in no event less rigorous than the safeguards employed by
Vendor to protect its own confidential information.  Vendor will comply with Changes in the ACI Information Security Requirements as soon as reasonably
practicable after such Changes have been provided to Vendor, subject to ACI’s payment of additional Charges, if any, determined to be payable with respect
to such Change under the Change Control Procedure.  Vendor shall make no Changes to ACI’s safeguards unless agreed by ACI.  Vendor shall maintain such
safeguards until the Security Plan (as defined below) becomes effective.

 
(a)                                  Within three (3) months of the completion of Transition, and annually thereafter as part of the technology planning process described in

Section 10.8, Vendor shall provide ACI with a security plan (the “Security Plan”) describing upgrades to ACI’s data security procedures and the related
infrastructure for ACI Data in the possession of Vendor necessary to bring such procedures and infrastructure into compliance with the standards the Parties
agree are appropriate for ACI, which at a minimum will include any then-current ACI Information Security Requirements.  Vendor shall implement the initial
Security Plan and each annual plan thereafter.  Any Changes to the Services as a result of
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upgrades to the Security Plan shall be implemented by Vendor, subject to ACI’s payment of any Charges therefore agreed by the Parties in accordance with
the Change Control Procedure.

 
(b)                                 If ACI requests enhancements that are not necessary to satisfy either the safeguards maintained by ACI as of the Effective Date, or the

requirements of any Security Plan agreed upon by the Parties, Vendor shall implement such improvements as a New Service, except that any additional
disaster recovery measures or safeguards reasonably deemed by ACI to be necessary to protect any Personally Identifiable Information shall be subject to the
Change Control Procedure.  ACI shall have the right to establish backup security for data and to keep backup data and data files in its possession if it chooses.

 
(c)                                  Vendor Personnel shall not attempt to access, or allow access to, any ACI Data which they are not permitted to access under this

Agreement.  If such access is attained (or is reasonably suspected), Vendor shall promptly report such incident to ACI, describe in detail the accessed ACI
Data, and if applicable return to ACI any copied or removed ACI Data.

 
(d)                                 The systems security measures required under Sections 15.2(a) and 15.2(b) shall include, any System Software which:
 

(i)                                     requires all users to enter a user identification and password prior to gaining access to the information systems;
 
(ii)                                  controls and tracks the addition and deletion of users; and
 
(iii)                               controls and tracks user access to areas and features of the information systems.
 

(e)                                  ACI Data (i) shall not be used by Vendor other than pursuant to this Agreement; (ii) shall not be disclosed, sold, assigned, leased or
otherwise provided to third parties by Vendor, except as required by any court or administrative agency under Applicable Law; (iii) shall not be commercially
exploited by or on behalf of Vendor, its employees or agents; and (iv) shall not be stored or co-mingled with Vendor’s data or any data from any other Vendor
client except as permitted by ACI’s Risk Control Requirements.

 
15.3                        Confidential Information.
 

(a)                                  Vendor and ACI each acknowledge that they may be furnished with, receive or otherwise have access to information of or concerning the
other Party that such Party considers to be confidential, a trade secret or otherwise restricted.  “Confidential Information” shall mean all information, in any
form, furnished or made available directly or indirectly by one Party to the other that is marked confidential, restricted or with a similar designation.  The
terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be deemed Confidential Information of each Party.  In the case of ACI, Confidential Information also shall
include, whether or not marked confidential, restricted or with a similar designation: (i) ACI Data; (ii) the specifications, designs, documents, software,
documentation, data and other materials and work products owned by ACI pursuant to this Agreement; (iii) all information concerning the operations,
employees, assets, customers, affairs or businesses of ACI, the financial affairs of ACI or the relations of ACI with its customers, employees and service
providers (including customer lists, customer information, account information, analyses, compilations, forecasts, studies and consumer market information);
(iv) ACI Software or ISV Software licensed in the name of ACI or a ACI Affiliate, provided to Vendor by or through ACI; and (v) information that a
reasonable person would deem confidential under the context of disclosure or due to the nature of the information (collectively, the “ACI Confidential
Information”).  In the case of Vendor, Confidential Information also shall include, whether or not marked confidential, restricted or with a similar designation,
Vendor’s financial information, personnel records, information
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regarding Vendor’s, its Affiliates’ or its subcontractors’ business plans and operations, and software, tools and methodologies owned or used by Vendor, its
Affiliates or its subcontractors, and information that a reasonable person would deem confidential under the context of disclosure or due to the nature of the
information.

 
(b)                                 Obligations in Connection with Confidential Information.



 
(i)                                     Each Party shall use at least the same degree of care as it employs to avoid unauthorized disclosure of its own information, but in

any event no less than Commercially Reasonable Efforts (except that the case of ACI Data, the degree of care required of Vendor shall be that degree of care
specified under Section 15.2), to prevent disclosing to unauthorized parties the Confidential Information of the other Party, provided that Vendor may disclose
such information to properly authorized entities as and to the extent necessary for performance of the Services, and ACI may disclose such information to
third parties as and to the extent necessary for the conduct of its business, where in each such case:

 
(A)                              the receiving entity first agrees in writing to terms and conditions substantially the same as the confidentiality provisions

set forth in this Agreement;
 
(B)                                use of such entity is authorized under this Agreement;
 
(C)                                such disclosure is necessary or otherwise naturally occurs in that entity’s scope of responsibility; and
 
(D)                               the receiving Party assumes full responsibility for the acts and omissions of such third party.
 

(ii)                                  As requested by ACI during the Term, or upon expiration or any termination of this Agreement, or completion of Vendor’s
obligations under this Agreement, Vendor shall return or destroy, as ACI may direct, all material in any medium that contains, refers to or relates to ACI
Confidential Information, in the form reasonably requested by ACI, and retain no copies.

 
(iii)                               Each Party shall ensure that its personnel comply with these confidentiality provisions.
 
(iv)                              In the event of any actual or suspected misuse, unauthorized disclosure or loss of, or inability to account for, any Confidential

Information of the furnishing Party, the receiving Party promptly shall:
 

(A)                              notify the furnishing Party upon becoming aware thereof;
 
(B)                                promptly furnish to the other Party full details of the unauthorized possession, use or knowledge or attempt thereof, and

use reasonable efforts to assist the other Party in investigating or preventing the reoccurrence of any unauthorized possession, use or knowledge or attempt
thereof, of Confidential Information;

 
(C)                                take such actions as may be necessary or reasonably requested by the furnishing Party to minimize the violation; and
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(D)                               cooperate in all reasonable respects with the furnishing Party to minimize the violation and any damage resulting

therefrom.
 

(c)                                  The Parties’ obligations with respect to Confidential Information (other than Personally Identifiable Information) shall not apply to any
particular information which Vendor or ACI can demonstrate:

 
(i)                                     was, at the time of disclosure to it, public knowledge;
 
(ii)                                  after disclosure to it, is published or otherwise becomes part of the public knowledge through no breach of this Agreement or any

other confidentiality agreement;
 
(iii)                               was in the possession of the receiving Party at the time of disclosure to it without obligation of confidentiality herein;
 
(iv)                              was received after disclosure to it from a third party who had a lawful right to disclose such information to it without any

obligation to restrict its further use or disclosure; or
 
(v)                                 was independently developed by the receiving Party without reference to Confidential Information of the furnishing Party.
 

(d)                                 In addition, a Party shall not be considered to have breached its obligations by:
 

(i)                                     disclosing Confidential Information of the other Party (including Personally Identifiable Information) as required to satisfy any
legal requirement of a competent government body provided that, immediately upon receiving any such request and to the extent that it may legally do so,
such Party advises the other Party of the request prior to making such disclosure in order that the other Party may interpose an objection to such disclosure,
take action to assure confidential handling of the Confidential Information, or take such other action as it deems appropriate to protect the Confidential
Information; or

 
(ii)                                  disclosing Confidential Information of the other Party (other than Personally Identifiable Information) to its attorneys, auditors and

other professional advisors in connection with services rendered by such advisors, provided that such Party has confidentiality agreements with such
professional advisors and/or such advisors owe professional confidentiality obligations to the Party.

 
(e)                                  Except in emergency situations, prior to a Party commencing any legal action or proceeding in respect of any unauthorized possession, use

or knowledge or attempt thereof, of Confidential Information by any person or entity which action or proceeding identifies the other Party or its Confidential
Information, such Party shall seek such other Party’s consent.  If a Party withholds its consent, the other Party’s performance shall be excused to the extent
such lack of consent prohibits the performance of its obligations under this Agreement.

 
(f)                                    Each Party’s Confidential Information shall remain the property of that Party.  Nothing contained in the Parties’ obligations with respect to

Confidential Information shall be construed as obligating a Party to disclose its Confidential Information to the other Party, or as granting to or conferring on
a Party, expressly or impliedly, any rights or license to the Confidential Information of the other Party, and any such obligation or grant shall only be as
provided by other provisions of this Agreement.
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15.4                        Corporate Information Risk Controls.
 

(a)                                  Vendor shall support and adhere to ACI’s corporate information, rules, policies, standards, procedures and applicable regulatory
requirements as provided to Vendor in writing by ACI (collectively, “ACI Risk Control Requirements”).  Vendor will comply with any modifications to the
ACI Risk Control Requirements, subject to clause (ii) of this Section 15.4(a).  Vendor shall implement and administer effective solutions as necessary to
implement the ACI Risk Control Requirements, or as otherwise directed by ACI (subject to clause (ii) of this Section 15.4(a)), and shall cause the systems
used to provide the Services to comply with such requirements.  ACI confirms that ACI is solely responsible for interpreting the applicable regulatory
requirements (including the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council regulations and the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard) and
ensuring that the ACI Risk Control Requirements and other instructions provided to Vendor comply with both the ACI Risk Control Requirements and ACI
Laws.  Immediately prior to the Effective Date, Vendor received from ACI copies of the FFIEC and PCI regulations and standards with which Vendor will
comply, subject to the following:

 
(i)                                     At no additional charge (A) beginning on the first Service Tower Commencement Date, Vendor shall maintain compliance with

the ACI Risk Control Requirements (to the extent that ACI was in compliance with such requirements as of the Effective Date), and (B) within six (6) months
of the last Service Tower Commencement Date, Vendor shall upgrade its facilities and otherwise begin performing the Services in a manner necessary to
comply with Vendor’s own requirements of a similar nature.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time Vendor provides the Services from a shared data
center at which Vendor provides services to more than one Vendor customer, Vendor shall at all times also comply with Vendor’s own risk rules, policies,
procedures, standards and guidelines.

 
(ii)                                  If ACI changes any ACI Risk Control Requirements after the first Service Tower Commencement Date, or requests that Vendor

comply with any such requirements with which ACI was not in compliance as of the first Service Tower Commencement Date, and such requirements exceed
Vendor’s own requirements of a similar nature, and Vendor is unable to perform the new requirements without adding substantial additional resources, Vendor
will so notify ACI.  ACI may elect to either (A) reprioritize the Services in a manner which allows Vendor to expend the effort necessary to bring the in scope
infrastructure into compliance with such requirements at no additional charge; or (B) authorize Vendor to expend the effort necessary to bring the in scope
infrastructure into compliance with such requirements as a New Service, a Project or otherwise pursuant to the Change Control Procedure.  If at any time ACI
requests additional security, Vendor may make such security available, but shall first notify ACI of the incremental charges (if any) for such security and such
Changes shall be subject to the Change Control Procedure.  Each Party shall designate an individual who shall serve as the primary contact for security-
related issues.

 
(b)                                 If control deficiencies are identified in systems or procedures used to provide the Services, Vendor shall take immediate and concerted

action to correct the deficiency, and shall conduct a post-incident assessment and institute measures to prevent reoccurrence.  On an event-occurrence basis,
Vendor shall inform ACI of any significant known issues surrounding the control environment caused by system or procedural changes or errors and track the
status of such issues as they are resolved.  Controls in modified or reengineered systems shall be tested against those of the previous system versions to ensure
desired levels of control are in place.  Vendor shall update ACI on the status of those system or procedural control improvements identified during audits and
agreed to by ACI.

 
(c)                                  Suspected or actual incidents of non-compliance with ACI rules, policies and procedures shall be managed to resolution by Vendor’s

compliance team, in cooperation and consultation with ACI,
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and reports shall be provided to ACI on an event-occurrence basis.  If Vendor Personnel are responsible for such incidents, appropriate disciplinary action
shall be taken in accordance with the appropriate Vendor personnel policies.  Additionally, ACI shall have the right to direct Vendor to remove any Vendor
Personnel from performing Services pursuant to this Agreement connected with such incidents.

 
(d)                                 Vendor shall conduct benchmarks or provide assessments by third parties, at ACI’s request and expense, of Vendor’s compliance with the

ACI corporate information risk control requirements set forth in this Agreement.  Vendor shall perform self-assessments of such compliance and make results
of such engagement-related self-assessments available to ACI for review.  In developing new systems, Vendor shall interface with ACI so that ACI may
understand the associated controls required.  This shall include informing ACI of Vendor’s methodology for developing control specifications and providing
ACI with the ability to request changes to controls early in the systems development process.

 
15.5                        Step-In Rights.
 

(a)                                  The Parties acknowledge that, upon the occurrence of any Step-In Event, and at ACI’s option, ACI will have a reasonable opportunity to
identify, and assist Vendor in remedying, the causes underlying the Step-In Event so that Vendor may perform its obligations in respect of the affected
Services in accordance with this Agreement.

 
(b)                                 Accordingly, upon the occurrence of a Step-In Event and upon ACI’s request, Vendor will meet with ACI as promptly as possible in order

to discuss the actions that ACI may take in order for ACI to have such a reasonable opportunity.  Such actions may include providing a ACI management
team to work closely with Vendor’s management team at the affected Service Locations or hiring (at ACI’s expense) a third-party expert to do so, or both. 
ACI and Vendor will expedite such discussions to agree upon such actions as quickly as possible, but in no event later than ten (10) days after ACI’s request.

 
(c)                                  Vendor will cooperate with ACI, the ACI management team and any third-party expert as reasonably necessary for ACI to have such a

reasonable opportunity and to take such agreed actions at the affected locations from which the Services are provided, including:
 

(i)                                     giving the ACI management team or such third-party expert, or both, reasonable access to relevant Vendor management personnel
at the affected Service Locations subject to Vendor’s security policies that otherwise apply pursuant to the other provisions of this Agreement;

 



(ii)                                  working with ACI to identify the causes underlying the Step-In Event and to develop a plan for Vendor to remedy the Step-In
Event, which, if appropriate, will include a root cause analysis.  The plan will describe the objective criteria upon the satisfaction of which ACI will consider
such Step-In Event remedied; and

 
(iii)                               subject to Section 10.5 (solely for purposes of documenting the plan and specifying the timeframe), promptly implementing the

plan approved by ACI.
 

The Parties agree that the period during which ACI will have such a reasonable opportunity and take such actions will not exceed ninety (90) days after the
Parties agree upon such actions.  Nothing in this Section 15.5 limits ACI’s rights with respect to any default or non-performance by Vendor under this
Agreement.
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16.                               WARRANTY
 
16.1                        General.
 

Vendor represents, warrants and covenants that: (a) it has successfully provided and performed services that are substantially equivalent to the
Services for other major customers of Vendor; (b) it has performed all necessary due diligence on ACI’s environment (including systems, Software and
personnel) to provide the Services in accordance with this Agreement; and (c) its financial condition is, and during the Term shall remain, sufficient to enable
Vendor to provide the Services in accordance with this Agreement.

 
16.2                        Work Standards.
 

Vendor warrants that the Services shall be rendered with promptness and diligence and shall be executed in a workmanlike manner, in accordance
with Section 9.1.  Vendor warrants that it shall use adequate numbers of qualified individuals with suitable training, education, qualifications, rights,
resources, experience and skill to perform the Services.

 
16.3                        Maintenance.
 

Vendor warrants that it shall maintain the Equipment and Software for which Vendor has maintenance responsibility as identified in Exhibit C-2
(Financial Responsibility and Ownership Matrix) so that they operate in accordance with their specifications, including:

 
(a)                                  maintaining Equipment in good operating condition, subject to normal wear and tear;
 
(b)                                 undertaking repairs and preventive maintenance on Equipment in accordance with the applicable Equipment manufacturer’s

recommendations; and
 
(c)                                  performing Software maintenance in accordance with the applicable Software vendor’s documentation and recommendations; and
 
(d)                                 using Software in accordance with any and all applicable licensing agreements and associated user manuals.
 

16.4                        Efficiency and Cost Effectiveness.
 

Vendor warrants that with respect to chargeable resources it shall perform the Services in a cost-effective manner consistent with the required level
of quality and performance.

 
16.5                        Technology.
 

Vendor warrants that it shall provide the Services using, consistent with the Procedures Manual and refresh obligations referenced in this Agreement,
proven, then-current technology that will enable ACI to take advantage of technological advancements in its industry and support ACI’s efforts to maintain
competitiveness in the markets in which it competes throughout the Term.

 
16.6                        Non-Infringement; Licenses.
 

(a)                                  Vendor warrants that (i) Vendor will perform the Services and its other responsibilities under this Agreement in a manner that does not
infringe or misappropriate any Intellectual Property Rights of any third party; (ii) the Vendor Provided Technology will not infringe upon or misappropriate
the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party; and (iii) there is no claim or proceeding pending or, to Vendor’s knowledge, threatened alleging that the
Services or any of the Vendor Provided Technology infringes or misappropriates the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party.
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(b)                                 Vendor warrants that it has obtained all requisite licenses and permits necessary to perform the Services and grant the licenses to be granted

by Vendor under this Agreement.
 
(c)                                  To the extent capable, Vendor will pass through any warranties and indemnities for any Vendor provided ISV Software, Equipment or other

products purchased or licensed from third parties and provided to ACI or used by Vendor or its Affiliates in connection with the Services.
 

16.7                        Authorization and Other Consents.
 

Each Party represents, warrants and covenants to the other that:
 



(a)                                  It has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement;

 
(b)                                 The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement

have been duly authorized by the requisite corporate action on the part of such Party and shall not constitute a violation of any judgment, order or decree;
 
(c)                                  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement

shall not constitute a material default under any material contract by which it or any of its material assets are bound, or an event that would, with notice or
lapse of time or both, constitute such a default;

 
(d)                                 As to Vendor, Vendor is duly licensed, authorized or qualified to do business and is in good standing in every jurisdiction in which a license,

authorization or qualification is required for the ownership or leasing of its assets or the transaction of business of the character transacted by it, except where
the failure to be so licensed, authorized or qualified would not have a material adverse effect on Vendor’s ability to fulfill its obligations under this
Agreement; and

 
(e)                                  As to Vendor, there is no outstanding proceeding pending nor, to the knowledge of Vendor, threatened, to which Vendor is a party that

Vendor, without predicting the outcome of such matter, reasonably expects to have a material adverse affect on the ability of Vendor to fulfill its obligations
under this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  As to ACI, there is no outstanding proceeding pending nor, to the knowledge of
ACI, threatened, to which ACI is a party that ACI, without predicting the outcome of such matter, reasonably expects to have a material adverse affect on the
ability of ACI to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

 
16.8                        Inducements.
 

Vendor represents, warrants and covenants to ACI that it has not violated, and will not violate, any the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or any
other Applicable Laws regarding the offering of unlawful inducements in connection with this Agreement or the Services.  If at any time during the Term, the
foregoing warranty is inaccurate, then, in addition to any other rights ACI may have at law or in equity, ACI shall have the right to terminate this Agreement
immediately for cause without paying any Termination Charge and without affording Vendor an opportunity to cure.

 
16.9                        Viruses.
 

Vendor shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to reduce the likelihood that Viruses are coded or introduced into the Software, Equipment or any
expressly specified deliverable delivered under
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this Agreement.  If a Virus is found in the Software, Equipment or deliverable, Vendor shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to assist ACI in reducing
the effects of the Virus and, if the Virus causes a loss of operational efficiency or loss of data, to assist ACI to the same extent to mitigate and restore such
losses; provided that, if it is ultimately determined such Virus was introduced by ACI, an ACI subcontractor or vendor or an ACI Affiliate or other third party,
such assistance will be at Charges determined under the Change Control Procedure.  Vendor shall immediately notify ACI of any existing or anticipated
Virus.

 
16.10                 Disabling Code.
 

Each Party covenants that, without the prior written consent of the other Party, it shall not insert into the Software any code designed to disable or
otherwise shut down all or any portion of the Services.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, both Parties acknowledge that certain third-party and or Vendor,
commercial off-the-shelf Software may include passwords, software keys, trial-period software and similar programming code that are distributed as part of
hardware or Software to automatically ensure that the purchaser or licensee uses the product in accordance with the acquisition or license agreement.  Each
Party shall inform the other Party of all such disabling code in the Software of which such Party has knowledge.  Vendor further covenants that, with respect
to any disabling code that may be part of the Software, Vendor shall not knowingly invoke such disabling code at any time, including upon expiration or
termination of this Agreement for any reason, without ACI’s prior written consent.

 
16.11                 Deliverables.

 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties, Vendor warrants that during the Term each expressly specified deliverable provided to ACI under

this Agreement will conform in all material respects to the stated requirements and specifications set forth in the relevant documents with respect to such
deliverable.

 
16.12                 Software Ownership or Use.
 

Vendor represents and warrants that it will be, at the applicable time and after obtaining the applicable Required Consents, either the owner of, or
authorized to distribute, provide and use the Software provided by, licensed or developed by Vendor under this Agreement or in connection with the provision
of Services hereunder.

 
16.13                 Other.
 

Vendor represents, warrants and covenants, as applicable, that:
 
(a)                                  Neither Vendor nor any of its employees, agents or subcontractors (including any Approved Subcontractors and Vendor Personnel) that will

perform Services or provide other services to the ACI account (i) have ever been convicted of a felony or, within a seven (7) year period (three (3) years for
Vendor agents and subcontractors) preceding that employee’s, agent’s or subcontractor’s date of hire or use by Vendor, been convicted of a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain or performing a public (federal, state or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction, or for
violation of federal or state antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false
statements or receiving stolen property; or (ii) are presently indicted for, or other criminally charged by a governmental entity (U.S. or non-U.S. federal, state



or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in clause (i) of this paragraph. Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted as requiring
Vendor to conduct background checks in jurisdictions where it is legally prohibited from conducting such checks.
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(b)                                 Vendor will maintain at Vendor’s expense all of the necessary certification and documentation such as I-9’s (or the locally equivalent work

permits or other documents) as well as all necessary insurance for its employees, including workers’ compensation and unemployment insurance, and that,
with respect to contractors, Vendor has a written agreement with each and every contractor which specifically provides that the contractor shall not be entitled
to any benefits or payments from any company such as ACI for which Vendor will provide services, and that each and every contractor shall maintain current
employment eligibility verification (DOJ, INS, I-9 (“I-9”)) and other necessary certification and documentation or insurance for all its employees provided
under this Agreement.  Vendor will be solely responsible for the withholding and payment, if any, of employment taxes, all benefits and workers’
compensation insurance.

 
(c)                                  In the event that a Vendor contractor is in the United States on work authorization documents, such contractor has an F-1, TN, or H-1B or

an L-1 visa, provided, however, in the case of an H-1B or L-1 visa, contractor has a presence or office in the United States.  Vendor covenants that all work
authorization documents issued to contractors shall be valid at the time of issuance and shall remain valid and in full force and effect during the entire period
of the contractors’ assignment(s) under any SOW.  ACI shall have the right to perform a background check on such contractor.  The acceptable forms of
identification are as set forth on the current I-9.

 
16.14                 Application.
 

For the avoidance of doubt, each of the covenants set forth in this Article 16 shall remain in effect continually throughout the Term of this
Agreement and those referenced in Section 23.11 shall remain in effect after the expiration or termination of this Agreement.

 
16.15                 Disclaimer.
 

THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THOSE SPECIFIED AS APPLYING, IF ANY, TO ANY LICENSES
GRANTED OR TO BE GRANTED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, ARE EXCLUSIVE.  THERE ARE NO IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING ANY
IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.  SOFTWARE MADE AVAILABLE BY ACI TO
VENDOR IS MADE AVAILABLE ON AN “AS IS” BASIS.

 
17.                               INSURANCE
 
17.1                        Insurance.
 

Vendor covenants that as of the Effective Date it shall have, and agrees that during the Term it shall maintain in force, at least the following
insurance coverages:

 
(a)                                  Employer’s Liability Insurance (Coverage B) and Worker’s Compensation Insurance (Coverage A), including coverage for occupational

injury, illness and disease, and other similar social insurance in accordance with the laws of the country, state or territory exercising jurisdiction over the
employee with Statutory Limits (Coverage A) and minimum limits (Coverage B) per employee and per event of $2,000,000 or the minimum limit required by
law, whichever limit is greater.

 
(b)                                 Comprehensive General Liability Insurance, including Products, Completed Operations, Premises Operations, Bodily Injury, Personal and

Advertising Injury, on an occurrence basis, with a minimum combined single limit per occurrence of $3,000,000 and a minimum combined single aggregate
limit of $5,000,000.  This coverage shall include ACI and its Affiliates as Additional Insureds.
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(c)                                  Property Insurance and Business Income coverage, for all risks of physical loss of or damage to buildings, tangible business personal

property or other tangible property that is owned or leased and supplied by Vendor pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise.  Such insurance shall have a
minimum limit adequate to cover risks on a replacement costs basis.

 
(d)                                 Automotive Liability Insurance covering use of all owned, non-owned and hired automobiles for bodily injury, property damage liability

with a minimum combined single limit per accident of $3,000,000 or the minimum limit required by law, whichever limit is greater.  This coverage shall
include ACI and its Affiliates as Additional Insureds.

 
(e)                                  Commercial Crime Insurance, including blanket coverage for Employee Dishonesty for loss or damage to tangible property arising out of or

in connection with any fraudulent or dishonest acts committed by the employees of Vendor, acting alone or in collusion with others, including the property
and funds of others in Vendor’s or its employees’ possession, care, custody or control, with a minimum limit per event of $1,000,000.00.  ACI shall be
designated as a “loss payee” as its interest may appear under this policy.  However, loss payments hereunder shall not include any loss to the extent such loss
results from the dishonest acts of the employees of ACI.

 
Errors and Omissions Liability Insurance covering liability for loss or damage due to an act, error, omission or negligence, with a minimum limit per

event of $5,000,000.
 
17.2                        Insurance Provisions.
 

(a)                                  The insurance coverages described above that include ACI as an additional insured (i.e. the Commercial General Liability and Automobile
Liability policies) shall be primary, and all coverage shall be non-contributing with respect to any other insurance or self insurance which may be maintained
by ACI and is primary and non-contributory with respect to liability arising out of Vendor’s negligence and as respects this Agreement only.  All coverages
described above shall contain the standard separation of insureds provisions regarding ACI.  To the extent any coverage is written on a claims-made basis, it



shall have a retroactive date no later than the Effective Date and shall be maintained for a period of two (2) years after the expiration or premature termination
of this Agreement.

 
(b)                                 Vendor shall provide certificates of insurance evidencing that the coverages and policy endorsements required under this Agreement are in

force and should any of the policies described herein be cancelled before the expiration date thereof, the insurer affording coverage will endeavor to mail 30
days written notice to the certificate holder named herein, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no obligation of liability of any kind upon the insurer
affording coverage, its agents or representatives.  The insurers selected by Vendor shall have an A.M. Best rating of A-, Size VII or better, or, if such ratings
are no longer available, with a comparable rating from a recognized insurance rating agency.  Vendor shall assure that all Approved Subcontractors, if any,
maintain insurance coverages described above naming Vendor as an additional insured where relevant.

 
(c)                                  In the case of loss or damage or other event that requires notice or other action under the terms of any insurance coverage described above,

Vendor shall be solely responsible to take such action.  Vendor shall provide ACI with contemporaneous notice and with such other information as ACI may
request regarding the event.

 
(d)                                 Vendor’s obligation to maintain insurance coverage in specified amounts shall not act as a limitation or expansion on any other liability or

obligation which Vendor would otherwise have under this Agreement.
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18.                               INDEMNITIES
 
18.1                        Vendor Indemnities.
 

Vendor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless ACI and ACI’s Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, successors
and assigns (collectively, “ACI Indemnitees”) against any and all Losses and threatened Losses payable to third parties, to the extent arising from, in
connection with, or based on allegations whenever made of, any of the following:

 
(a)                                  Claims arising out of Vendor’s failure to observe or perform any duties or obligations to be observed or performed by Vendor under any of

the contracts, including Software licenses, Equipment leases and Third Party Services Contracts (including the terms of any Required Consents with respect
to any of the foregoing): (i) assigned to Vendor, if any; or (ii) for which Vendor has assumed financial, administrative or operational responsibility, all to the
extent such duties or obligations were required by this Agreement to be observed or performed by Vendor on or after the date of such assignment or
assumption;

 
(b)                                 Any claims of infringement that would amount to a breach by Vendor of the warranties set forth in Section 16.6; provided that (i) the claim

is not caused by improper acts or omissions of ACI (such as use of more copies of an item than that for which a license was to have been obtained); (ii) the
claim does not result from ACI’s failure to fulfill its obligation to provide reasonable cooperation under Section 6.7 in connection with Vendor’s efforts to
obtain Required Consents; and (iii) Vendor’s obligations under this Section 18.1(b) shall not apply to the extent that (A) the claim of infringement is based
upon ACI’s use of Vendor Provided Technology (1) in combination with equipment, devices or software not specified or approved in writing by Vendor,
contemplated by this Agreement, or otherwise used by Vendor to provide the Services or (2) in a manner that violates any license grant or other term or
condition of this Agreement; (B) a ACI Indemnitee modifies the software provided by Vendor hereunder without Vendor’s written approval and such
infringement would not have occurred but for such modification; or (C) the claim of infringement arises out of designs or specifications provided by a ACI
Indemnitee that necessarily caused such infringement claim and that describe detailed, non-discretionary methods of processes for meeting a business
requirement of achieving a required outcome (as opposed to just describing business requirements of expected outcomes);

 
(c)                                  Any claim or action by, on behalf of, or related to, any employee of Vendor or its Affiliates, or any of their subcontractors (which, if made

by a Rebadged Employee arises out of acts, incidents or omissions occurring on or after, or out of events occurring on or after, the date such employee is
transferred to Vendor or acts or omissions specifically requested by Vendor or its Affiliates or their subcontractors at any time), including claims asserting
liens or other encumbrances on assets of ACI or ACI Affiliates and claims arising under occupational health and safety, ERISA, worker’s compensation or
other Applicable Laws;

 
(d)                                 Any claim or action asserted against an ACI Indemnitee but resulting from an act or omission of Vendor or its Affiliates or its or their

respective officers, directors, employees, subcontractors or agents;
 
(e)                                  The material inaccuracy or untruthfulness of the representations or warranties made by Vendor in Sections 16.7 and 16.12;
 
(f)                                    Any claim or action by Vendor’s subcontractors arising out of Vendor’s breach or violation of Vendor’s subcontracting arrangements;
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(g)                                 Any claim or action arising out of acts or omissions of Vendor which result in, arise from or relate to:
 

(i)                                     a violation of Applicable Laws for the protection of persons or members of a protected class or category of persons by Vendor or
its employees, subcontractors or agents;

 
(ii)                                  discrimination or harassment by Vendor, its employees, subcontractors or agents;
 
(iii)                               vested employee benefits of any kind expressly assumed by Vendor;
 
(iv)                              representations (oral or written) to ACI personnel by Vendor, Vendor Affiliates (or their respective officers, directors, employees,

representatives, subcontractors or agents), or other acts or omissions with respect to ACI personnel by such persons or entities, including any act, omission or
representation made in connection with the interview, selection, hiring and/or transition process (other than any representations to the Affected Employees



based on information or direction provided by ACI), any offers of employment made to such employees, the failure to make offers to any such employees
required hereunder or the terms and conditions of such offers (including compensation and employee benefits).

 
(h)                                 Any breach of Vendor’s obligations under Article 15 (Safeguarding of Data; Confidentiality) as a result of Vendor’s or Vendor’s

subcontractors’ misappropriation;
 
(i)                                     Any claim or action by any employee or contractor of Vendor or its subcontractors that ACI is liable to such person as the employer or joint

employer of such person, including and any claim for employee benefits as a result thereof, other than claims by Rebadged Employees arising out of events,
acts, incidents or omissions occurring prior to the date such Rebadged Employees are transferred to Vendor;

 
(j)                                     Any claim or action arising out of or relating to Vendor’s failure to comply with the obligations provided in Section 13.4, provided that

Vendor shall not be responsible for interest or penalties occasioned by ACI’s failure to timely remit taxes to Vendor which ACI is responsible to pay except to
the extent that such failure is due to Vendor’s failure to timely notify or charge ACI for taxes which Vendor is responsible to collect and remit (i) for which
Vendor had failed to timely request all necessary tax information from ACI or (ii) for which ACI had previously provided all required necessary tax related
information previously requested by Vendor on a timely basis;

 
(k)                                  Any failure to obtain or maintain the Required Consents as contemplated under Section 6.7;
 
(l)                                     Any failure to comply with any Vendor Laws resulting in claims by government regulators or agencies for fines, penalties, sanctions,

underpayments or other remedies to the extent such fines, penalties, sanctions, underpayments or other remedies are caused by Vendor’s failure to comply
with any Vendor Laws; or

 
(m)                               Any physical injury, death or real or tangible property loss caused by Vendor or Vendor Personnel as a result of the provision of the

Services.
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18.2                        ACI Indemnities.
 

ACI shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Vendor and Vendor’s Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, successors
and assigns (collectively, “Vendor Indemnitees”) against any and all Losses and threatened Losses payable to third parties, to the extent arising from, in
connection with, or based on allegations whenever made, of the following:

 
(a)                                  Claims arising out of ACI’s failure to observe or perform any duties or obligations to be observed or performed by ACI under any of the

contracts, including Software licenses, Equipment leases, if any, and Third Party Services Contracts: (i) assigned to Vendor, if any; or (ii) for which (and to
the extent) ACI has retained financial, administrative or operational responsibility, all to the extent such duties or obligations were required to be observed or
performed by ACI before the date of such assignment or assumption;

 
(b)                                 Any claim by a third party of infringement of such third party’s Intellectual Property Rights directly arising from (i) designs or

specifications provided by ACI to Vendor under this Agreement that necessarily caused such infringement claim and that describe detailed, non-discretionary
methods of processes for meeting a business requirement of achieving a required outcome (as opposed to just describing business requirements of expected
outcomes), or (ii) data, documents, code or other technology or materials that have been provided by ACI to Vendor for Vendor to provide Services to ACI
under this Agreement (collectively, the “ACI Provided Technology”); provided that (A) the infringement claim is not caused by improper acts or omissions of
Vendor; (B) the claim does not result from Vendor’s failure to fulfill its obligation to provide reasonable cooperation under Section 6.7 in connection with
efforts to obtain Required Consents; and (C) ACI’s obligations under this Section 18.2(b) shall not apply to the extent that: (1) the claim of infringement is
based upon Vendor’s use of ACI Provided Technology: (x) in combination with equipment, devices or software not approved, specified or reasonably
anticipated by ACI, contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise used by ACI prior to the Effective Date, or (y) in a manner that violates any license grant or
other term or condition of this Agreement, (2) Vendor modifies the ACI Provided Technology and such infringement would not have occurred but for such
modification, or (3) the claim of infringement arises out of designs or specifications provided by a Vendor Indemnitee that necessarily caused such
infringement claim and that describe detailed, non-discretionary methods of processes for providing the Service.  The indemnities in this Section  18.2(b) are
Vendor’s sole and exclusive remedies for infringement claims related to any Software or other technology provided by ACI;

 
(c)                                  Any claim or action by, on behalf of, or related to, any employee of ACI or any of its subcontractors (which, if made by a Rebadged

Employee arises out of acts, incidents, events or omissions occurring before the date such employee is transferred to Vendor), or acts or omissions specifically
requested by ACI or its Affiliates at any time, including claims arising under occupational health and safety, ERISA, worker’s compensation or other
applicable federal, state or local laws or regulations, except where such claim arises out of acts or omissions specifically requested by Vendor or its Affiliates;

 
(d)                                 Any claim or action arising out of or relating to ACI’s failure to comply with the obligations provided in Section 13.4, provided that ACI

shall not be responsible for interest or penalties occasioned by Vendor’s failure to notify or charge ACI for taxes which Vendor is responsible to collect except
to extent that such failure is due to ACI’s failure to provide necessary tax related information previously requested by Vendor on a timely basis;

 
(e)                                  Any claim or action by subcontractors arising out of ACI’s breach or violation of ACI’s subcontracting arrangements;
 
(f)                                    Any breach of ACI’s obligations under Article 15 (Safeguarding of Data; Confidentiality) as a result of misappropriation by ACI;

 
57

 
(g)                                 Any failure to obtain or maintain the Required Consents as contemplated under Section 6.7;
 
(h)                                 Vendor and ACI agree that in the United Kingdom, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (the

“Regulations”) do not apply to service transfers and that other than the one employee specified below (the “ACI Employee”), no employee of ACI or any of
its subcontractors will transfer employment from ACI to Vendor as a result of the service transfer.  In the event that the contract of employment of any other



ACI employee or the employee of any ACI subcontractor or any collective agreement shall have effect or is alleged to have effect as if originally made
between Vendor and such person or trade union pursuant to the Regulations, unless Vendor should make a decision to take any such person into employment
or such person is the ACI Employee, Vendor may, within one month of becoming aware of the application or alleged application of the Regulations to any
such contract or collective agreement (having promptly communicated such awareness to Vendor) terminate (or purport to terminate) such contract of
employment or collective agreement.  ACI shall indemnify, keep indemnified and hold harmless Vendor against any claims, losses, proceedings, costs,
demands, liabilities and expenses (including without limitation all legal expenses and other professional fees together with any valued added tax thereon)
suffered or incurred by Vendor arising out of or in connection with:

 
(i)                                     any termination of any  contract of employment or collective agreement in accordance as set forth above;
 
(ii)                                  in the event the Regulations are found to apply, any failure by ACI to comply with its obligations pursuant to the Regulations,

including any failure by ACI to provide the information which it is obliged to provide to employee representatives in accordance with the Regulations; or
 
(iii)                               anything done or omitted to be done by ACI or its subcontractors in respect of the ACI Employee before the service transfer,

including without limitation, any claim by the ACI Employee that ACI or its subcontractors violated any Applicable Law in connection with the employment
of the ACI Employee.

 
Vendor agrees that on or before May 15, 2008, it shall make or shall procure that its subcontractor shall make an offer to employ Steve Newbury (being the
ACI Employee) at its or its subcontractor’s location at Watford in the United Kingdom on substantially equivalent or better terms than such employee enjoys
with ACI, without reference to occupational retirement plans and that upon such acceptance, Vendor or its subcontractors shall employ the ACI Employee in
accordance with such offer.  ACI shall render all reasonable assistance to Vendor or its subcontractor so that the ACI Employee accepts such employment and
shall waive any notice of termination of employment that such employee is required to give ACI.
 

(i)                                     Except to the extent covered by another provision of this Article 18, claims by any individual or entity, other than ACI, that uses or receives
the benefits of the Services by or through ACI or by virtue of this Agreement (as the Parties intend that only ACI shall be permitted to enforce rights against
Vendor under this Agreement or related to the Services); or

 
(j)                                     Any physical injury, death or real or tangible property loss caused by ACI.
 

18.3                        Infringement.
 

If any item provided by either Party that is used in the provision of the Services becomes, or in the providing Party’s reasonable opinion is likely to
become, the subject of an infringement or misappropriation claim, in addition to indemnifying the other Party to the extent required in
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Section 18.1(b) and 18.2(b), and in addition to such Party’s other rights, the providing Party shall promptly take the following actions, at no charge to the
other Party, in the listed order of priority:

 
(a)                                  promptly secure the right to continue using the item;
 
(b)                                 replace or modify the item to make it non-infringing or without misappropriation, provided that any such replacement or modification must

not degrade the performance or quality of the affected component of the Services, as reasonably determined by the Parties; or
 
(c)                                  remove the item from the Services, in which case Vendor’s Charges shall be equitably adjusted to reflect such removal; provided that

(i) such removal and adjustment does not limit Vendor’s liability for any failure of the remaining Services to fully comply with the requirements of this
Agreement, whether such failure is due to the absence of the removed item or the removal’s impact on the remaining Services and (ii) any resulting failure of
the Services to comply with this Agreement may constitute a material breach entitling ACI to terminate this Agreement under Section 21.1, in which case
ACI will not be required to observe the otherwise applicable cure period.

 
18.4                        Indemnification Procedures.
 

With respect to third-party claims the following procedures shall apply:
 
(a)                                  Notice.  Promptly after receipt by a ACI Indemnitee or Vendor Indemnitee, as applicable, of notice of the assertion or the commencement of

any action, proceeding or other claim by a third party in respect of which the indemnitee will seek indemnification pursuant to this Article 18, the indemnitee
shall promptly notify the indemnitor of such claim in writing.  No failure to so notify an indemnitor shall relieve it of its obligations under this Agreement
except to the extent that it can demonstrate that such failure has increased the indemnifying Party’s costs or liability.  Within fifteen (15) days following
receipt of written notice from the indemnitee relating to any claim, but no later than ten (10) days before the date on which any response to a complaint,
claim, action or summons is due, the indemnitor shall notify the indemnitee in writing if the indemnitor acknowledges its indemnification obligation and
elects to assume control of the defense and settlement of that claim (a “Notice of Election”); provided, however, that such acknowledgement and election
shall not be, or deemed to be, a waiver of any defense that the indemnitor may have with respect to the underlying action, proceeding or claim.

 
(b)                                 Procedure Following Notice of Election.  If the indemnitor delivers a Notice of Election relating to any claim within the required notice

period, the indemnitor shall be entitled to have sole control over the defense and settlement of such claim; provided that the indemnitee shall be entitled, at its
own expense, to participate in the defense of such claim and to employ counsel to assist in the handling of such claim.  If the indemnitor has delivered a
Notice of Election relating to any claim in accordance with the preceding subsection, the indemnitor shall not be liable to the indemnitee for any legal
expenses incurred by the indemnitee in connection with the defense of that claim.  In addition, the indemnitor shall not be required to indemnify the
indemnitee for any amount paid or payable by the indemnitee in the settlement of any claim for which the indemnitor has delivered a timely Notice of
Election if such amount was agreed to without the written consent of the indemnitor.

 
(c)                                  Procedure Where No Notice of Election Is Delivered.  If the indemnitor does not deliver a Notice of Election relating to a claim, or

otherwise fails to acknowledge its indemnification obligation or to assume the defense of a claim, within the required notice period or fails to diligently
defend the claim, the indemnitee shall have the right to defend the claim in such manner as it may deem appropriate, at the cost, expense and risk of the



indemnitor, including payment of any judgment or award, indemnitee’s attorneys’ fees and expenses and the costs of settlement or compromise of the claim. 
The
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indemnitor shall promptly reimburse the indemnitee for all such costs and expenses, including payment of any judgment or award and the costs of settlement
or compromise of the claim.  If it is determined that the indemnitor failed to defend a claim for which it was liable, the indemnitor shall not be entitled to
challenge the amount of any settlement or compromise paid by the indemnitee.

 
19.                               LIABILITY
 
19.1                        General Intent.
 

Subject to the liability restrictions below, it is the intent of the Parties that each Party shall be liable to the other Party for any actual damages
incurred by the non-breaching Party as a result of the breaching Party’s failure to perform its obligations in the manner required by this Agreement.

 
19.2                        Liability Restrictions.
 

(a)                                  SUBJECT TO SECTION 19.2(c) BELOW, IN NO EVENT, WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR IN TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE),
BREACH OF WARRANTY, STRICT LIABILITY, OR OTHERWISE, SHALL A PARTY BE LIABLE FOR INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL,
EXEMPLARY, PUNITIVE, INCIDENTAL, OR SPECIAL DAMAGES, OR LOST PROFITS, EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE
POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES IN ADVANCE.

 
(b)                                 Subject to Section 19.2(c) and Section 19.2(d) below, each of the Parties will be liable to the other for any direct damages arising out of or

relating to its performance or failure to perform under this Agreement; provided, however, that the liability of a Party to the other Party, whether based on an
action or claim in contract, equity, negligence, tort or otherwise, will not in the aggregate exceed an amount equal to the greater of:  (i) $5,000,000 or (ii) the
amount of Charges paid or payable by ACI under this Agreement during the twelve (12) months immediately preceding the occurrence of the first event, act
or omission on which such liability is based; provided, however, that however, that (1) if twelve (12) months has not elapsed since the Effective Date, the
amount for this subsection (ii) will be equal to twelve (12) times the average monthly Charges for the elapsed period of the Term or (2) if the event, act or
omission occurred after the expiration or termination of this Agreement, the amount for this subsection (ii) will be equal to the aggregate amount of Charges
paid or payable by ACI during the last twelve (12)-month-period of time during the Term.

 
(c)                                  The limitations set forth in Section 19.2(a) and Section 19.2(b) above shall not apply with respect to:
 

(i)                                     claims that are the subject of indemnification pursuant to Sections 18.1 and 18.2; provided, however that damages payable for
indemnification claims set forth in Section 18.1(l) (relating to violations of Vendor Laws) shall (i) be included in the damages cap set forth in
Section 19.2(b) and (ii) not exceed $1,000,000; and

 
(ii)                                  damages occasioned by infringement of a Party’s Intellectual Property Rights or misappropriation of its Confidential Information.
 

(d)                                 The limitations set forth in Section 19.2(b) above shall not apply with respect to:
 

(i)                                     damages occasioned by the willful misconduct or gross negligence of a Party;  in which case each of the Parties will be liable to
the other for any direct damages arising out of or relating to its performance or failure to perform under this Agreement; provided, however, that the liability
of a
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Party to the other Party, whether based on an action or claim in contract, equity, negligence, tort or otherwise, will not in the aggregate exceed an amount
equal to the greater of:  (i) $7,000,000 or (ii) the amount of Charges paid or payable by ACI under this Agreement during the fifteen (15) months immediately
preceding the occurrence of the first event, act or omission on which such liability is based; provided, however, that however, that (1) if fifteen (15) months
has not elapsed since the Effective Date, the amount for this subsection (ii) will be equal to fifteen (15) times the average monthly Charges for the elapsed
period of the Term or (2) if the event, act or omission occurred after the expiration or termination of this Agreement, the amount for this subsection (ii) will be
equal to the aggregate amount of Charges paid or payable by ACI during the last fifteen (15)-month-period of time during the Term.

 
(ii)                                  damages occasioned by abandonment of all or substantially all of the work required to perform the Services in which case the

limitations will be the same as those set forth in Section 19.2(d)(i) above.
 

In addition, for Vendor’s breaches of its obligations under Section 15.3 (Confidential Information) resulting in a release of Personally Identifiable
Information, in addition to the direct damages limited by Section 19.2(b) above and ACI’s other rights under the Agreement, Vendor shall pay for (i) legally
required notifications to ACI’s customers and (ii) credit monitoring services for ACI’s customers up to an amount not to exceed $1,000,000.
 
19.3                        Direct Damages.
 

For purposes of this Agreement, direct damages shall include, but not be limited to, the following, which shall not be considered consequential
damages to the extent they result from a Party’s failure to fulfill its obligations in accordance with this Agreement:

 
(a)                                  Reasonable costs of recreating or reloading any of ACI’s information that is lost or damaged to the last available back-up; provided,

however, that if Vendor has the responsibility under this Agreement to back up ACI’s data, and fails to fulfill its obligation to do so with respect to the lost or
damaged data, Vendor shall pay for the costs of recreating or reloading such data up to the limit of liability in Section 19(b);

 
(b)                                 Reasonable costs of implementing a workaround or fix in respect of a failure to provide the Services;



 
(c)                                  Reasonable costs of replacing lost or damaged equipment and software and materials;
 
(d)                                 Reasonable costs and expenses incurred to correct errors in software maintenance and enhancements provided as part of the Services;
 
(e)                                  Reasonable costs and expenses incurred to procure the Services from an alternate source; or
 
(f)                                    Reasonable straight time, overtime or related expenses incurred by ACI or its Affiliates, including overhead allocations for employees,

wages and salaries of additional personnel, travel expenses, telecommunication and similar charges incurred due to the direct failure of Vendor to provide the
Services or incurred in connection with (a) through (e) above in strict accordance with the standards of performance specified in this Agreement.

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent damages payable by ACI under this Article 19 consist of compensation to Vendor for work performed by Vendor
Personnel, such compensation shall be calculated
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using the time and material rates provided in Exhibit C-1 (Base Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates and Termination Charges).
 
19.4                        Duty to Mitigate.
 

Each Party shall have a duty to mitigate damages for which the other Party is responsible.
 

19.5                        Disaster Recovery Plan.
 

(a)                                  Vendor will implement and maintain disaster recovery plans and business continuity plans for Service Locations and Vendor’s business
(collectively, “DR/BC Plans”) as set forth in Exhibit A-9 (Disaster Recovery / Business Continuity Plans) and provide reasonable cooperation and support
with the then-current resources being applied by Vendor to ACI’s account for ACI’s implementation of its internal disaster recovery and business continuity
plans.  Vendor will (1) update and test the operability of the DR/BC Plans annually, (2) verify for ACI upon each such test that the DR/BC Plans are fully
operational and provide ACI with a summary of any report regarding the results of such test and (3) implement the DR/BC Plans upon the occurrence of a
disaster.  Subject to the Change Control Procedure, ACI may request and Vendor will perform additional testing and support for such testing as may be
requested by ACI customers.

 
(b)                                 Upon the occurrence of a disaster, Vendor will reinstate the Services within the time periods set forth in Exhibit A-9 (Disaster Recovery /

Business Continuity Plans) or, if not set forth in Exhibit A-9 (Disaster Recovery / Business Continuity Plans), the recovery time periods set forth in the
DR/BC Plans.

 
19.6                        Force Majeure.
 

(a)                                  Provided that Vendor has fully complied with its obligations to provide disaster recovery-related Services hereunder, to the extent that the
Vendor facilities intended to be used for such disaster recover Services are not impacted by the event, neither Party shall be liable for any default or delay in
the performance of its obligations under this Agreement:

 
(i)                                     if and to the extent such default or delay is caused, directly or indirectly, by fire, flood, earthquake, elements of nature or acts of

God, acts of terrorism, riots, labor disputes (other than labor disputes of a Party or its subcontractors, and its employees), civil disorders or any other similar
cause beyond the reasonable control of such Party;

 
(ii)                                  provided the non-performing Party is without fault in causing such default or delay, and such default or delay could not have been

prevented by reasonable precautions and could not reasonably be circumvented by the non-performing Party through the use of alternate sources, workaround
plans or other means (including, with respect to Vendor, by Vendor meeting its obligations for performing disaster recovery services as provided in this
Agreement) (each such event, a “Force Majeure Event”).

 
(b)                                 The non-performing Party shall be excused from further performance or observance of the obligations affected by a Force Majeure Event

for as long as such circumstances prevail and such Party continues to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to recommence performance or observance
without delay.  Any Party so delayed in its performance shall immediately notify the Party to whom performance is due by telephone (to be confirmed in
writing within twenty-four (24) hours of the inception of such delay) and describe at a reasonable level of detail (1) the circumstances causing such delay and
(2) the steps the non-performing Party intends to take to mitigate the effect of the Force
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Majeure Event, including the use of resources available to such non-performing Party through its DR Plan.  Except as set forth in Section 19.6(c) below, to
the extent a Force Majeure Event relieves Vendor of its obligations to perform the Services impacted by such event and Vendor does not perform due to such
Force Majeure Event, ACI’s obligation to pay for such Services shall also be relieved.

 
(c)                                  If any Force Majeure Event affecting facilities, personnel or other resources under the control of Vendor or any of its Affiliates or

subcontractors substantially prevents, hinders or delays performance of the Services necessary for the performance of functions identified by ACI as critical
for more than three (3) consecutive days or any material portion of the Services for more than five (5) Business Days, then, at ACI’s option, ACI may procure
such Services from an alternate source, and Vendor shall be liable for payment for such Services from the alternate source for up to ninety (90) days of such
alternate services based upon the number of days that ACI receives such alternate services.  ACI will continue to pay Vendor undisputed Charges for the
impacted Services during such ninety (90) day period for so long as ACI continues to receive the alternate Services.  Vendor’s reimbursement obligation
pursuant to this Section 19.6 is limited to reimbursement for the alternate services that are substantially similar to the Services impacted by the Force Majeure
Event, and does not extend to any additional services that ACI may elect to procure from the alternate source.  If ACI returns to Vendor facilities after use of
the alternate source, Vendor will reimburse ACI for all reasonable out of pocket costs of returning to the Vendor facility.  If the alternate source provides



services for longer than fifteen (15) days, then ACI may, within five (5) days after the end of such fifteen (15) day period and upon payment to Vendor for:
(i) any unrecovered startup expenses, (ii) unamortized assets, and (iii) other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses associated with ramp-down, terminate the
affected portion of the Services upon notice to Vendor, such termination to be effective at any time within ninety (90) days after such five (5) day period. 
However, if the impacted Services are within the scope of Exhibit A-9 and Vendor does not provide Services pursuant to the DR / BC Plan, ACI may
terminate without payment of the expenses described in the foregoing sentence.  ACI agrees to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to mitigate damages
arising pursuant to this Section 19.6.

 
(d)                                 Vendor shall not have the right to any additional payments from ACI for costs or expenses incurred by Vendor as a result of any Force

Majeure Event.
 

20.                               DISPUTE RESOLUTION
 

Any dispute between the Parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement, including with respect to the interpretation of any provision of this
Agreement and with respect to the performance by Vendor or ACI, shall be resolved as provided in this Article 20.

 
20.1                        Informal Dispute Resolution Process.
 

(a)                                  Subject to Sections 20.1(b) and 20.1(c), the Parties initially shall attempt to resolve their dispute informally, in accordance with the
following:

 
(i)                                     Upon the written notice by a Party to the other Party of a dispute (“Dispute Date”), each Party shall appoint a designated

representative whose task it will be to meet for the purpose of endeavoring to resolve such dispute.  The designated representatives of a Party shall have the
authority to resolve the dispute on behalf of such Party.

 
(ii)                                  The designated representatives shall meet as often as the Parties reasonably deem necessary in order to gather and furnish to the

other all information with respect to the matter in issue which the Parties believe to be appropriate and germane in connection with its resolution.  The
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representatives shall discuss the problem and attempt to resolve the dispute without the necessity of any formal proceeding.
 

(iii)                               During the course of discussion, all reasonable requests made by a Party to the other for non-privileged information, reasonably
related to this Agreement, shall be honored in order that a Party may be fully advised of the other’s position.

 
(iv)                              The specific format for the discussions shall be left to the discretion of the designated representatives.
 

(b)                                 After ten (10) Business Days or such other period as the Parties may agree, following the Dispute Date and prior to commencement of any
litigation as permitted under Section 20.1(c), both Parties may agree to initiate non-binding mediation of the dispute by submitting to the American
Arbitration Association (the dispute mediation entity, “DM”) a written request for mediation under the Commercial Mediation rules of such organization,
setting forth the subject of the dispute and the relief requested.  The Parties shall cooperate with DM and each other in the mediation process, and any such
mediation shall be held in New York, New York.  The mediation shall be conducted in accordance with the applicable practices and procedures of DM.  Either
Party, upon notice to DM and to the other Party, may terminate the mediation process.  Each Party shall bear its own expenses in the mediation process and
shall share equally the charges of DM.

 
(c)                                  Litigation of a dispute may be commenced by either Party upon the earlier to occur of any of the following:
 

(i)                                     the designated representatives mutually conclude that amicable resolution through continued negotiation of the matter does not
appear likely; or

 
(ii)                                  forty-five (45) days have elapsed from the Dispute Date.
 

(d)                                 Notwithstanding the above, either Party may commence litigation if it is deemed appropriate by a Party to avoid the expiration of an
applicable limitations period or to preserve a superior position with respect to other creditors, or a Party makes a good faith determination, including as
provided in Section 21.10 respecting ACI, that a breach of this Agreement by the other Party is such that a temporary restraining order or other injunctive
relief is necessary.

 
(e)                                  No resolution or attempted resolution of any dispute or disagreement pursuant to this Section 20.1 shall be deemed to be a waiver of any

term or provision of this Agreement or consent to any breach unless such waiver or consent shall be in writing and signed by the Party claimed to have
waived or consented.

 
20.2                        Litigation.
 

For all litigation which may arise with respect to this Agreement, the Parties irrevocably and unconditionally submit to the jurisdiction and venue
(and waive any claim of forum nonconveniens and any objections as to laying of venue) of the New York state and federal courts located in New York, New
York in connection with any action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement.  Each Party further waives personal service of any
summons, complaint or other process and agrees that the service thereof may be made by certified or registered mail directed to such Party at such Party’s
address provided in Section 23.3 for purposes of notices under this Agreement, provided that service occurs upon actual receipt of the notice and that no other
applicable state or federal rule of civil procedure regarding jurisdiction or service of process is waived or otherwise altered.
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20.3                        Continued Performance.



 
Each Party agrees to continue performing its obligations (subject to ACI’s rights to withhold disputed Charges under Section 14.8) under this

Agreement while any dispute is being resolved, regardless of the nature and extent of the dispute, unless and until such obligations are terminated by the
termination or expiration of this Agreement or by and in accordance with the final determination of the dispute resolution procedures.

 
20.4                        Governing Law.
 

This Agreement and performance under it shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without regard
to any portion of its choice of law principles that might provide for application of a different jurisdiction’s law.  The United Nations Convention on the
International Sale of Goods shall not apply to this Agreement.
 
21.                               TERMINATION
 
21.1                        Termination For Cause By ACI.
 

(a)                                  ACI may terminate this Agreement, either in whole or by affected Service Tower, if Vendor:
 

(i)                                     commits a material breach of this Agreement and fails to cure such breach within thirty (30) days after notice of breach from ACI
to Vendor;

 
(ii)                                  commits a material breach of this Agreement which Vendor demonstrates, during the thirty (30) day cure period, is not capable of

being cured within such period and fails to (A) proceed promptly and diligently to correct the breach; (B) within thirty (30) days following such notice
provide ACI with a written plan for curing the breach; and (C) cure the breach within thirty (30) days after such notice;

 
(iii)                               commits numerous breaches of the same duty or obligation which collectively constitute a material breach of this Agreement

which is not cured within thirty (30) days after notice of breach from ACI; or
 
(iv)                              fails to meet the Minimum Service Level value for the same Critical Service Level for three (3) consecutive months or six (6)

months during any rolling twelve (12) month period; provided that for purposes of this subsection (iv) only ACI agrees to pay Vendor for: (x) any
unrecovered startup expenses, (y) unamortized assets, and (z) other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses associated with ramp-down.

 
(b)                                 ACI may terminate a Service (and any other Service that is integrally related to such terminated Service) if Vendor (i) commits a material

breach of this Agreement with respect to such Service and fails to cure such breach within thirty (30) days after notice of breach from ACI to Vendor, or
(ii) commits a material breach of this Agreement with respect to such Service which Vendor demonstrates, during the thirty (30) day cure period, is not
capable of being cured within such period and fails to (A) proceed promptly and diligently to correct the breach; (B) within thirty (30) days following such
notice provide ACI with a written plan for curing the breach; and (C) cure the breach within thirty (30) days after such notice.  The reductions of Services
resulting from any such termination will not give rise to payment of any Termination Charges.
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(c)                                  For the purposes of this Section 21.1 payment of monetary damages by Vendor shall not be deemed to cure a material breach by Vendor of

its obligations under this Agreement.
 

21.2                        Termination by Vendor.
 

(a)                                  Due to the impact any termination of this Agreement would have on ACI’s business, ACI’s failure to perform its responsibilities set forth in
this Agreement (other than as provided in this Section 21.2) shall not be grounds for termination by Vendor, notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement
to the contrary.  Vendor acknowledges that ACI would not be willing to enter into this Agreement without assurance that it may not be terminated by Vendor
and that Vendor may not suspend performance except, and only to the extent, provided under this Agreement.

 
(b)                                 If and only if ACI fails to pay Vendor as set forth in Section 14.2 and Section 14.8 undisputed Charges under the Agreement totaling at least

$50,000.00 within fourteen (14) days after the due date for such Charges, Vendor may by giving written notice to ACI terminate this Agreement as of a date
specified in the notice of termination which is at least ten (10) days after the date on which such notice is received by ACI, unless ACI has cured within such
timeframe.
 
21.3                        Termination for Convenience by ACI.
 

At any time during the Term, ACI may terminate this entire Agreement or any one or more of the Service Towers for convenience and without cause
by giving Vendor at least six (6) months’ prior written notice designating the effective termination date.  In that event, on the effective date of the termination,
ACI will pay to Vendor an amount calculated in accordance with Exhibit C-1 (Base Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates and Termination Charges)
consisting of the sum of (A) the applicable Termination for Convenience Fee and (B) Wind Down Expenses.

 
21.4                        Termination by ACI for Change of Control.
 

(a)                                  If (i) another entity not currently an Affiliate of ACI, directly or indirectly, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, acquires
either Control of ACI or all or substantially all of the assets of ACI; or (ii) ACI is merged with or into another entity, then, at any time within nine (9) months
after the last to occur of such events, ACI may terminate this Agreement by (A) giving Vendor at least six (6) month’s prior written notice and designating a
date upon which such termination shall be effective, and (B) by the payment of 90% of the then-applicable Termination Charge specified in Exhibit C-1 (Base
Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates and Termination Charges), and Wind Down Expenses.

 
(b)                                 If (i) another entity not currently an Affiliate of Vendor, directly or indirectly, in a single transaction or series of related transactions,

acquires either Control of Vendor or all or substantially all of the assets of Vendor; or (ii) Vendor is merged with or into another entity that results in a change
of Control of Vendor, then, at any time within nine (9) months after the last to occur of such events, ACI may terminate this Agreement by (A) giving Vendor



at least six (6) months’ prior written notice and designating a date upon which such termination shall be effective, and (B) by the payment of 50% of the then-
applicable Termination Charge specified in Exhibit C-1 (Base Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates and Termination Charges), and Wind Down Expenses.

 
21.5                        Failure to Transition and Other Termination Rights.
 

(a)                                  This Agreement may be terminated by ACI in whole or in part as provided in Section 13.7(e)(ii), Section 16.8, Section 18.3(c) or
Section 19.6(c).
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(b)                                 ACI may terminate this Agreement without liability, except for payment for Services already performed, by paying 50% of the then-

applicable Termination Charge specified in Exhibit C-1 (Base Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates and Termination Charges), and by paying Wind Down
Expenses, if there is a change in Applicable Law that makes receiving the Services illegal.  ACI may terminate this Agreement, by paying 75% of the then-
applicable Termination Charge specified in Exhibit C-1 (Base Charges, Baselines, ARC/RRC Rates and Termination Charges), and by paying Wind Down
Expenses, if there is a change in Applicable Law that makes receiving the Service impractical or would significantly increase the Charges for the Services.

 
21.6                        Termination Due To A Party’s Insolvency and Related Events.
 

Either Party may terminate this Agreement without liability to the other Party, if the other Party (a) files any petition in bankruptcy; (b) has an
involuntary petition in bankruptcy filed against it which is not challenged in forty (40) days and not dismissed within one hundred twenty (120) days of the
filing of such involuntary petition; (c) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (d) admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as they
mature; or (e) has a receiver appointed for a substantial portion its assets and the receivership is not released within sixty (60) days.

 
21.7                        Intentionally left blank.
 
21.8                        Cumulative Termination Rights.
 

Rights of termination under this Article 21 are cumulative.  Circumstances that are relevant to one Section of this Article 21, but do not entitle the
Party to terminate this Agreement under that Section, may nonetheless entitle the Party to terminate under another Section of this Article 21.

 
21.9                        Termination/Expiration Assistance.
 

(a)                                  During the Termination/Expiration Assistance Period, Vendor shall provide to ACI or, at ACI’s request, to ACI’s designee the reasonable
termination/expiration assistance requested by ACI to allow the Services to continue without interruption or adverse effect and to facilitate the orderly transfer
of the Services to ACI or its designee (including a competitor of Vendor) (“Termination/Expiration Assistance”).

 
(b)                                 Charges for Termination/Expiration Assistance constituting continuance of the Services covered by the Monthly Base Charges will be

invoiced and paid in the same manner as prior to the Termination/Expiration Assistance Period.  Termination/Expiration Assistance Services outside the scope
of the Monthly Base Charges that require resources beyond those account resources required to perform such in-scope Services, will be compensated on a
time and materials basis at the rates set forth in Schedule C  (Charges).  In the event of a termination by Vendor pursuant to Section 21.2, ACI shall pay
monthly in advance for such Termination/Expiration Assistance and any other Services that ACI requests Vendor to provide. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Vendor agrees that it will provide, at no additional cost to ACI, data extracts, electronic copies of all documentation pertaining to the Services (to the extent
available prior to notice of termination), incident histories pertaining to the Services and copies of knowledge databases specific to ACI that are prepared by
Vendor in connection with the Services.

 
(c)                                  Termination/Expiration Assistance shall include the following, provided, Termination/Expiration Assistance can be performed without

unreasonably interfering with the Vendor’s ability to perform the Services (unless the ACI provides Vendor in advance with the appropriate written relief
from any Service or Service Level commitments or reprioritizes the Services):
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(i)                                     Vendor shall provide all reasonable information and assistance necessary to permit the smooth transition of Services and functions

being performed by Vendor or its subcontractors to ACI or to ACI’s designee; provided, however, that if any of such information is to be disclosed to ACI’s
designee, such designee must first execute Schedule M (Vendor Confidentiality Agreement) prior to receiving such information;

 
(ii)                                  ACI or its designee shall be permitted to undertake, without interference from Vendor or Vendor subcontractors, to hire any

Vendor Personnel primarily performing the Services as of the date of notice of termination, or, in the case of expiration, within the six (6) month period  prior
to expiration.  Vendor shall waive, and shall cause its subcontractors to waive, their rights, if any, under contracts with such personnel restricting the ability of
such personnel to be recruited or hired by ACI or ACI’s designee.  ACI or its designee shall have reasonable access to such personnel for interviews and
recruitment and Vendor and its subcontractors shall not interfere with any such hiring efforts;

 
(iii)                               except where the Parties have agreed otherwise in writing with respect to a specific circumstance:
 

(A)                              Vendor shall provide ACI will all licenses, sublicenses, and other rights to use any Software to which ACI is entitled
pursuant to this Agreement;

 
(B)                                Vendor shall (1) obtain any Required Consents pursuant to Section 6.7 from third parties and thereafter assign to ACI or

its designee leases for the Equipment that was necessary as of the date of termination or expiration of this Agreement primarily for providing the Services to
the extent permitted by such leases, and ACI shall assume the obligations under such leases that relate to periods after such date or buy out the remainder of
such lease; and (2) sell to ACI or its designee, at fair market value, all of the Equipment owned by Vendor that, as of the date of termination/expiration of this
Agreement, was primarily used for providing the Services; and (3) to the extent assignable, assign to ACI, and ACI shall have and be entitled to, the benefits
of any manufacturers’ warranties and indemnities issued with any Equipment sold (or leases to Equipment assigned) to ACI under this subsection 21.9(c)(iii)



(B).  Vendor shall also provide all user and other documentation relevant to such Equipment which is in Vendor’s possession.  ACI shall assume responsibility
under any maintenance agreements for such Equipment to the extent such responsibilities relate to periods after the date of termination or expiration of this
Agreement; and

 
(C)                                Vendor shall obtain any necessary rights and thereafter make available to ACI or its designee, pursuant to reasonable

terms and conditions, any third-party services then being utilized by Vendor in the performance of the Services including services being provided through
third-party service or maintenance contracts on Equipment and Software.  To the extent Vendor has prepaid for third party services, the benefit of which shall
be received by ACI after the effective date of termination or expiration of this Agreement, ACI shall reimburse Vendor for the portion of prepayment amount
attributable to ACI after such date.  Vendor shall be entitled to retain the right to utilize any such third-party services in connection with the performance of
services for any other Vendor customer; and

 
(iv)                              Vendor shall, within the first thirty (30) days of the Termination/Expiration Assistance Period, begin to provide and thereafter

promptly provide capacity planning, consulting services, facilities planning, telecommunications planning, Software configuration, reviewing all System
Software with a new service provider, generating machine readable/listings of source code to which ACI is otherwise entitled pursuant to this Agreement,
uploading production databases, providing parallel processing, providing application software maintenance and support, providing testing services, and
providing Equipment where practical; provided that such services are provided by the then assigned Vendor Personnel.
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(d)                                 “Termination/Expiration Assistance Period” means the period beginning (i) as applicable, upon ACI’s notice of termination, ACI’s notice of

non-renewal, or six (6) months before the expiration of, this Agreement, or upon notice of termination of the applicable Service Tower, and ending (ii) at a
time designated by ACI, which may not be later than eighteen (18) months after the expiration of the Agreement.

 
(e)                                  As reasonably requested by ACI, Vendor shall provide Termination/Expiration Assistance for any Services that ACI reduces or terminates,

or otherwise withdrawals from Vendor’s scope, under this Agreement.
 
(f)                                    If Vendor has incorporated ACI’s Network into a Vendor proprietary telecommunications Network, or has incorporated proprietary

Software, Equipment or other materials into ACI’s Network, then, at ACI’s request, Vendor will provide up to two (2) years’ continued Network services at
the then current contract rates for such service.
 
21.10                 Bid Assistance.
 

In the process of evaluating whether to undertake or allow termination/expiration or renewal of this Agreement, ACI may consider obtaining, or
determine to obtain, offers for performance of services similar to the Services following termination or expiration of this Agreement.  As and when reasonably
requested by ACI for use in such a process, Vendor shall provide to ACI such information and other cooperation regarding performance of the Services as
would be reasonably necessary for a third party to prepare an informed, non-qualified offer for such services, and for a third party not to be disadvantaged
compared to Vendor if Vendor were to be invited by ACI to submit a proposal.  The types of information and level of cooperation to be provided by Vendor
shall be no less than those initially provided by ACI to Vendor prior to commencement of this Agreement.  Vendor’s support in this respect shall include
providing information regarding Equipment, Software, staffing and other matters that Vendor would otherwise provide as part of Termination/Expiration
Assistance.  Subject to Section 3.5, Vendor shall provide such support at no additional charge.

 
21.11                 Equitable Remedies.
 

The Parties acknowledge that, if either Party breaches (or attempts or threatens to breach) an obligation related to confidentiality, Intellectual
Property Rights, data security or to provide Termination/Expiration Assistance, the other Party may be irreparably harmed.  In such a circumstance, the non-
breaching Party may proceed directly to court.  Nothing contained in this Section 21.11 shall be deemed to prevent a court from imposing substantive
provisions or requirements, such as requiring payment for services rendered.

 
21.12                 Charge Adjustment.
 

Unless otherwise expressly set forth herein, if ACI chooses to terminate this Agreement in part, the Charges payable under this Agreement shall be
equitably reduced to reflect those Services which are terminated.

 
22.                               COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
 
22.1                        Compliance with Laws and Regulations Generally.

 
(a)                                  Each Party shall perform its obligations in a manner that complies with all Applicable Laws that apply to the Parties’ businesses or, in

Vendor’s case, those which also directly impact the
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performance and use by ACI of the Services (including identifying and procuring required certificates, approvals and inspections).  If a claim of non-
compliance is made against a Party related to any Applicable Laws, the Party against which the claim is made shall promptly notify the other Party of such
charges in writing.

 
(b)                                 Without limitation to the above, Vendor warrants that it shall comply with those laws that are applicable to Vendor or Vendor’s performance

of the Services as a provider of information technology services, including IT Laws, Privacy Laws, U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, data protection laws,
rules and regulations, in connection with the Services and otherwise under this Agreement, including Schedule A (Statement of Work) (together Applicable
Laws for which Vendor is responsible under Section 22.1(a), “Vendor Laws”).

 



(c)                                  Vendor and ACI will work together to identify the effect of changes in Applicable Laws on the provision and receipt of the Services and
will promptly discuss the Changes to the Services, if any, required to comply with all Applicable Laws.  Vendor will provide all support reasonably required
by ACI to comply with Applicable Law, and ACI’s internal audit requirements, which may be more stringent than those imposed by Applicable Law.  “ACI
Laws” means all laws (i) applicable to ACI’s operation of its business activities or (ii) applicable to corporations generally (i.e., environmental laws) as they
may relate to ACI.  If there is a change to Vendor Laws or ACI Laws or other Applicable Laws during the Term, and such change impacts the provision of, or
ACI’s receipt of the Services, Vendor will work with ACI to determine the appropriate Change in the Services.  Any such Change (i) in Vendor Laws
increasing the cost of Vendor’s performance of its obligations will be implemented at Vendor’s sole expense and will not impact the Charges paid by ACI
under this Agreement and (ii) in other Applicable Laws increasing the cost of Vendor’s performance of its obligations will be implemented at ACI’s request
subject to ACI’s payment of such additional Charges as determined to be payable under the Change Control Procedure.  Vendor will be responsible for any
fines and/or penalties incurred by ACI arising from Vendor’s noncompliance with Vendor Laws, and ACI will be responsible for any fines and/or penalties
incurred by Vendor arising from ACI’s noncompliance with ACI Laws.

 
22.2                        Liens.
 

(a)                                  Vendor hereby waives and forever releases ACI and its Affiliates and their real and personal property (whether owned or leased) from any
past, present or future lien notices, lien claims, liens, encumbrances, security interests or other lien rights of any kind based, in whole or in part, on any
Services provided of under this Agreement except for any judgment liens obtained by Vendor against ACI in a court of competent jurisdiction.  Vendor shall
obtain and provide to ACI similar waivers from all of Vendor’s subcontractors and suppliers.  Nothing in this Section 22.2 shall apply to, or in any way be
deemed to encumber, any of the rights Vendor and its subcontractors have in their own tangible personal and intellectual property, nor act as a release of the
underlying debt, if any.

 
(b)                                 Except for any judgment liens obtained by Vendor against ACI in a court of competent jurisdiction, if any lien claims or liens are filed

against ACI or its Affiliates or its or their real or personal property (whether owned or leased) by any of Vendor’s subcontractors or suppliers at any tier,
which are based on any work, Services, materials or Equipment provided or to be provided hereunder, then at no cost or expense to ACI, Vendor shall take
actions which may be necessary to resolve and discharge as of record any lien claims or liens, including paying the claimant if necessary.  If Vendor fails to
take such actions in a timely manner, without waiving the breach ACI may do so without notice to Vendor and Vendor shall be responsible for all costs
(including attorney’s fees) incurred by ACI in connection therewith.
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22.3                        Sarbanes-Oxley.
 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, at all times during the Term and continuing thereafter until the completion of
the audit of ACI’s financial statements for the fiscal year during which this Agreement expires or is terminated, as directed by ACI, Vendor shall, and shall
cause each of its Affiliates to:

 
(a)                                  maintain in effect and comply with the controls, operations and systems reflected in Schedule A (Statement of Work).  Any Changes in the

Services from the Effective Date which ACI would require (as ACI may determine) to comply with SOX and Section 404 thereunder shall be subject to the
Change Control Procedure;

 
(b)                                 Comply with the audit and reporting obligations set forth in Article 11;
 
(c)                                  Promptly cooperate with ACI and its auditors in any other way that ACI and/or its auditors may reasonably request in order to: (i) enable

ACI to comply with, and ACI and its auditors to evaluate whether ACI complies with the SOX as it relates to the Services; and (ii) ACI’s auditors to provide
the Auditor Attestation; and

 
(d)                                 generally cooperate with ACI and its auditors in any other way that ACI and/or its auditors may reasonably request in order to enable:

(i) ACI to comply with, and ACI and its auditors to evaluate whether ACI complies with the SOX as it relates to the Services; and (ii) ACI’s auditors to
provide the Auditor Attestation.

 
22.4                        International Considerations.
 

If Vendor provides Services from outside of the United States, without limiting any of Vendor’s other obligations set forth in this Agreement and
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement:

 
(a)                                  Vendor shall be responsible for compliance with all Applicable Laws governing the Services in the location from which the Services will be

provided and shall be responsible for compliance with United States export laws and import laws of the location from which Services will be performed;
 
(b)                                 to the extent that the responsibilities of ACI pertaining to the Services provided hereunder are modified by new or modified ACI Laws (and

not to Applicable Laws that apply to Vendor as service provider) Vendor shall modify its performance of the Services, to the extent directed by ACI, as
necessary for ACI to comply with such ACI Laws, as so modified or added; and

 
(c)                                  implementation of the foregoing Services (described in Sections 22.4(a) and 22.4(b)) shall be subject to the Change Control Procedure and

may give rise to a Project, as appropriate, and may (in the case new or modified laws arising under Section 22.4(b)) result in additional Charges to ACI and
may (in the case new or modified laws arising under Section 22.4(b)) draw on any “pool” of hours or other allocation of Services included in the Charges.

 
22.5                        Privacy Laws.
 

Without limitation to the provisions of Article 15 and subject to Section 22.4:
 
(a)                                  Vendor shall comply, as to its performance of the Services, with all Applicable Laws that apply to Vendor as a provider of Services under

this Agreement, and as otherwise provided in this Agreement.  Subject to the foregoing, with respect to Applicable Laws relating to the confidential
information and privacy rights and obligations of ACI to its Affiliates, and/or their customers and
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consumers, including Title V of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, 15 USC §6801 et. seq. and the Economic Espionage Act, 18 USC §1831 et. seq., it shall be the
obligation of ACI to assure compliance to the extent that any action of ACI that is required for compliance is not included as an express part of the Services
described in Schedule A (Statement of Work).  Vendor may receive any Personally Identifiable Information.  Subject to the foregoing, but notwithstanding
any provisions in this Agreement to the contrary, the Parties agree that, if ACI has certain requirements as to its business as a result of such regulated status
and Applicable Laws, including Privacy Laws or Privacy Rules, compliance shall be and remain the responsibility of ACI, and the responsibility of Vendor
shall be to perform any acts or actions in support of such compliance by ACI as are expressly specified in Schedule A (Statement of Work).

 
(b)                                 Vendor shall comply with any other Applicable Laws relating to privacy not referred to directly or indirectly in Section 22.5(a) to the extent

such laws are applicable to Vendor as a provider of information technology services.
 
(c)                                  For purposes of this Agreement the term “Data Owner” shall mean the Party having ownership of the data and, as a result, the authority to

direct the purposes for which any item of data is processed or used, and the term “Service Provider” shall mean the Party providing services to the Data
Owner, including the processing of the data on behalf and upon instruction of the Data Owner.  ACI will be and remain the Data Owner of the ACI Data for
purposes of this Agreement and all Applicable Laws relating to data privacy, personal data, transborder data flow and data protection, with rights under such
laws and under this Agreement to determine the purposes for which the ACI Data is processed.  As Data Owner, ACI is directing Vendor to process the ACI
Data in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and is consenting to Vendor’s access to the ACI Data solely for such purpose.  Vendor agrees to process
the ACI Data in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and, in doing so Vendor will be and remain the Service Provider under this Agreement, in
addition to complying with its contractual obligations hereunder, and will comply with all responsibilities of a Service Provider under Applicable Law as of
the Effective Date.  To the extent that such responsibilities of a Service Provider are subsequently modified by new or modified Applicable Laws applying to
Vendor in its capacity as a provider of service, such new or modified responsibilities will be considered to be a part of the Services to be provided by Vendor
under this Agreement.  To the extent that such responsibilities of a Service Provider are subsequently modified by new or modified Applicable Laws applying
to the Data Owner and not to the Service Provider in its capacity as a provider of services, Vendor shall perform Services, to the extent directed by Data
Owner, as necessary for Data Owner to comply with such Applicable Laws, as so modified or added, but such activities will be subject to the Change Control
Procedure.

 
23.                               GENERAL
 
23.1                        Binding Nature and Assignment.
 

This Agreement shall be binding on the Parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns.  Neither Party may, or shall have the power to,
assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party, except that ACI may assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement without
the approval of Vendor to (a) an entity that acquires all or substantially all of the assets of ACI’s line of business to which the Services relate; (b) any ACI
Affiliate; or (c) the successor in a merger or acquisition of ACI; provided that, (i) the assignee assumes and agrees in writing to be bound by the obligations
set forth in this Agreement, (ii) is not a Vendor Competitor and (iii) has a credit rating equal to or higher than ACI.  Vendor may without approval from ACI
elect to assign to a third party the right to receive payment for the performance of the Services.  Any Party assigning its rights or obligations to an Affiliate in
accordance with this Agreement shall, within ten (10) Business Days after such assignment, provide notice thereof to the other Party together with a copy any
relevant provisions of the assignment document.  Subject to the foregoing, any assignment by operation of law, order of any court, or pursuant
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to any plan of merger, consolidation or liquidation, shall be deemed an assignment for which prior consent is required and any assignment made without such
consent shall be void and of no effect as between the Parties.

 
23.2                        Mutually Negotiated.
 

Each Party acknowledges that the limitations and exclusions contained in this Agreement have been the subject of active and complete negotiation
between the Parties and represent the Parties’ agreement based upon the level of risk to ACI and Vendor associated with their respective obligations under this
Agreement and the payments to be made to Vendor and credits to be issued to ACI pursuant to this Agreement.  The Parties agree that the terms and
conditions of this Agreement (including any perceived ambiguity in this Agreement) shall not be construed in favor for or against any Party by reason of the
extent to which any Party or its professional advisors participated in the preparation of the original or any further drafts of this Agreement as each Party has
been represented by counsel in its negotiation of this Agreement and it represents their mutual efforts.

 
23.3                        Joint Verification
 

During the ninety (90) day period after the final Service Tower Commencement Date (the “Joint Verification Period”), ACI and Vendor may
inventory and validate any information that is reflected in or omitted from the Agreement which is based on the information provided by ACI, such as the
Third Party Contracts (including leases, and licenses).  If, during such Joint Verification Period, ACI or Vendor discovers inaccuracies in such information
contained in the Agreement or inaccuracies because of an omission from the Agreement pertaining to such information, Vendor and ACI will amend the
Agreement to provide for an equitable adjustment to the Charges, Baselines, Service Levels and other terms of the Agreement affected by such inaccuracies. 
If ACI or Vendor disputes the inaccuracy or the equitable adjustment, ACI and Vendor will submit the matter to in accordance with Section 20.1.

 
23.4                        Notices.
 

All notices, requests, demands and determinations under this Agreement (other than routine operational communications), shall be in writing and
shall be deemed duly given: (a) when delivered by hand, (b) on the designated day of delivery after being timely given to an express overnight courier with a
reliable system for tracking delivery, (c) when sent by confirmed facsimile or electronic mail with a copy sent by another means specified in this Section 23.3,
or (d) six (6) days after the day of mailing, when mailed by United States mail, registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, and
addressed as follows:
 

In the case of ACI: with copies to:



  
ACI Worldwide, Inc. ACI Worldwide, Inc.
Attention: Chief Administrative Officer Attention: General Counsel
120 Broadway, Suite 3350 6060 Coventry Drive
New York, NY 10271 Omaha, NE  68022
  
In the case of Vendor to: with copies to:
  
International Business Machines Corporation International Business Machines Corporation
Attention: Vendor Project Executive Office of Associate General Counsel
3613 Ruth Street MD4202, Route 100
Indian Trail, NC  28079 Somers, NY 10589
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A Party may from time to time change its address or designee for notification purposes by giving the other prior written notice of the new address or designee
and the date upon which it will become effective.  Because facsimile numbers and email addresses may change over time and facsimile transmissions and
emails may not be treated with the same degree of seriousness as more formal communications, notices given by facsimile or email shall only be deemed
effective if responded to by the intended recipient (or his or her successor).
 
23.5                        Counterparts.
 

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute but one single agreement between the Parties.
 

23.6                        Headings.
 

The section headings and the table of contents used in this Agreement are for reference and convenience only and shall not enter into the
interpretation of this Agreement.

 
23.7                        Relationship of Parties.
 

The Parties are acting as independent contractors.  Each Party has the sole right and obligation to supervise, manage, contract, direct, procure,
perform or cause to be performed, all work to be performed by it under this Agreement.  No contract of agency and no joint venture is intended to be created
hereby.  Neither Party is an agent of the other and has no authority to represent the other Party as to any matters, except as expressly authorized in this
Agreement.  None of either Party’s employees shall be deemed employees of the other and ACI and Vendor shall be responsible for reporting and payment of
all wages, unemployment, social security and other payroll taxes, including contributions from them when required by law for their respective employees. 
Neither Party shall have actual, potential or any other control over the other Party or its employees.

 
23.8                        Severability.
 

If any provision of this Agreement conflicts with the law under which this Agreement is to be construed or if any such provision is held invalid by a
competent authority, such provision shall be deemed to be restated to reflect as nearly as possible the original intentions of the Parties in accordance with
Applicable Law.  The remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

 
23.9                        Consents and Approvals.
 

Where approval, acceptance, consent or similar action by either Party is required under this Agreement, all such consents and approvals will be in
writing and shall not be unreasonably delayed or, except where expressly provided as being in the discretion of a Party, withheld.  Each Party shall, at the
request of the other Party, perform those actions, including executing additional documents and instruments, reasonably necessary to give full effect to the
terms of this Agreement.

 
23.10                 Waiver of Default.
 

A delay or omission by either Party in any one or more instances to exercise any right or power under this Agreement shall not be construed to be a
waiver thereof.  A waiver by either of the Parties of any of the covenants to be performed by the other or any breach thereof shall not be construed to be a
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waiver of any succeeding breach thereof or of any other representation, warranty or covenant contained herein.

 
23.11                 Cumulative Remedies.
 

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, no remedy provided for in this Agreement shall be exclusive of any other remedy and all
remedies shall be cumulative and in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies available to either Party at law or in equity.
 
23.12                 Survival.
 

Sections 1.2, 2, 3.12, 5.3(g), 7, 11.2, 11.5, 11.6, 13.4, 14.2, 14.3, 14.5, 14.6, 14.7, 14.8, 15.1 through 15.4, 16.6, 16.8, 16.12, 16.14, 16.15, 18, 19.1
through 19.4, 20, 21.8, 21.9, 21.10, 21.11 and this Section 23 (except Section 23.3) and any other provision that by its terms is intended to survive termination
or expiration of this Agreement, shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.

 
23.13                 Public Disclosures.



 
All media releases, public announcements and public disclosures by either Party relating to this Agreement or the subject matter of this Agreement,

including promotional or marketing material, but not including announcements intended solely for internal distribution or disclosures to the extent required to
meet legal or regulatory requirements beyond the reasonable control of the disclosing Party, shall be coordinated with and approved by the other Party in
writing prior to release, and be subject to Section 23.13 below.

 
23.14                 Use of Name.
 

Each Party agrees that it will not directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the other’s corporate communications department, use for
the purposes of advertising, promotion or publicity or otherwise, the name of the other Party or any of its divisions, subsidiaries or Affiliates, or any
trademarks, trade names, service marks, symbols or any abbreviation or permutation thereof, of or associated with the other Party or of any of its divisions,
subsidiaries or Affiliates.

 
23.15                 365(n).
 

All licenses granted under or pursuant to this Agreement by Vendor to ACI and ACI Affiliates are, and shall otherwise be deemed to be, for purposes
of Section 365(n) of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Code”), licenses to rights to “intellectual property” as defined in the Code.  ACI and ACI
Affiliates, as licensee of such rights under this Agreement, shall retain and may fully exercise all of its rights and elections under the Code.  In the event of the
commencement of bankruptcy proceedings by or against Vendor under the Code, ACI and ACI Affiliates shall be entitled to retain all of its rights under the
licenses granted hereunder.

 
23.16                 Third Party Beneficiaries.

 
This Agreement is entered into solely between, and may be enforced only by, ACI and Vendor, and this Agreement shall not be deemed to create any

rights in third parties, including suppliers and customers of a Party, or to create any obligations of a Party to any such third parties.
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23.17                 Covenant of Good Faith.
 

Each Party in its respective dealings with the other Party under or in connection with this Agreement, shall act reasonably and in good faith.
 

23.18                 Non-Solicitation.
 

Except as contemplated under Section 5.2 and Section 21.9(c)(ii), during the Term and for a period of one (1) year thereafter, neither Party will
solicit or hire any individual while that individual is an employee or dedicated consultant of the other Party and involved in the provision or management or
receipt of the Services.  This Section 23.17 will not restrict the right of either Party to solicit or recruit generally in the media or prohibit either Party from
hiring an employee of the other who answers any advertisement or who otherwise voluntarily applies for hire by the hiring Party, provided that the hiring
Party has not taken any action to intentionally solicit or recruit such employee of the other prior to such employee answering such advertisement or
voluntarily applying.

 
23.19                 Order of Precedent.
 

If there is a conflict among the terms in the various documents within this Agreement to the extent the conflicting provisions can reasonably be
interpreted so that such provisions are consistent with each other, such consistent interpretation will prevail.  To the extent that consistent interpretations
cannot reasonably be derived, then (a) this Agreement (exclusive of its Schedules) will prevail over a conflicting term in its Schedules, (b) a Schedule
(exclusive of its Exhibits) will prevail over a conflicting term in the Exhibits to such Schedule and an Exhibit (exclusive of its Attachments) will prevail over
a conflicting term in the Attachments to such Exhibit.

 
23.20                 Entire Agreement; Amendment.

 
This Agreement, including any Schedules and Exhibits referred to in this Agreement and attached to this Agreement, each of which is incorporated

in this Agreement for all purposes, constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained in this Agreement and
supersedes all prior agreements, whether written or oral, with respect to such subject matter.  Neither the course of dealings between the Parties nor trade
practices shall act to modify, vary, supplement, explain or amend this Agreement.  If either Party issues any purchase order, terms or conditions, or other
form, it shall be deemed solely for the administrative convenience of that Party and not binding on the other Party, even if acknowledged or acted upon.  No
change, waiver or discharge hereof shall be valid unless in writing and signed by an authorized representative of the Party against which such change, waiver
or discharge is sought to be enforced.  There are no promises, representations, warrantees or other commitments relied upon by either Party which are not
expressly set forth in this Agreement.

 
[Signature Page to Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have each caused this Master Services Agreement to be signed and delivered by its duly authorized officer as

of the Effective Date.
 

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES
CORPORATION

 

ACI WORLDWIDE, INC.

   
By: /s/

 

By:  /s/
     



Name:
  

Name: 
 

     
Title:

  

Title:
 

     
Date:

  

Date:
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Exhibit 31.01
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
 
I, Philip G. Heasley, certify that:
 
1.               I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ACI Worldwide, Inc.;
 
2.               Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.               Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
 

a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
c)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonable likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)     All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
 

Date: May 9, 2008 /s/ PHILIP G. HEASLEY
 

Philip G. Heasley
 

President, Chief Executive Officer 
and Director 

(Principal Executive Officer)
 
1



Exhibit 31.02
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
 
I, Scott W. Behrens, certify that:
 
1.               I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ACI Worldwide, Inc.;
 
2.               Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.               Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
 

a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonable likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)     All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
 

Date: May 9, 2008 /s/ SCOTT W. BEHRENS
 

Scott W. Behrens
 

Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief 
Accounting Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.01
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the quarterly report of ACI Worldwide, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Philip G. Heasley, Principal Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
 
1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
  
2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 

Date: May 9, 2008 /s/ PHILIP G. HEASLEY
 

Philip G. Heasley
 

President, Chief Executive Officer 
and Director 

(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 32.02
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the quarterly report of ACI Worldwide, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Scott W. Behrens, Principal Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
 
1)     The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
2)     The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 

Date: May 9, 2008 /s/ SCOTT W. BEHRENS
 

Scott W. Behrens
 

Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief 
Accounting Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer)
 
1


